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Providing investment  
expertise around  
the globe

Who we are
Aberdeen Asset Management is an independent asset 
management group, which has been listed on the London 
Stock Exchange since 1991 and is today a FTSE 250 company. 
The Company was originally founded in Aberdeen, Scotland in 
1983. The Group has 31 offices and over 1,850 staff. We invest 
worldwide on behalf of clients globally across the three major 
asset classes of equities, fixed income and property.

What we do
Our business is the active management of financial assets, 
chiefly equities, fixed income and property, for third parties. 
We package and sell that expertise in the form of segregated 
and pooled products across borders. Our key clients include 
leading national and corporate pension funds, central 
banks and other investment institutions. We have a broad 
shareholder base and are free from the ownership ties of  
a larger parent company structure.

Our culture
We believe in locating our investment and client service 
teams in or near the markets in which we invest or where 
our clients are based. The Group has grown rapidly in the last 
26 years and values a flat management structure and being 
an open, diverse and accessible employer. To our clients, we 
believe we are transparent and approachable. We champion 
local decision-making, close-knit teams and interdependence 
among our offices worldwide.

Our responsibilities
We see our role as being one where we do our utmost 
to provide the best possible working conditions for our 
employees, to protect the environment, to manage our 
business in a fair, ethical manner and to promote human 
rights. Our corporate responsibility website may be found at  
www.aberdeen-asset.com/csr.
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Operational and  
financial highlights

Financial Highlights Percentage Growth

Revenue
2009: £421.9m
2008: £430.1m -1.9%
Pre-tax profitA

2009: £85.1m
2008: £95.1m -10.5%
Earnings per shareA

2009: 6.3p
2008: 9.0p -30.0%
Total dividend  
per share
2009: 6.0p
2008: 5.8p +3.4%
Gross new  
business (funded)
2009: £19.1bn
2008: £21.8bn -12.4%
Assets under  
management 
2009: £146.2bn
2008: £111.1bn +31.6%

A stated on an underlying basis as explained on page 25.

Operational highlights
• Assets under management increased to £146.2 billion 

(2008: £111.1 billion)

• Clean profit before tax £85.1 million (2008: £95.1 million)

• Final dividend of 3.2p per share, 6.0p for the full year

• New business wins of £19.1 billion, funded in the year, with 
£3.6 billion awarded but not funded at the year end

• Businesses acquired from Credit Suisse fully integrated  
into the Group

Historical summary
Earnings per share (pence)

2009

2008

2007

2006

2005

 6.13

 9.01

 11.09

 8.95

 4.60B

Dividend per share (pence)

2009

2008

2007

2006

2005

 6.00

 5.80

 5.50

 4.40

 3.00B

Assets under managment (£bn)

2009

2008

2007

2006

2005

 146.2

 111.1

 95.3

 73.2

 59.7

B adjusted for the effects of the rights issue in September 2005 and 
adoption of IFRS.
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Chairman’s statement

Roger Cornick Chairman

The reporting year began amid a severe 
downturn in global bond and equity 
markets, with consequent pressure 
on Group revenues; since then the 
Group has faced an ongoing challenge 
to balance cost reductions with the 
need to position itself for eventual 
recovery. However, 2009 also brought 
opportunities, and the acquisition of 
certain fund management businesses 
from Credit Suisse, completed on 30 
June 2009, has added further scale and 
depth to our investment capabilities. 

New business amounted to £19.1 
billion, only 12% below 2008 levels, 
but was outweighed by an exodus 
of £29.8 billion, principally in fixed 
income. However the bulk of that was 
recorded in the first half of the year 
and we have been encouraged by the 
decreasing rate of redemptions of late. 
New business inflows were mainly 
into equities, so the effect overall on 
annualised revenues has been milder 
than headline numbers might suggest 
- indeed, the effect of net new business 
flows on run rate revenues was positive 
during the second half. With a further 
£3.6 billion of mandates awarded but 

not funded at the year end, we consider 
this performance very respectable. 

Financials 
Revenue for the year of £421.9 million 
was 2% lower than in 2008 as the 
effects of weak markets in the earlier 
part of the year have been offset by the 
additional revenue introduced by the 
Credit Suisse transaction.

Operating costs were 2% lower than 
last time. The Group’s commitment 
to deliver annualised cost savings 
of £80.0 million has been met, with 
approximately £55.0 million of the net 
benefit reflected in the 2009 numbers 
and the final tranche of savings will 
come into effect over the next financial 
year. The Credit Suisse acquisition 
added approximately £11.0 million 
to operating costs for the period 
from completion of the transaction; 
the integration of this business 
into the wider Group has now been 
completed in line with the timetable.

Overall, the Group’s operating profit 
was slightly behind that of last year, at 
£95.7 million (2008: £100.0 million), 
and the operating margin was also 
slightly lower this year at 22.7% (2008: 
23.2%). Again, it is important to note 
the improvement in profitability and 
margins in the second half as markets 
and revenues recovered and the Credit 
Suisse transaction began to make a 
contribution.

The balance sheet remains solid with net 
debt of about £175.0 million supported 
by £1.0 billion of equity, representing 
a gearing ratio of 17% at the year end. 
Since then, we have successfully placed 
a £90.0 million convertible bond issue, 

which will improve the average maturity 
of the debt and bring more flexibility to 
the Group’s financing structure.

Results and dividend
The Group’s underlying profit, which 
we define as profit before taxation, 
exceptional items, amortisation and 
impairment of intangible assets, was 
£85.1 million compared to £95.1 million 
in 2008. This represents underlying 
earnings per share, on a diluted basis, 
of 6.31p, a decrease of 30% on last 
year. After accounting for exceptional 
items, amortisation and impairment we 
report a pre-tax profit of £10.5 million, 
compared to £60.5 million for 2008.

The Board is recommending a final 
dividend of 3.2p per share, making a 
total payment for the year of 6.0p per 
share, an increase of 3% on the total 
payment for 2008. Notwithstanding 
difficult markets this year, the Board 
remains committed to a progressive 
dividend policy.

On 31 December 2008, the Group 
announced the acquisition of certain 
fund businesses of Credit Suisse’s 
Global Investors business, the traditional 
long-only asset management division. 
The transaction was completed in two 
stages, on 30 April 2009 and 30 June 
2009, and added approximately £35.1 
billion to assets under management 
(AuM) during the year. Total AuM at the 
year end increased by 32% to £146.2 
billion (2008: £111.1 billion). 

Many of our fixed income products 
struggled in 2008 because of the 
widening of credit spreads. The scale of 
global deleveraging led to extreme price 
falls, even of high quality securities, 

During the twelve month period ended 30 September 2009, Aberdeen 
Asset Management has ridden out one of the fiercest financial storms 
on record and emerged in good shape. Gross new business levels, while 
down on last year, were healthy with support for higher margin equity 
lines offsetting fixed income outflows. The successful completion of the 
Credit Suisse transaction lifted assets under management to £146.2 billion 
and leaves the Group well placed to make progress from current levels.



with the result that our performance, 
particularly in US credit, was badly 
affected. However, performance has 
rebounded strongly in 2009 and the 
subsequent Credit Suisse acquisition 
has enabled us to strengthen the overall 
team and investment process, with 
more resources devoted to top-down 
analysis and the appointment of a new 
global head of fixed income.

Our equity teams have continued to 
outperform benchmarks on a consistent 
basis. As well as the Group’s key global 
equity, global emerging markets equity 
and Asia Pacific equity capabilities, our 
US equities team has shown consistent 
outperformance. Our UK and Pan 
European equities performance has also 
improved over the year.

The property division encountered 
some turbulence. However, our 
institutional client base has insulated 
it from the worst of the downturn. 
Flows have been flat to mildly positive, 
although our German property funds 
experienced some selling, a problem 
common to the industry there as 
certain institutions reduced exposure. 
Against that, the division was awarded 
a e1.4 billion mandate by a Swedish 
client, which will fund in January 2010.

New business
We made considerable progress in 
attracting new clients, especially 
from Europe, the Middle East and 
the Americas, with strong flows into 
equities. The main beneficiaries were 
global and global emerging market 

equities where we enjoy a strong 
reputation and our fundamental 
investment process proved very resilient. 

One pleasing new development was the 
interest of European-based investors in 
our US equity strategy. As highlighted, 
the fixed income division did poorly in 
2008 and this led to outflows that team 
changes may in turn have exacerbated. 
There were some bright spots, however, 
namely our global and emerging market 
debt strategies. 

The property division is now the third 
largest such manager in Europe and one 
of the largest independents globally. The 
division has a wide range of investment 
products both by asset type and 
geography and as a global specialist 
player is well positioned for further 
growth, when it comes, especially in 
Europe and Asia. At present the UK faces 
a severe downturn in both commercial 
and residential property while in Europe 
transactions are well down. The Group’s 
property assets under management 
decreased to £22.6 billion at the year 
end, representing approximately 15%  
of total AuM.

Gross sales can be summarised in the 
table overleaf and were sourced from 
Continental Europe 35%, the UK 28%, 
the United States and Canada 16%,  
Asia 15% and the Middle East 6%.

Corporate activity
As mentioned, the Group announced the 
completion of the acquisition of certain 
fund management businesses from  
 

Credit Suisse on 1 July, adding some 
£35.1 billion of assets. The transaction 
was an all share deal. We reported that 
estimated run-rate revenues delivered 
at closing exceeded 90% of the target 
and, as a consequence, 240 million 
new ordinary shares were issued to 
Credit Suisse, being the maximum 
consideration and equating to 23.9% 
of total share capital; subsequent 
refinement of the estimates confirmed 
that the full consideration was due.

While the deal was complex in respect 
of the number of jurisdictions involved, 
the considerable systems development 
work undertaken during the Deutsche 
Asset Management acquisition in 2005, 
has meant that we have been able to 
migrate the portfolios in a much shorter 
timescale - and on time.

Shortly after the completion of the 
Credit Suisse transaction, we announced 
the sale of certain equity funds, with 
AuM of £858.0 million, to Premier Asset 
Management Group. This transaction 
is due to complete in mid-December, 
when sale proceeds of £23.0 million will 
be received.

Business development
One of our main aims is to market and 
cross-sell our core competencies of 
equities, fixed income and property, and 
we gained noticeable traction in Canada, 
Europe, the Middle East and North 
America; we also added new offices 
in Toronto and São Paulo. Both these 
openings will enable us to get closer  
to, and service better, our investors. 
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OUR STRATEGY
The Group has a balanced business with principal investment centres in the three main time zones.

Our aim is to offer an outstanding pure asset management business that is well-diversified by territory, channel and product.

Our investment expertise is the management of client portfolios in equities, fixed income and property from a 
fundamental perspective. This forms the basis of our core investment competence, although we have wider skills and 
disciplines to help us meet our clients’ requirements.

Our business strategy is to build long-term relationships with our clients through strong performance and first-class client 
service. We intend to develop our investment capability and distribution platforms in order to enter new markets and 
segments where we may have a competitive and sustainable edge.

We add new offices where it will enhance our services to clients and prospects or deepen our investment coverage.  
We also build our assets and skills through appropriate acquisitions where we see a fit to our existing business.

To manage costs, we outsource or centralise non-core functions. We prefer to own investment competence, product 
development and client relations ourselves.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT CONTINUED

Additionally, we are hopeful that with 
a wider product range and access to 
Credit Suisse’s significant private bank 
platform, we can tap new channels. 
The acquisition has brought us a new 
asset class in the form of money 
market funds. It has also expanded our 
Continental European operation, not 
least in Switzerland, with a new office; 
while in Australia we have vaulted into 
the top 15 largest managers. 

Last, in wishing to develop distribution 
of products through third parties, we 
can report that our strategic partnership 
with Mitsubishi (MUTB) in Japan is 
showing promise as we proceed to 
gather institutional assets following our 
first roadshow. 

Outlook
Our new financial year has started well, 
with new business flows and improved 
markets benefiting revenues and 
operating costs under tight control. 

Looking ahead, the impact of the 
financial crisis on asset managers 
is likely to see more consolidation. 
The survivors will be those that can 
differentiate themselves through 
performance, first of all, but also 
through diversification of revenues via 
products and channels. Certainly, the 
trend to scale of the recent past appears 
to be ending, with size no guarantee of 
staying power. The industry’s upheavals 
also mean we can expect more scrutiny 
from financial regulators and legislators. 

Finally, I would like to thank all our 
staff for their continued hard work, 
particularly in ensuring the smooth 
integration of the Credit Suisse 
acquisition, which we expect will be 
reflected in further profitable growth in 
the years ahead. 

I would also like to welcome three new 
directors to the Board: Simon Troughton, 
who has joined as an independent 
non-executive; Gerhard Fusenig, who 
was nominated by Credit Suisse; and 

Kenichi Miyanaga, nominated by MUTB. 
All three have considerable experience 
of global asset management that will be 
of great value. 

I took over as chairman in January, and 
I would like to thank my predecessor, 
Charles Irby for his contribution and fine 
effort over the nine years he served on 
the Board, having left the Group a much 
larger and more diversified organisation 
than when he first joined.

In summary, while some commentators 
still doubt whether market confidence 
has been fully restored, the Group 
has emerged from the financial crisis 
comfortably positioned both to 
enjoy organic growth and to expand 
opportunistically as competitors shrink 
or even withdraw from the industry. 

Roger C Cornick
Chairman

Funded
£m

Yet to fund
£m

Total
£m

Equities:
Gross inflows 9,367 1,816 11,183
Outflows (5,353) – (5,353)
Net flow 4,014 1,816 5,830

Fixed income:
Gross inflows 6,722 – 6,722
Outflows (20,777) – (20,777)
Net flow (14,055) – (14,055)

Money market:
Gross inflows 1,427 – 1,427
Outflows (1,270) – (1,270)
Net flow 157 – 157

Multi-asset:
Gross inflows 221 – 221
Outflows (1,410) – (1,410)
Net flow (1,189) – (1,189)

Property:
Gross inflows 1,393 1,833 3,226
Outflows (1,011) – (1,011)
Net flow 382 1,833 2,215

Group total:
Gross inflows 19,130 3,649 22,779
Outflows (29,821) – (29,821)
Net flow (10,691) 3,649 (7,042)
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What we do

At Aberdeen, asset management is our business. 

We operate independently and only manage assets for third 

parties, allowing us to focus solely on their needs, without 

conflicts of interest. We now manage over £146.2 billion of  

third party assets from our offices around the world.

Our clients access our investment expertise across the three 

asset classes: equities, fixed income and property. 

We package our skills in the form of segregated and pooled 

products across borders. We invest worldwide and follow a 

predominantly long-only approach, based on fundamentally 

sound investments - we do not chase market fads. 

Our investment teams are based in the markets or regions in 

which they invest. Clients understand our process and portfolios 

because they are transparent. 

Find out more about us through our website at  

aberdeen-asset.com



Equity investment process

Company visit note

Quality
Pass or fail?

Potential
revisit

Watchlist/
review

Monitor

Aberdeen
universe

Price
Cheap or
expensive

Portfolio
construction

Risk
controls

1
STEP

2
STEP

3
STEP

Equities breakdown

UK 
£3.2bn

Asia 
Pacific 
£17.7bn

Europe ex UK
£1.4bn

Global 
emerging markets

£11.6bn

Global/
EAFE

£9.8bn

Specialist
equities
£4.8bn

North America
£2.2bn

Total £50.7bn (2008: £32.6bn)  As at 30 September 2009
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• Bottom-up investment style, emphasising company fundamentals

• Team approach, with asset managers based in the regions where we invest

• Low portfolio turnover, buying stocks and holding them for the long term

• First-hand research is central to our process

• No investment without interviewing the company’s management first

Aberdeen’s mainstream equity process dates from the early 1990s and we 
believe our advantage lies in the consistency of our approach, irrespective 
of market conditions. 

From the company visits and analysis carried out regionally, through to 
portfolio construction decisions, we adopt a team approach. 

Cross-coverage of securities locally ensures objectivity; we avoid cultivating 
‘star’ managers. Diversification at the stock level is our main control of  
risk. We aim to add value by capitalising on original research. We see equity 
risk in terms of investing in a poor quality company, or overpaying for a 
good one.

Equities
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Active management
We aim to add value by identifying good quality 
stocks, defined chiefly in terms of management and 
business model, which are attractively priced. Good 
stockpicking is the key to our performance. We downplay 
benchmarks in portfolio construction since these 
provide little clue to future performance. Our asset 
managers avoid businesses that they do not understand 
or those with discriminatory shareholder structures.

Proprietary research
Our mainstream equity managers always visit companies 
before investing, making thousands of visits annually 
to existing and prospective holdings. Every contact is 
documented in detail. If a security fails our screens, we will 
not own it, irrespective of its index weight.

Long-term focus
Our mainstream strategies are simple; we buy and hold, add 
on price dips and take profits on price rises. This reduces 
transaction costs and keeps portfolios focused. We rarely 
pursue short-term returns for mainstream equity strategies, 
albeit for specialist portfolios, activity may be more dynamic.

Team approach
We employ around 140 equity investment professionals 
globally. Portfolio decisions are made collectively, and we 
avoid cultivating ‘star’ fund managers. Cross-coverage of 
securities also increases objectivity and lessens reliance  
on individuals.



Fixed income investment process

 
 

1 
Portfolio manager
Agree client risk 
and return 
requirements

2
Product team

Sets client
investment

 strategy

4
Product
team
Risk budgeting,
review and 
oversight

3
Alpha

 teams
Idea generation

in an unconstrained
universe

 
 

Evaluating risk
at every step

Fixed income breakdown

UK 
£12.9bn

High yield
£0.7bn

US
£10.1bn

Global
£8.8bn

Europe ex UK
£5.2bn

Emerging markets
£2.5bn

Asia Pacific 
£9.3bn

Total £65.2bn (2008: £46.9bn) As at 30 September 2009

Currency
overlay
£1.6bn

Money market
£13.5bn
Convertibles
£0.6bn
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Fixed income

•  Active management, operating globally, in a transparent and accountable 
structure, within a risk framework

• Multiple sources of added value improve the risk-return profile

• Specialist teams working independently within their area of expertise

• Local presence in London, Philadelphia, Singapore and Sydney

• Strong derivatives capability to assist implementation of both active and 
liability matching strategies

We believe outperformance should be generated within a risk framework, 
adding value through multiple uncorrelated sources to create natural 
diversification. As such, our fixed income structure comprises independent 
alpha teams who are charged with generating investment ideas and 
outperformance in their own area of specialisation, with their investment 
universes being as unconstrained as possible. 

Our global product team is responsible for capturing all these investment 
ideas into specific client portfolios, working within individual client portfolio 
guidelines. Team members meet to discuss portfolios, but are also in 
continual discussion with the alpha teams to ensure that the best decisions 
of these teams are implemented across all mandates. 
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Active management
We aim to add value by exploiting market inefficiencies in 
interest rates, currency, investment grade credit, emerging 
market debt and high yield. We have dedicated portfolio 
managers and analysts in the three main time zones.  
They operate as close-knit teams, with investment decision-
making devolved to specialists, based on their knowledge  
and expertise.

Flexible and disciplined investment process
Our investment structure enables us not only to follow 
a disciplined investment process but also to be flexible 
in managing portfolios for a wide variety of client 
requirements. This may range from strategies which 
employ multiple sources of uncorrelated returns to 
those that are focused on a particular specialist area.

Team approach
We employ over 130 investment professionals across our 
teams. They invest within clearly delineated parameters,  
with defined reporting lines. Our team structure is based  
on transparency and accountability.

Diverse solutions
Many clients are moving to higher performance or core plus 
mandates. Another trend is the move away from market-
based indices and the use of liability driven benchmarks.  
We aim to deliver performance across the full range of our 
fixed income capabilities. We also use derivatives, such as 
interest rate and credit default swaps, to add value and also  
to match liability exposures.



Property investment process

Investment
strategy

Forecasts
& relative
pricing

Investment
plan

Selection
Management

Allocation

Re
vi

ew

Asset

managem
ent

Transactions

Assetselection

Tenant

relationship

Property breakdown

Direct
funds

£11.8bn

Indirect 
funds
£2.0bn

Total £22.6bn (2008: £25.4bn) As at 30 September 2009

Direct 
segregated
mandates
£8.8bn
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Property

• An active property investment manager

• Unrivalled local presence in key international markets

• Separate accounts and collective funds, including funds-of-funds

• Disciplined investment process, supported by research on the ground

• Team approach, with managers based in the regions where we invest

Active management, top-class research, local presence and a rigorous 
investment process are the means by which we add value to property 
investment. 

We offer a wide range of well-structured property investment vehicles  
that provide strong risk-adjusted returns and a choice of geographic and 
sector allocation. 

In addition to funds holding direct property, Aberdeen has pioneered the 
development of funds of property funds, with exposure to Continental 
Europe and Asia. The indirect investment management team invests in 
third party funds, not in direct property and its clients are exclusively 
institutional investors. Their philosophy focuses on creating alpha and  
not on general market exposure.  
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Active management
Our understanding of the factors that drive returns stems 
from our local presence and our dedicated research capability. 
A unique feature of property is the value that can be added 
by active asset management, and selecting assets with this 
potential enables a skilful investment manager to create alpha 
and outperform the market. 

Local presence
Active property investment requires a local presence. We have 
expanded in Europe’s heartland and, through our Singapore 
office, into Asia. We now number some 600 professionals 
based in 13 countries. This unrivalled local reach is essential to 
our understanding of local markets and our commitment to 
local decision making.

Structured investment process
Our proven investment process links the three essential 
disciplines of allocation, selection and asset management.  
We apply it rigorously to all property sectors and geographies. 
Our principle is to combine advanced top-down research with 
a pragmatic, but structured, bottom-up approach from our 
local professionals. The former focuses on managing beta, or 
portfolio risk, the latter on creating alpha.

Delivering risk-adjusted returns
We aim to help our institutional clients achieve well 
diversified property exposure by delivering superior risk-
adjusted returns through funds that offer a clear choice of 
geographic or sectoral exposure. With our advanced portfolio 
modelling techniques, we provide an understanding of the risk 
of different property investments and their place in  
multi-asset portfolios.



Business review

Introduction
The global economy may now be emerging from recession, 
but recovery is expected to be slow. The US and UK appear 
dependent on policy stimulus and the IMF anticipates that 
the developed world will grow at a tepid pace in 2010, having 
contracted this year; Asia and emerging markets are better 
placed, albeit still reliant on exports.

Although the point of maximum economic stress has  
passed, private demand in the US has been disabled, as 
households repay their debt and as credit markets stay tight. 
Furthermore, banks still need to repair their balance sheets 
despite huge government support. Should current trends 
continue, leading to a structurally higher savings rate in the 
US, corporate profits and dividend growth may struggle  
to improve. 

Elsewhere, the UK economy seems particularly vulnerable, 
with its dependence on financial services. Continental Europe 
has in the main weathered the storms better, apart from 
peripheral nations that over-borrowed and now confront a 
collapse in their property markets. Most European economies 
have now stopped contracting. 

Unsurprisingly, the global asset management industry has 
experienced a very difficult time. With their natural high 
operational gearing to markets, firms saw revenues tumble. 
Cost cutting has followed, including job losses. Many have 
been forced to revise expansion plans, consolidate or in some 
cases, where balance sheets may be in trouble, withdraw from 
the industry altogether. McKinsey estimates the industry 
contracted by 20% in 2008, with sustainable profits falling  
by 40% in Western Europe.

Added to this, investors have been reconsidering their 
investment strategies, especially how they evaluate 
performance and to whom they give their money. Yet in 
recent months, as equity and high yield markets have 
rebounded, the temptation is to see this whole financial crisis 
as another cyclical, if acute, economic slowdown. We believe 
the problems are more deep-rooted and structural in nature, 
and will not, of themselves, go away. 
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How stock and money markets reacted to the unravelling credit crisis
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17 Aug: Fed 
cuts rate to 
5.75%

31 Jul: Two 
Bear Stearns 
funds collapse

14 Sep: 
Northern Rock 
support

18 Sep: US
cuts rates 
to 4.75% 22 Jan: 

Fed cuts rates 
to 3.5%

21 Apr: Bank of 
England £50bn 
bailout plan

7 Jul: 
Fannie Mae 
and Freddie 
Mac assisted 13 Feb: 

Governments 
intervene: stimulus 
plans

1 Dec: US 
in recession

12 Jan: UK 
in recession

The MSCI World Index in blue is a stock market index of 1,500 stocks around the globe. The TED spread in grey shows the difference between US 
interbank loans and short-term US government debt.

Source: Bloomberg.

Market background
At the depth of the crisis, the S&P 500 fell to levels of ten 
years ago; the past decade is now one of just two since 1900 
where cash has outperformed equities and bonds in real terms 
and it has also witnessed two significant bear markets. 

Suddenly, equities no longer seem to be meeting their 
promise of being the long-term asset of choice. Moreover, 
long-held assumptions about diversification of risk have 
been shaken as all asset classes fell together: property 
was hit because of de-gearing; fixed income spreads 
widened as risk capital fled from over-valued credit 
markets. At the same time surveys reveal that a majority 
of active equity managers have underperformed. 

With baby boomers in the US now reaching retirement, 
changing needs and lack of confidence have seen new fund 
flows gravitate to index funds or those offering income. 
Meanwhile an increasing number of institutions and pension 
schemes are considering managing assets inhouse or shifting 
their allocations to passive vehicles, for example exchange 
traded funds (ETFs). 

We have watched these developments with equanimity. Our 
performance across equities, at least, has stayed good in the 
majority of strategies. As the active versus passive debate 
grows, we firmly believe that ETFs and their like, which oblige 
investors to own underlying stocks regardless of their quality, 
will only create opportunities for those who are free to own 
stocks from conviction and in unconstrained portfolios.

This performance has occurred against a background refrain 
for a return to ‘back to basics’, which followed a retreat from 
structured and other complex derivative-based products as 
the crisis unfolded. Managers who tried timing these markets 
have risked being caught out both on the down and up. 

But, in the past six months, low global interest rates have 
imposed a rising cost of staying away from markets. Hedge 
funds have attracted fresh funds as weaker operators go to 
the wall and some global investment banks wind down their 
proprietary trading desks. With less capacity in the market, 
opportunities for remaining players have opened up. 

The return of risk appetite, particularly since March, has 
also driven demand again for conventional equity products, 
especially global emerging markets (GEM). Fund flows into 
this area have picked up sharply and remain brisk. Global 
recession has affected emerging economies least and investors 
hope that they will recover faster, led by China. But it is 
mainly institutional investors who have been participating. 

In Europe, retail behaviour has mirrored volatile markets. 
Investors there transferred some e30.0 billion into money 
market and near-cash funds after the Lehman collapse in 
September 2008; then, as sentiment improved through the 
summer of 2009, they withdrew a similar sum from those 
funds, to invest once again in traditional European equity  
and bond vehicles. 
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Distribution challenges
With global returns poor, buyer trust has suffered. In the 
boom years, intermediaries and investors arguably failed to 
scrutinise whether products were understood and appropriate. 
In many places, Europe and Asia in particular, product churn  
in the asset management industry was widespread. But so 
long as markets were going up, potential conflicts of interest 
were ignored. 

The legacy of that today is fresh scrutiny of fees. Regulators 
demand nothing less. In the UK we are seeing one of the 
most radical shake ups to affect financial advisers for a 
generation. But even as new rules are being enacted, there 
remain unanswered questions: for example, over the status 
of electronic platforms, which serve as both portals for the 
buying public and as administration engines for the advisers 
themselves; over rebates, which are to be discontinued; and 
over whether the public is willing to pay for advice. 

In Continental Europe, the balance of power may be shifting 
the other way. With revenues in decline, intermediaries are 
discarding the ‘supermarket’ approach of open architecture in 
favour of smaller, 'guided' ranges that they can oversee more 
effectively. In many instances this is inclining them to work 
with only a handful of fund providers in strategic partnerships. 
Their fund selection process naturally looks at performance; 
but also price, along with servicing. 

In non-Japan Asia, funds' evaluation by intermediaries has 
grown more sophisticated, with similar choosiness in  
evidence. But this sophistication is absent among sellers or 
indeed buyers, who typically take a ‘barbell’ approach, using 
funds to trade aggressively or as near-cash alternatives.  
Still, rising wealth will change behaviour over time (although 
national markets move at different speeds) and will make the 
region the growth centre of fund distribution. 

Our AuM by client domicile in Asia is currently just £7.0 billion 
and we have the opportunity and resource in place to expand 
that in coming years. In Japan, which is stand-alone, MUTB is 
our conduit to institutions; our funds business, acquired from 
Credit Suisse, is a more patchwork legacy. On the upside we 
have acquired experienced staff and longstanding distributor 
relationships that we can capitalise upon. 

In Australia the terrain is different again: buyers are long term 
and pension-led, and gravitate to more traditional balanced, 
equity and income products. Having established ourselves in 
niche regional and country funds, our intention is to compete 
more in these core areas. Our first consultant ratings on global 
equity may prove a turning point. We are also consolidating 
our Credit Suisse products, where fixed income stands out for 
performance and choice. With staff numbers almost doubling 
to 70, we now have the reach essential for this highly 
intermediated market. 

BUSINESS REvIEW CONTINUED
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The US remains the world's largest fund market and while 
we have consolidated our mutual fund range there, many 
newer funds will need a little longer to consolidate three-year 
track records, especially those arising from the Nationwide 
transaction. Our retail strategy is to maintain our investment 
approach, despite a market preference for rigid style boxes 
into which we may not quite fit. Separately, the Credit Suisse 
transaction has grown our closed end fund mandates from 
three to eight, offering US investors a good range of specialist 
Asian and emerging market funds and raising our profile as a 
result to the buyside community. 

In the US institutional channel, we made significant inroads 
with our international and global equity capability, including 
emerging market equity in the last year, as consultant 
familiarity has grown. We enjoyed similar success in Canada.

In general as we have grown to a size befitting a proper global 
business, we can offer effective servicing to the international 
bancassurers, commercial and private banks that dominate 
funds distribution. However, we are finding that fund 
gatekeepers, product advisory and other internal specialists 
work in different ways, some in a centralised role, others in 
more geographically discrete ways. 

The pressure is thus upon us to develop multiple points of 
contact and deeper relationships. That, in turn, presupposes we 
allocate more fund manager time to client meetings; and that 
we make a bigger commitment in terms of branding, in order 
to create visibility with underlying investors. Key messages 
must be repeated across communication materials, requests 
for proposals and product updates, and in many languages.  
In our favour, contacts are often surprised at our size and 
resources; at our distinct product proposition; and our clear 
sense of how we position ourselves versus our competition.

Consolidation
The financial crisis has pressured many banks to rethink 
their business models. Some have moved to divest asset 
management arms, perhaps to raise capital or focus on 
distribution. For the first time in a generation, it has been a 
buyers’ market, therefore, with European banks at the heart  
of the retreat and with many mid-size US operators also  
put in play. 

We moved quickly at the end of 2008 to capitalise on Credit 
Suisse’s wish to streamline its asset management business, 
purchasing the bulk of its global long-only division. This 
included a mixture of funds and businesses around the world. 
For the most part they presented an excellent fit, from both 
a geographical and product slant. In fixed income we took on 
substantial money market, Asian and Australian assets, with 
teams joining in London and Sydney. In equities, we added to 
global and UK funds, and also brought over a multi-manager 
product in the UK. 

One key attraction of the Credit Suisse deal is the potential 
for distribution via its private banking network. In Europe, our 
enlarged operations now include several new offices. Since 
the final closing of this transaction at the end of June, the 
majority of the acquired businesses have been integrated and 
by the year end all new staff are now working out of Aberdeen 
offices. Fund rationalisation may take another 12 months. But 
the benefits are already becoming apparent. Our main hurdle 
now is to ensure we retain assets and leverage the better 
distribution to cross-sell. 
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Investment performance review
The see-saw markets produced very different outcomes 
for our portfolios. Equities held up well despite early forced 
selling; fixed income, by contrast, was savaged by poor 
relative performance, before clawing back much of the lost 
ground; property was probably saved from big outflows by 
its very illiquidity. In summary our strategy of running a 
balanced business across asset classes has provided downside 
protection when most needed, and bought time to turn 
around areas of relative underperformance and address any 
process or structural shortcomings.

Fixed income
Fixed income markets experienced a roller-coaster 
year. The collapse in credit in late 2008, led to 
massive global deleveraging, causing markets to 
seize up. Huge liquidity injections and public bailouts 
followed. With most major economies in recession, 
government bonds posted very high returns, while non-
government bonds significantly underperformed. 

Like many asset managers last year, we were 
overweight in credit and underweight in government 
bonds. Consequently our performance suffered, most 
noticeably in our US business where we held non-agency 
mortgage-backed securities. Although not sub-prime, 
spreads here reached distressed levels, made worse 
as forced sellers, such as hedge funds, scrambled to 
liquidate. Redemptions followed across portfolios. 

More recently those areas that sold off most, such as asset-
backed and bank issues, have rallied strongly, as has European 
high yield. We held our nerve through this extraordinary 

volatility, and have now made up much of last year’s losses 
in US Core and Core Plus mandates, having outperformed 
benchmarks in the year to date. Our specialist teams 
meanwhile are doing well. 

Still, we have recognised shortcomings and with the Credit 
Suisse acquisition have introduced a more transparent and 
accountable decision-making structure to our teams. Paul 
Griffiths joined as global head of fixed income and his priority 
is to enhance top-down portfolio construction. Alongside him 
some 25 fund managers also transferred to key investment 
centres, bringing skills in new areas such as money markets 
and convertibles. 

We therefore expect to introduce new products in these 
areas as well as emerging debt and higher yield products 
that are gaining from the global search for yield. That apart, 
our priority is to restore our standing with consultants, who 
naturally dislike change. They will want to see the outcome of 
team and process tweaks before restoring us to their buy lists.

Equities
Our core equity products did well, outperforming for much 
of this year until markets saw buyers switch from defensives 
into cyclicals and oversold financials. This was due reward for 
our discipline. We never chased momentum and so had little 
cause to trim portfolios when markets plunged.

With hindsight, markets were cheap only briefly. As the rally 
has continued our scepticism has mounted, even though 
earnings forecasts have been revised gradually upwards. For 
despite inventory restocking, cost cutting and delays in capital 
expenditure, actual topline sales growth has stayed muted. 

BUSINESS REvIEW CONTINUED
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We feel that valuations are stretched. Some institutional 
investors have had little choice but to invest and have used 
the opportunity to allocate more to Asia and global emerging 
markets. In general that has been to our advantage.

Indeed, we won several new mandates as well as additional 
funding into our largest accounts. The influx led us to close 
to new global emerging market segregated mandates in 
October notwithstanding a long investor pipeline and brings 
that strategy into a similar position as Asia ex Japan, where 
our pooled funds remain open and we command full fees. 
Our actions sent a strong signal that we will not dilute 
our investment proposition for the sake of asset gathering. 
Consultants have generally welcomed the move. 

Lastly, we continued to pick up business for our highly 
regarded global equity product and we are pushing hard for 
consultant ratings where we do not yet have them. One bonus 
has been strong performance numbers from our US equity 
team based in Philadelphia. Having integrated a larger team 
from Nationwide and now amalgamated our offices, we can 
now press the case for a stand-alone US strategy. Realistically 
institutional acceptance will take another 18 months or so.

Property
Although there was significant variance between single 
country returns, in general European markets deteriorated at 
an increasing pace over the period. During the year, take-up 
decreased, driving down prime rents, and vacancy rates rose. 
With the collapse of debt-backed investment, transaction 
levels have plummeted. In addition equity investors expected 
values to fall further and stayed away. 

In the first half of 2009, some e24.5 billion was invested 
across European property markets which is just 20% of the 
volume seen at the height of the market in the first half of 
2007. Those investors with cash flow difficulties, or those in 
breach of bank loan to value covenants, have been the source 
of much of the recent stock appearing on the market. But 
prime yields are now stabilising in most markets, in the office 
sector in particular, as the decline in capital values slows. 

Generally, we have been insulated against the market turmoil. 
This is primarily because institutional investors represent 
over 75% of our property AuM. Such investors typically have 
a longer term investment horizon and a greater degree of 
tolerance against market turbulence than retail investors. In 
addition, our bias to the core and added value segments of the 
market rather than more highly geared ones matched investor 
preferences and insulated fund performance. 

We also lowered our costs by outsourcing where appropriate. 
Our model is to carry out all aspects of property investment 
management ourselves, but it makes increasing sense to use 
third parties for day-to-day facilities management. This lets 
us focus on opportunities for maximising income and adding 
value. Our staff count in property fell by 20% over the period. 
However, lower valuations inevitably hit our AuM. 

We have been integrating our various property arms. For 
example, we completed the integration of Goodman Property 
Investors, with particular benefits to the UK business in terms 
of distribution capacity and product support. We also refrained 
from launching any new products and even closed one, our 
Russian fund, where we saw a rapid decrease in demand 
primarily as a result of changing market circumstance.

Flight to safety benefited industry's  
fixed income funds
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With the exception of Continental Europe the business 
performed well. Within Continental Europe our German open 
end funds have suffered, leading to the temporary suspension 
of three of our DEGI funds after the year end. Earlier, in June, 
concerns flared up publicly in Germany over potential losses 
for their open end property fund sector overall. This unease 
in turn prompted indiscriminate outflows, which included the 
DEGI funds in their wake. On top of this, domestic investors 
in Germany switched money out of open end property funds 
into state-guaranteed deposit accounts, which, coupled with 
strategic divestments from some advisory institutions has 
caused the DEGI funds difficulty, nothwithstanding the quality 
of their underlying investments. 

Looking ahead, there is clear evidence of changing market 
sentiment as investors, primarily with equity, are returning 
to the market. Particular areas of interest are currently the 
UK market following its rapid repricing and, for European 
investors, the Asian market. 

Business development 
We have made some strides in our coverage of key 
institutional clients this year. On the other hand, we have 
had a mixed year in terms of sales in view of fixed income. 
Retaining accounts was very challenging. Fortunately the 
revenue impact has not been as bad as it might appear 
because of the better margins on equity-led new business. 

In bald figures, we recorded gross sales of almost £20.0 billion 
but net outflows of £10.6 billion. The outflows included 

£14.1 billion in fixed income, about a half of which was 
invested in US and the balance in global, UK, European and Asia 
Pacific strategies. On the plus side we raised a positive net £2.4 
billion in global emerging markets (GEM) equities, our best 
ever year, and £2.0 billion in global equities. There are further 
GEM commitments pending, outwith formal closure, and it is a 
precondition that we will only accept these on full fees. 

We chalked up some notable firsts, including institutional 
mandates from mainland China. In Canada we have become 
a front-ranked manager with almost £2.0 billion under 
management. To support this business we open an office in 
Toronto. We also continued to garner assets in the Middle 
East, both from new and existing clients. Fund flows via MUTB 
have started promisingly. And, testifying to our geographic 
reach, investment bank Celfin, which operates in Chile and 
Peru, has begun distributing products. This supplements 
existing buying through Chile’s pension system. 

Meanwhile across the US we continued to attract new equity 
monies. Our Dutch office also saw positive numbers. In both 
instances our success had origins in relationships built up 
over many years. Further encouragement came in the Nordic 
region, where our team is ahead in efforts to cross-sell assets, 
having previously been known only for property. 

Although Europe and the UK have had a difficult time, UK 
wholesale inflows were up on the year. Similarly in retail 
all but one of our Asian offices outside Australia edged into 
positive territory by the end of the fiscal year, helped by good 
performance in our mainly Asian equity funds. 

BUSINESS REvIEW CONTINUED

 
Index funds have dominated US fund flows

Top 10 selling long term funds US, YTD 09 ($bn)

Fund name Category Active/passive Net flows, Jan - Sep 09 Assets, Sep 09

PIMCO Total Return Taxable Bd Short/Intmd Active 35.1 185.7

vanguard Short Invst Grade Taxable Bd Short/Intmd Active 9.6 30.0

vanguard Total Stock Mkt Index Total Return Passive 9.0 110.5

vanguard Total Bond Mkt Index Corporate/Income Gen'l Passive 8.8 63.6

vanguard Tot Bd Mkt II Idx Corporate/Income Gen'l Passive 7.3 25.1

vanguard Inflatn Protect Sec Govt Backed Gen'l Active 7.1 25.2

iShares Barclays TIPS Bond Govt Backed Gen'l Passive 7.0 16.4

TCW Total Return Bond Govt Backed Gen'l Active 6.7 10.0

Templeton Global Bond Global Bond Active 6.5 19.2

vanguard Emrg Mkts Stock Index Int'l/Global Equity Passive 6.3 26.0

Source: Strategic Insight Simfund MF.
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The biggest trigger for expansion, however, was the Credit 
Suisse transaction, through which we acquired new offices 
both in Europe (Geneva, Milan, Budapest) and further afield 
(Melbourne). In places where both sides have offices, all 
transferring staff will come under one roof. Forty new staff 
joined in distribution. 

Strategy
Our priorities have become more explicit in the wake of Credit 
Suisse, now our largest client Groupwide. There are five key 
aspects to our global business development strategy in terms 
of territories, channels and products.

Our primary task is to consolidate and increase the assets we 
manage on Credit Suisse’s behalf. This is setting us an early 
test of our global financial institutions (GFI) framework, begun 
last year, which makes the servicing of our major financial 
institutions a priority. These clients dominate cross-border 
business and have globally recognised brands. Their needs are 
to have multiple points of local contact and uniform service. 

In Europe the GFI market is private bank-led, although 
it includes insurers and fund of funds and discretionary 
institutional buyers. To align ourselves better with these 
clients we are integrating our property and newly-acquired 
Credit Suisse offices. In Germany, for example, we have 
consolidated three offices under a new holding company 
Aberdeen Deutschland. 

Second, outside Europe, we see North America, Japan and 
Australia as priorities. The Credit Suisse operations we have 
taken on in both countries means repositioning our existing 
businesses. In Japan we must nurse a legacy retail funds 
structure alongside the relationship forged with MUTB on the 
institutional side. Doing this cost-effectively, when distributor 
servicing is resource-intensive, is a challenge. MUTB has got 
off to a good start, though, in terms of assets raised.

In Australia we now have a diverse business in terms of 
local investment teams, products and clients. Following the 
integration of Credit Suisse’s Australian assets, we are the 
fourteenth largest investment manager by assets under 
management. AuM has climbed to A$20.4 billion (up from 
A$7.0 billion prior to the acquisition). Fixed income sales have 
been stronger following a difficult two-year period, while we 
have high hopes for our newly-rated global equity product. 
If we can overcome our legacy businesses’ profile, we could 
become a significant force.

Third, we aim to acquire further in the US. While we have 
gained huge strides in the US institutional market, by a long 
way the world’s largest, our wholesale business has been 
delayed by the integration of two Philadelphia offices, now 
completed, and the lengthy lead times associated with fund 
rationalisation. Unlike the institutional business, which is low 
key and consultant-led, the wholesale one is ‘high touch’, 
requiring skilled resource and talent to manage. We can build 
organically but, as noted, the financial crisis has made this a 
buyers’ market, even though acquisition franchise values are 
easily inflated. 

GEM equities led net gains, US fixed income  
bore brunt of losses
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Fourth, we will take a hard look before entering some of the 
larger developing markets. This strategy of omission concedes 
there are high barriers in the likes of China and India: both 
require one to partner local firms. For us corporate control 
would be a sticking point. As well, these larger markets are 
crowded out by local operators with a captive client base.  
At this stage, then, the opportunities may not justify  
the resources.

Fifth, our reputation today rests on our expertise mainly 
in higher risk equities, emerging and high yield debt and 
specialist areas (such as property). To gain market share 
across the risk spectrum we need to address our shortage of 
products. The money market and convertibles capability via 
Credit Suisse holds promise, as do the inflation-linked funds 
we inherited in Australia. We anticipate building on areas 
within emerging markets that remain open (for example, 
Asian fixed income), plus global equity and offshoots (such as 
EAFE mandates in North America). We also want to gain more 
exposure for UK property.

Cost management
Growth opportunities are balanced by attention to costs.  
We have been keen to cut overheads, for example by 
continuing to outsource, embedding our global operating 
model and moving non-client facing activities to cheaper 
locations. In the past year we have met operational cost 
reduction targets, partly now offset by exceptional costs 
associated with Credit Suisse. But we expect synergies to 
lead to more savings as transition staff depart and we close 
redundant offices. A number of fund managers were also let 
go on both sides after the transaction. 

One important source of eventual savings will be our 
Luxembourg fund rationalisation project. This will see the 
number of our funds post-Credit Suisse fall by a quarter to 
around 75, through mergers or outright closure. Luxembourg 
will continue to be our main funds platform because of 
portability under the EU’s UCITS directive, which in effect 
creates a single market. Whether UCITS can become a more 
genuine cross-border passport outside Europe remains to be 
seen. Developing markets tend to give preference to local fund 
structures, which can add to our potential costs.

In tune with the times, regulators have become more assertive 
in protecting investors. As well as more public efforts to 
tighten product disclosure, for example, this has resulted 
in greater oversight of our operational risk management 
structure. By and large we welcome such scrutiny. It is in our 
interests that regulators understand how we work. Besides, 
it can be to our advantage if we can evidence ‘best practice’ 
across our systems, risk and internal audit functions. Clients 
will fail asset managers whose risk architecture is weak. 

Nonetheless, increased regulatory and political interest in 
financial services may deliver unintended consequences and 
unexpected additional cost burdens. For example, in the EU, 
the draft Alternative Fund Managers Directive has been widely 
opposed for seeking to impose a burdensome disclosure 
regime on hedge funds.  The draft directive understandably 
seeks to increase investor protection and regulation into the 
hedge fund and private equity arenas, both perceived to be 
more weakly policed than other assets. But current drafting 
unwittingly captures any non-UCITs 3 vehicles into its scope, 
regardless of risk attributes, such as investment trusts. 

BUSINESS REvIEW CONTINUED
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Conclusion
We declared the current financial and economic crisis 
has structural roots. The past two decades have seen an 
unsustainable build up in debt. Unwinding that could take 
years. Both the supply and demand for credit - which has 
shifted from the private sector to government balance sheets 
in the form of fiscal deficits - must fall. The danger is that 
when policy stimulus ends growth will remain weak. 

Inflationary pressures are at present almost absent and 
policy makers have signalled continued low interest rates. 
Yet their stance may lead to renewed asset bubbles, as a 
weak dollar spurs a movement into real assets overseas such 
as commodities, property and stocks, underscoring how 
global imbalances remain. From a valuation perspective the 
main portfolio trades, be they into high yield bonds, say, or 
emerging market equities, appear to have closed out. 

Weaker growth, including growth of incomes, will of course 
hamper efforts to rebuild savings. That in turn will damage 
demand for more risky investment products; certainly the cult 
of equity or a ‘shareholder democracy’ looks dead in the UK 
and Europe. But the situation is far from hopeless. We think 
investor trust can be regained. What fund managers must do 
is depreciate company size as a form of quality assurance, and 
put more emphasis on transparency and service. Belonging to 
a bank is no longer a kite mark. 

Performance will always matter but with fewer products 
able to deliver, we expect an industry cull. In our favour we 
have avoided hot products. Our clients generally know what 
we stand for, which is predictable product behaviour over 
the long term. Less obvious is that our staff, especially fund 
managers, are wide owners of our products; and the bulk of 

compensation is deferred, through the award of company 
stock, so our interests are aligned with investors'.

As a uniquely organised pure asset manager, we have the basis 
for differentiation and hence growth in our brand or culture. 
The caveats lie internally in whether we can turn around areas 
of underperformance and integrate new businesses. Externally 
it is a matter of using our new found scale to penetrate more 
stable distribution networks and learning to speak to clients 
with one voice. With many of our competitors distracted by 
the current upheavals, we believe we can report good progress. 

Financial objectives
Our objective is to deliver long-term shareholder value by 
pursuing a strategy that involves an appropriate mix of 
organic growth and selective acquisitions.

Our principal aims are to grow the recurring revenues generated 
from AuM and to maintain an efficient cost base from which to 
service this business. The level of net new business flows is a key 
driver of the growth in revenues and profits.

Acquisitions
The acquisition of certain fund management businesses 
from Credit Suisse was completed on 30 June 2009, adding 
approximately £35.1 billion to AuM and introducing 
significant additional revenue and profit streams to the Group. 
The transaction was completed in two stages: the Asia Pacific 
businesses, which brought approximately £7.4 billion of AuM, 
closed on 30 April; and the rest of the world assets were 
acquired on 30 June. The transaction was structured such that 
the full consideration was payable provided 90% or more of 
the run-rate revenues derived from the AuM were delivered  
on closing. 

 
Assets by client type

Central banks,
government

 agencies
£14.0bn

Open ended funds
£29.2bn

Third party distribution
£25.4bn

Closed end
funds
£8.8bn

Insurance
£16.6bn

Pension funds
£40.9bn

Other
institutional

£11.3bn

Total £146.2bn (2008: £111.1bn) As at 30 September 2009

 
Assets by type of mandate

Money market
£13.5bn

Fixed income
£51.7bn

Equities
£50.7bn

Property
£22.6bn

Total £146.2bn (2008: £111.1bn) As at 30 September 2009

Multi asset
£7.7bn
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This target was achieved, with approximately CHF202.0 
million (£113.0 million) of annualised revenues transferred. 
Approximately £28.0 million of new income has been 
recorded for the period between closing and the year end, 
with additional operating costs of £11.0 million also reflected 
in the 2009 results.

The purchase of Goodman Property Investors (GPI),which 
was completed in May 2008, included a provision under 
which additional deferred consideration of up to £12.5 
million may become payable, contingent upon GPI meeting 
agreed new business targets over the two years to 31 May 
2010. The level of new business generated in the first year 
following completion was insufficient to trigger any payment 
of deferred consideration but there is a possibility that new 
business flows in the second year may result in a deferred 
consideration payment; the Board estimates that the 
maximum deferred consideration which may become  
payable will be £3.1 million and provision has been made  
for this amount.

Review of results
Global market conditions have been extremely volatile during 
the year under review, with the first nine months of the 
period seeing benchmark indices dip to significantly lower 
levels, before experiencing a fairly rapid bounce thereafter. The 
Group’s AuM, albeit boosted by acquisition activity, followed 
a similar pattern, with a consequent impact on revenues; 
while income has rebounded strongly in our final quarter, this 
happened too late in the year to offset the negative impact 
earlier in the year. Much of the focus has been on reducing 

operating costs and we identified additional efficiencies over 
and above the reductions we had announced at the time 
of our 2008 results. We will continue to pursue further cost 
efficiencies through 2010.

Against this background, the results for the year to  
30 September 2009 disclose underlying profit before taxation 
of £85.1 million, which is approximately 10% lower than 
the previous year. Overall net new business flows have been 
negative although the position has improved significantly in 
the second half of the year, following an extremely difficult 
first half, but AuM and revenues have been supplemented by 
the benefits of the Credit Suisse acquisition.

At the gross level, new business flows have held up very  
well, delivering £19.1 billion of new AuM during the year 
(2008: £21.8 billion). However, during a difficult period for the 
whole sector, we have seen an increased level of withdrawals 
and redemptions as the reduction in clients’ risk appetite 
continued. Outflows for the year were £29.8 billion, a 43% 
increase on the £20.8 billion of outflows reported for 2008.  
As a result, net new business flows turned negative for 
the year at -£10.6 billion (2008: £1.0 billion). The new 
business flows have improved throughout the year, with 
72% of the gross inflows introduced in the second half 
year and the net outflows reduced to £2.2 billion for 
the second half, compared to £8.5 billion in the first 
half. A further £3.9 billion of new mandates had been 
awarded at 30 September 2009 for which the funding 
was not received from clients until after the year end.

BUSINESS REvIEW CONTINUED

 
Assets by client domicile

UK & Channel 
Islands
£41.9bn

Americas
£22.1bn

Middle East 
& Africa
£11.2bn

Asia Pacific
£7.0bn

Australia
£10.1bn

Europe 
ex UK & 

Channel Islands
£53.9bn

Total £146.2bn (2008: £111.1bn) As at 30 September 2009

 
Property assets by domicile

Other
£0.4bn

Asia
£0.5bn

Continental &
Eastern Europe

£9.3bn

UK
£5.8bn

Nordic
£6.6bn

Total £22.6bn (2008: £25.4bn) As at 30 September 2009
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We envisage that net outflows will continue within our fixed 
income division, albeit at a slower pace, while we anticipate 
healthy net inflows from equities. Indeed, such is the interest 
currently being shown by investors we have taken the decision 
to close temporarily our global emerging market capability to 
new segregated mandates to allow us to manage the quality 
and flow rate of assets we take on.

Consistent with the approach we adopted in previous years, 
this business review discusses the results on the basis of 
presentation adopted for management purposes, which we 
refer to as the underlying basis. The Board considers that the 
separation of recurring and non-recurring items in this way 
will provide more helpful information to investors. 

The following table summarises the principal differences 
between the IFRS and underlying numbers.

 
Reconciliation of results on an underlying basis to IFRS

Underlying 
£'000

Reclassifications
£'000

IFRS
£'000

Revenue 421,897 – 421,897

Losses on investments (282) – (282)

Total income 421,615 – 421,615

Operating expenses (325,900) (74,634) (400,534)

Operating profit 95,715 (74,634) 21,801

Net finance costs (10,611) – (10,611)

Profit before taxation 85,104 (74,634) 10,470

Tax expense (14,605) 10,831 (3,774)

Profit after taxation 70,499 (63,803) 6,696

Exceptional costs (44,498) 44,498 –

Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets (30,136) 30,136 –

Tax on exceptional items, amortisation and impairment 10,831 (10,831) –

Profit for the year 6,696 – 6,696

Revenue for the year fell by 2% to £421.9 million, while 
underlying operating expenses were 2% lower at £325.9 
million, resulting in the underlying operating profit being 
4% lower than 2008 at £95.7 million. Net finance costs 
amounted to £10.6 million (2008: £4.9 million), resulting in 
an underlying profit before taxation of £85.1 million, a 10% 
decrease on 2008.

The Group, in common with the wider asset management 
sector, has experienced challenging markets during the 
year, with the impact of weaker markets reflected in lower 
revenues. Whilst cost reduction has been an ongoing focus,  
it was not possible to match the pace of the decline in 
revenues during the early part of the year and this has 

resulted in reduced operating margins. The effect on each 
of the two divisions will be discussed in more detail below 
but the Group’s overall operating margin, which is defined as 
the operating profit divided by total income, reduced from 
23.2% in 2008 to 22.7% this year. However, the recovery in 
markets and completion of the Credit Suisse transaction have 
contributed to an improvement in the operating margin to 
25.1% for the second half year and we expect considerable 
further improvement in this ratio in 2010.

Underlying earnings per share, which takes account of  
the increased number of shares in issue as well as the  
change in profits, declined by 30% to 6.3p per share on  
a diluted basis.
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BUSINESS REvIEW CONTINUED

Exceptional expenses of £44.5 million were incurred during 
the year. The largest element, £18.3 million, was in respect of 
costs associated with the Credit Suisse acquisition. A further 
£17.8 million of one-off costs arose from the cost reduction 
programme previously communicated to investors including 
rationalisation of acquisitions completed in 2008. We also 
made provision for £7.0 million of future costs and write- 
downs associated with office premises which have become 
vacant as a result of rationalisation. 

Financial Review 
Revenue
Revenue decreased by 2% to £421.9 million, with the  
adverse impact of markets and new business outflows being 
offset by the benefits brought by the Credit Suisse acquisition. 
The investment management division has seen revenue rise 
marginally from £312.8 million in 2008 to £313.3 million 
in 2009. Revenue from the property management division 
fell by 7%, from £117.3 million in 2008 to £108.6 million in 
the current year, partly as a result of closing or disposing of 
certain low margin activities.

Key performance indicators

2009 2008 2007

Change in underlying profit before taxation -10% +1% +18%

Change in underlying EPS (diluted) -30% -19% +53%

Operating margin 22.7% 23.2% 28.5%

Gross new business - funded in year £19.1bn £21.8bn £22.6bn

Net new business - funded in year -£10.7bn +£1.0bn +£8.7bn

New business awarded but unfunded at year end £3.9bn £1.9bn £3.1bn
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Operating profit and margin
Underlying operating profit for 2009 was 4% lower at £95.7 million, representing an operating margin of 22.7% (2008: 23.2%). 
In a period characterised by challenging market conditions, the movement in operating margins for the two operating segments 
were as follows: 

Operating profit and margins

2009 
£m

2008 
£m  change

Operating profit

Investment management 79.4 83.8 -5.2%

Property 16.3 16.2 +0.6%

Operating margin

Investment management 25.6% 26.8%

Property 15.0% 13.8%

Net finance costs
The main elements of net finance costs are interest paid on 
the bonds issued by the Group and on bank borrowings drawn 
from time to time, less interest earned on cash balances. Net 
finance costs have increased from £4.9 million in 2008 to 
£10.6 million this year. This increased cost was due to having 
a full year’s charge for the bank debt drawn in March 2008 to 
finance the e110.0 million acquisition of the DEGI property 
asset management business.

Tax
The effective tax rate, defined as the tax charge divided by 
profit before taxation, was 17.2% in 2009. This relatively low 
rate is achieved because significant elements of the Group’s 
profits are earned in jurisdictions which charge tax at lower 
rates than the UK corporation tax rate of 28%. The effective 
tax rate is expected to increase slightly going forward, as the 
Credit Suisse transaction will change the profit mix, but the 
general pattern of a lower than standard tax rate is expected 
to continue; the effective tax rate is likely to be in the 
20%–22% range for the foreseeable future.

Earnings per share
As discussed above, the Board believes that the most 
appropriate measure of the Group’s profitability is the 
underlying EPS number, which excludes from its calculation 
exceptional costs, exceptional income and gains and the 
amortisation and impairment charges on intangible assets. On 
this measure the Group’s EPS has decreased by 30% to 6.3p 
per share.

Coupon on 7.9% perpetual subordinated capital securities
The coupon payable on these securities, which were issued in 
2007 to introduce additional flexibility to the capital structure, 
is fully deductible for UK tax purposes, so that the post-tax 
cost is approximately 5.7% pa. This is considerably less than 
the cost of ordinary share capital, currently estimated at 
around 11.5% pa.

Dividends
An interim dividend of 2.8p per share was paid to ordinary 
shareholders in June 2009 and the Board is recommending 
payment of a final dividend of 3.2p per share, resulting in a 
total payment for 2009 of 6.0p, a 3.4% increase on 2008. This 
dividend is fully covered by recurring earnings per share.
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Financial position
Total equity increased by £278.7 million to £1,022.0 million at 30 September 2009. The main components of this increase were 
as follows:

Changes in equity

£'000

Profit for the year 6,696

Net expense recognised directly in equity (1,118)

Issue of ordinary shares 302,496

Preference dividends paid (4,445)

Coupon paid on perpetual capital securities (14,769)

Ordinary dividends paid (42,333)

Minority interest arising on certain Credit Suisse businesses acquired 6,932

Release from reserves to match charge for share-based payments in Income Statement 25,555

Purchase of own shares (328)

Increase in total equity 278,686

Net borrowings at 30 September 2009 were £174.5 million, 
equivalent to a gearing ratio of 17.1% of total equity. During 
the year the holders of £3.0 million of convertible bonds 
elected to convert their holdings to ordinary shares, as did 
holders of £39.9 million of convertible preference share units. 
Because of the more difficult conditions in the banking sector 
we decided to advance the refinancing of our revolving credit 
facilities during the year; the new facilities have maturity 
dates through to July 2011. 

At the year end the Group had access to approximately £17.0 
million of committed but undrawn bank facilities and an 
overdraft facility of £15.0 million. These facilities are used for 
the management of working capital requirements including 
the provision of seed capital to enable fund launches. 

Following the year end we have announced the issue of a 
£90.0 million convertible bond which has a five year term 
and will incur interest at a fixed rate of 3.5% per annum. The 
proceeds of this issue will be used to repay bank debt; the 
level of committed bank facilities available to the Group will 
remain unchanged, thus increasing the available headroom.

Pension deficits
The net deficit on the Group’s legacy defined benefit pension 
schemes has increased to £33.4 million at 30 September 
2009, compared to a net deficit of £11.9 million at the 
previous year end. This increase arises principally from lower 
asset values and a higher value attributed to the liabilities of 

the schemes although a small increase is due to the inclusion 
of small schemes introduced by the Credit Suisse acquisition. 
The increase in the liabilities is due to the requirement of 
IAS 19 to use a discount rate calculated by reference to the 
yield on AA-rated corporate bonds; the discount rate used 
this year is 5.5%, compared to 7.0% in 2008 and, as a result, 
the aggregate liabilities of the schemes have increased 
considerably. The Group’s ongoing cash contribution to these 
schemes is approximately £6.0 million per annum, and there 
is no expectation of any material change in this figure in the 
near term.

Capital increases
The principal element of capital issued during the year was the 
issue to Credit Suisse of 240 million new ordinary shares in 
consideration for the acquisition of certain fund management 
businesses. These shares were issued in two tranches: 32.5 
million on 1 May 2009 at a price of 132.5p per share and  
a further 207.5 million on 1 July 2009 at a price of 124.0p  
per share. The aggregate value of this issue was therefore 
£300.4 million. 

42.4 million new ordinary shares were issued on the 
conversion of £39.9 million of the 6.75% Convertible 
preference share units and 2.8 million new ordinary shares 
were issued on conversion of the final £3.0 million of the 
4.5% Convertible bonds 2010. A further 943,000 new ordinary 
shares were issued pursuant to the exercise of share options 
by employees.

BUSINESS REvIEW CONTINUED
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Cash flow
Operating cashflow before interest and tax has recovered strongly in the second half year, after a more difficult first half, with 
£95.7 million of underlying operating profit delivering £84.4 million of core cash inflows. The Group’s cash flow performance 
over the last three years is summarised below.

Cash flow performance

2009
£'000

2008
£'000

2007
£'000

Operating cashflow before interest and tax 79,636 106,276 51,663

Interest and tax paid (37,328) (27,416) (14,512)

Cash flow from operating activities after interest and tax 42,308 78,860 37,151

Maintenance capital expenditureA (6,813) (2,959) (6,345)

Dividends and coupons paid (61,547) (54,959) (39,409)

Free cash flow (26,052) 20,942 (8,603)

Exceptional costs and gains (25,244) (10,229) (67,077)

Acquisitions and disposals 19,914 (202,296) (58,432)

Issue of perpetual capital securities – – 196,465

Debt drawn (repaid) 31,802 98,209 (2,736)

Issue of share capital (841) 95,206 1,571

Purchase of own shares (328) – (29,473)

Exchange fluctuations (50) (351) 845

Movement in cash and cash equivalents (799) 1,481 32,560

A Maintenance capital expenditure represents the purchase, less disposals, of property, plant and equipment used in the Group’s ongoing activities.

Financial risk management
Interest rate risk
We finance our activities from a combination of equity, 
including perpetual capital securities and preference shares, 
and debt. Coupon payments on the perpetual capital securities 
and preference dividends are payable, at the discretion of the 
Board, at fixed rates.

Bank borrowings under the Group’s multi-currency revolving 
credit facilities are drawn in the desired currency at variable 
interest rates. Interest on the US dollar subordinated loan is 
charged at a fixed rate for five years from the date of issue, 
July 2006.

The convertible bond issue which was announced recently, the 
proceeds of which will be received in mid-December, will bear 
interest at a fixed rate throughout its five year life. 

The Board believes that the balance between floating rate  
and fixed rate borrowings is appropriate to the Group’s 
business needs and will continue to monitor this position  
on a regular basis.
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BUSINESS REvIEW CONTINUED

Liquidity risk
The Group's approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure, 
as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity 
to meet its liabilities when due under both normal and 
stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or 
risking damage to the Group's reputation. Details of the bank 
facilities available to the Group are provided in note 27. The 
headroom between available facilities and amounts drawn 
will be increased in December as a result of the convertible 
bond issue and receipt of proceeds from the sale of certain 
contracts to Premier Asset Management Group Limited. 

Foreign currency risk
Revenues are earned principally from fees which are calculated 
on the basis of the value of AuM managed for clients and 
many mandates include investments valued in currencies 
other than sterling. Fluctuations in the rates at which overseas 
currencies are convertible to sterling can therefore affect the 
value of the Group’s revenues on an ongoing basis.

The fact that we operate on a global basis, with offices in 
a number of countries worldwide, means that a proportion 
of operating costs is also incurred in foreign currencies and 
interest on the Group’s US$125 million subordinated debt 
and coupons on the 7.9% perpetual capital securities is 
incurred in US dollars. variations in the sterling value of these 
operating costs and interest cost will, to an extent, offset any 
similar impact of fluctuating exchange rates on revenues and 
the Board has therefore decided that it is not appropriate 
to undertake any specific hedging of the Group's US dollar 
exposure. A limited amount of hedging was undertaken in 
2009 on the Group's Euro-denominated profit streams.

Fair value of financial instruments
As explained in note 29 to the accounts, there is no material 
difference between the book value and fair value of financial 
instruments as at 30 September 2009.

Client relationships
Our relationships with clients are fundamental. Our client 
relations teams keep in regular contact with them to ensure 
that we address their changing needs. More widely, we aim to 
provide a high level of information to our customers, through 
a variety of means.

Principal risks and uncertainties 
In common with many businesses, the Group is exposed to 
a range of risks. Some of these risks are an inherent part of 
the business, such as taking investment decisions on behalf 
of clients and our energies are focused on managing this risk, 
as opposed to eliminating it. There is also regulatory and 
compliance risk which we actively seek to manage.

The management of risk is embedded in the culture of 
the Group and the way we conduct our business. The risk 
management committee together with the risk, compliance 
and internal audit departments are responsible for overseeing 
the implementation of our risk strategies and this involves the 
provision of regular reports to the Board.

In order to mitigate risk, the Group manages risk in a variety 
of ways depending on the nature of the risk and the areas of 
potential impact. The key risks for the Group include:

Investment performance risk
The majority of the Group’s revenue is derived from 
management fees which are calculated on the basis of the 
value of AuM from time to time. The value of AuM will be 
affected by general movements, positive or negative, in the 
markets in which the assets are invested but, more specifically, 
will be affected by the actual investment performance 
achieved by the asset managers.

Our investment performance will, from time to time and 
measured over various time periods, exceed or lag general 
market or benchmark performance - referred to as relative 
performance. We deliberately adopt a long term investment 
style, founded on a robust investment process which 
involves detailed research of individual stocks, both before 
and following investment. This investment style is designed 
to deliver superior returns over the longer term but it may 
result in below benchmark returns in periods when markets 
generally are driven forward by positive (and often shorter 
term) sentiment.

We seek to mitigate this risk by ensuring that both clients 
and investment consultants are kept fully aware of the nature 
of our investment philosophy and by openly discussing the 
drivers of such performance, supported by relevant analysis 
of the components of performance, and comparing this with 
benchmark performance.
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Martin Gilbert
Chief Executive

Bill Rattray
Finance Director

Employee risk
We operate internationally and the Group's most important 
resource is its staff. Their knowledge and abilities are central to 
meeting clients’ needs and expectations. Retention of key staff 
is vitally important in maintaining this focus on client service. 
The Group runs a graduate recruitment program and provides 
ongoing training and development courses. Appropriate 
incentive packages are in place to encourage and reward 
strong performance.

Business continuity risk
We have an obligation to ensure that the business can operate 
at all times. We have continuity plans which are tested 
regularly. Our main back office is outsourced to third parties. 
We monitor these providers closely. As well, we have off-
site back up to our systems in place for each of the Group’s 
principal operating sites. We are insured in the event of loss of 
revenue through business interruption.

Project risk
We are reliant on the smooth and efficient delivery  
of key projects and manage the risks involved in these  
through a clearly defined process which is overseen by a 
senior management team. This Group projects committee 
ensures prioritisation and allocation of resources across  
Group projects. 
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Global reach,  
local understanding

BRITISH ISLES

Aberdeen (Head office)
Edinburgh
Glasgow
Jersey
London

As our home market, we have several 
offices around the British Isles. By  
AuM, 29% of our clients are based  
in the British Isles, accounting for 
£41.9 billion. The city of Aberdeen 
is our headquarters, and where we 
locate many Group functions including 
legal, group information and human 
resources; London is the investment 
centre for UK & European equity 
and fixed income teams, our largest 
office by number of staff, and where 
we locate most UK client servicing 
and business relationship staff.

Edinburgh is the investment centre 
for global equity, multi-asset and 
structured product teams, as well as 
the company secretarial teams for 
the UK investment trust range.

CONTINENTAL EUROPE

Amsterdam 
Brussels
Budapest
Copenhagen
Frankfurt
Geneva
Helsinki
Luxembourg
Milan
Oslo
Paris
Stockholm
St Petersburg
Zurich

Our presence across Continental 
Europe is growing significantly, further 
enhanced by the recent acquisition of 
certain businesses from Credit Suisse. 
Amsterdam is a key marketing office 
for the Dutch pensions market and also 
European property clients. The Frankfurt 
office was opened in January 2007 
to develop our business with German 
institutions. The Nordic region is the 
base of operations for much of our 
global property capability. Luxembourg 
is the domicile for the Aberdeen Global 
fund range. Continental Europe now 
accounts for 37% of group AuM.

AMERICAS

Philadelphia
São Paulo
Toronto

Philadelphia is our hub for North 
America and includes fixed income 
and US equity teams. We manage over 
£22.1 billion on behalf of US clients. 
Philadelphia is also the base for US 
client servicing and consultant relations 
staff. With the US mutual fund range 
acquired from Nationwide, we now have 
a strong platform on which to service 
institutional and wholesale channels. 

São Paulo and Toronto offices 
were opened in October and 
November respectively.
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MIDDLE EAST AND AFRICA

The Middle East and Africa are 
important sources of institutional 
funds, and we have strong client bases 
which we service from London. We 
currently manage over £11.2 billion of 
assets for institutional and sovereign 
wealth entities in those regions.

ASIA PACIFIC

Bangkok
Hong Kong
Kuala Lumpur
Shanghai
Singapore
Taipei
Tokyo

The Asian headquarters of the Group 
is in Singapore, and is home to most 
of our Asian fund managers covering 
the main asset classes, as well as to 
substantial marketing, client servicing 
and administrative functions: over 155 
staff in all. Other full service offices 
are in Hong Kong, Kuala Lumpur and 
Bangkok, plus we have research and 
client servicing in North Asia. Asian 
clients account for £7.0 billion of AuM 
and our investment in Asian securities, 
both equities and fixed income, is a 
core competence for the group.

AUSTRALIA

Melbourne
Sydney

With 75 employees and £10.1 billion 
invested by Australian clients in our 
products, the Group’s Australian 
operation has a sizeable presence 
in this relatively sophisticated 
retirement savings market. Our funds 
in Australia offer local investors a 
comprehensive choice of domestic, 
regional, global and emerging market 
investments. Additionally, we manage 
a range of specialist mandates in 
fixed income and equities and an 
investment company that is listed 
on the Australian Stock Exchange.

We know global markets from the local level 
upwards, drawing on over 1,850 staff, across 
31 offices in 24 countries.

We believe our focus, size and approach enable 
us to provide effective asset management and 
superior client service.

Our teams champion original thinking and 
knowledge, so investment decisions are based 
only on our own research.

As a group, we have the scale to provide 
global coverage of financial markets; 
yet we are small enough to focus on 
each and every portfolio decision. 

Close-knit teams, clear investment processes 
and flat structures are important to us. 

We seek to grow our clients’ assets in a way 
that is manageable and sustainable over the 
longer term.



Board of directors

ROGER CORNICK 2

CHAIRMAN (AGE 65)
Roger was appointed to the Board on 23 January 2004 and became chairman on  
22 January 2009. Roger was with Perpetual PLC for over 20 years, serving latterly as deputy 
chairman. Roger has over 30 years' experience of marketing and distribution in financial 
services and is currently a trustee of the River and Rowing Museum. Roger is chairman of 
the Group's nominations committee.

MARTIN GILBERT MA LLB LLD CA
CHIEF ExECUTIvE (AGE 54)
Trained as a chartered accountant in Aberdeen, Martin is a founder of the Company  
and was first appointed a director on 1 July 1983. He is chairman of FirstGroup plc and 
Chaucer Holdings PLC. Martin is also a director of Aberdeen Asian Smaller Companies 
Investment Trust PLC, Aberdeen Asia-Pacific Income Fund, Inc, Aberdeen Asia-Pacific 
Income Investment Company Limited, Aberdeen Australia Equity Fund Inc, Aberdeen 
Development Capital PLC, Aberdeen Football Club plc, Aberdeen Global Income Fund, Inc, 
and Primary Health Properties PLC.

ANDREW LAING MA LLB
DEPUTY CHIEF ExECUTIvE (AGE 57)
Andrew joined the Group in 1986 with responsibility for the private equity division. 
Andrew was subsequently appointed chief operating officer, originally joining the Board 
in 1987 and then again on 23 January 2004 and was appointed deputy chief executive in 
2008. Andrew graduated from Aberdeen University with an MA in Politics and International 
Relations and a degree in Law. Andrew is a director of the Group’s property division and a 
number of Group subsidiaries.

BILL RATTRAY MA CA
FINANCE DIRECTOR (AGE 51)
Bill joined the Group in 1985 as company secretary and subsequently became Group 
financial controller. He was appointed finance director on 31 January 1991. Before joining 
the Group, he trained as a chartered accountant with Ernst & Whinney in Aberdeen and 
qualified in 1982. Bill is a director of a number of Group subsidiaries.

1 Member of the audit committee
2 Member of the nominations committee
3 Member of the remuneration committee
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DONALD WATERS OBE CA 1,2

SENIOR INDEPENDENT NON-ExECUTIvE DIRECTOR (AGE 71)
Donald was appointed to the Board on 1 February 2000. A chartered accountant, Donald is 
a non-executive director of James Johnston & Co of Elgin Limited. He was formerly deputy 
chairman and chief executive of Grampian Television plc and a director of SMG plc. Donald 
is chairman of the Group’s audit committee.

ANITA FREW BA MPhil 1,3

INDEPENDENT NON-ExECUTIvE DIRECTOR (AGE 52)
Anita was appointed to the Board on 1 October 2004. Anita started her career at The 
Royal Bank of Scotland before moving to Scottish Provident where she became head of UK 
investment. Anita then joined WPP Group PLC as director of corporate development. She has 
also served as an executive director at Abbott Mead vickers plc. Anita is currently chairman 
of victrex PLC and a non-executive director of City of London Investment Trust plc, IMI plc, 
Northumbrian Water Limited and Securities Trust of Scotland PLC.

GERHARD FUSENIG
NON-ExECUTIvE DIRECTOR (AGE 46)
Gerhard was appointed to the Board on 8 October 2009 following the agreement entered 
into by Aberdeen with Credit Suisse Group AG in 2008. Gerhard achieved a Masters in 
Mathematics and Business Management and started his career at SMH Research, before 
moving to Landesbank Hessen, Dresdner Bank and then UBS where he fulfilled several 
roles until he joined Credit Suisse Asset Management in 2008. Gerhard is currently co-chief 
operating officer and head of asset management EMEA.

KENICHI MIYANAGA
NON-ExECUTIvE DIRECTOR (AGE 49)
Kenichi was appointed to the Board on 26 November, 2009, as a result of the business 
and capital alliance between Aberdeen and Mitsubishi UFJ Trust and Banking Corporation. 
Kenichi was awarded a degree in Economics from Sophia University before starting his 
career with the bank and is a CFA Charterholder. Kenichi has fulfilled various roles within 
the bank including proprietary investment as well as corporate strategic planning and is 
currently executive officer and general manager in charge of business development in  
asset management.
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THE RT. HON SIR MALCOLM RIFKIND KCMG QC 2,3

INDEPENDENT NON-ExECUTIvE DIRECTOR (AGE 63)
Sir Malcolm joined the Board on 1 August 2000. He is Conservative Member of Parliament 
for Kensington and Chelsea, having previously served as UK defence secretary and UK 
foreign secretary. Sir Malcolm served on the board of British Assets Investment Trust 
and F&C Emerging Markets Investment Trust. Sir Malcolm is chairman of the Group's 
remuneration committee.

SIMON TROUGHTON MA MRICS 3

INDEPENDENT NON-ExECUTIvE DIRECTOR (AGE 56)
Simon was appointed to the Board on 29 July 2009. Simon started his career at Cazenove 
and Company Limited before moving to Fauchier Partners where he became chief 
operating officer. Simon is currently a non-executive director of Fauchier Partners Allocator 
Fund, Fauchier Partners Incubator Fund and Fauchier Partners Counterpoint Fund.

GILES WEAvER FCA 1,3

INDEPENDENT NON-ExECUTIvE DIRECTOR (AGE 63)
Giles was appointed to the Board on 1 December 2000. A chartered accountant, Giles 
was formerly managing director and chairman of the Murray Johnstone Group until its 
acquisition by Aberdeen in 2000. He is currently chairman of Charter European Trust PLC, 
AH Medical Properties PLC, Kenmore European Industrial Fund Limited and Helical Bar PLC. 
Giles is also a director of Anglo & Overseas PLC and IRP Property Investments Limited.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS CONTINUED

1 Member of the audit committee
2 Member of the nominations committee
3 Member of the remuneration committee
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Rickard Backlund
Chief Executive Officer, Aberdeen Property Investors
Rickard joined Aberdeen in 2001 having previously been 
the CEO of Celexa Fastighetskapital from 1998. He has a 
masters degree in Civil Engineering from The Swedish Royal 
Institute of Technology and completed a course in Business 
Administration and Managerial Economics at Umeå University. 
Rickard is a member of the board of FASTIGO, The Federation 
of Swedish Real Estate Employers, the board of SIPA, the 
Scandinavian International Property Association and a fellow 
of the RICS, the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors.

Gordon Brough
Global Head of Legal
Gordon joined Aberdeen in February 2009 to head up the 
Group's legal function having previously been the partner 
responsible for the Group's affairs at Maclay Murray & Spens 
LLP. Prior to its merger with Maclays, Gordon had helped 
found specialist law firm, The City Law Partnership. Gordon is 
qualified as a lawyer in both Scots and English law.

Chris Ellyatt
Head of Distribution 
Chris is group head of distribution, overseeing business 
development, client service and marketing staff in our offices 
worldwide. He joined Aberdeen in 2002, initially based in 
the Singapore office before moving to London in 2003. Chris 
has over 20 years experience in financial services sales and 
marketing, having worked previously for HSBC, James Capel 
and BZW, focused predominantly on Asian and Emerging 
Markets. Chris was educated at the University of London 
where he obtained an MSc in Development Studies from the 
School of Oriental and African studies.

Ken Fry
Chief Operating Officer
Ken Fry graduated from the University of Essex with a BA in 
Computer Science and joined Aberdeen with the acquisition 
of Frederick’s Place Holdings in 1989 as group IT manager. He 
was appointed to the Group management board in 2006 and 
to his current role in 2008.

Paul Griffiths
Global Head of Fixed Income
Paul is the global head of fixed income having joined Aberdeen 
in July 2009 via the acquisition of the Credit Suisse Asset 
Management business, where he was chief operating officer 
and head of fixed income. Paul previously held a similar role 
at AXA Investment Managers, as well as being its UK chief 
executive officer. Paul graduated with a BSc in Physics from 
the University of York.

Rod MacRae
Group Head of Risk
Rod is responsible for UK and global risk including internal 
audit, regulatory compliance, legal services, business and 
investment risk and serves as chairman of the group risk 
management committee. Rod joined Aberdeen in 2003, 
following the acquisition of Edinburgh Fund Managers. Rod 
graduated with a MA in Economics from the University of 
Edinburgh and is a member of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Scotland.

Gary Marshall
Head of Collective Funds
Gary is head of collective funds, chief executive of Aberdeen 
Unit Trust Managers Limited and chief executive of Aberdeen 
Asset Management Life and Pensions Limited. He also sits 
on the boards of the Group’s Dublin and Luxembourg based 
offshore fund ranges. Gary joined Aberdeen following the 
acquisition of Prolific Financial Management in 1997. Gary 
graduated with a BSc in Actuarial Mathematics and Statistics 
from Heriot Watt University and is a qualified actuary.

Charles McKenzie
Deputy Head of Fixed Income
Charles joined Aberdeen via the acquisition of Deutsche 
Asset Management’s London and Philadelphia fixed income 
businesses in 2005. Charles was head of UK fixed income at 
Deutsche Asset Management in London which he joined in 
1993. Previously, Charles worked at Global Asset Management 
as a fixed income portfolio manager. Charles graduated with 
a BSc from Southampton University and an MBA in Finance 
from London City University Business School.

Anne Richards
Chief Investment Officer
Anne is chief investment officer and head of multi-asset 
investment. Anne was chief investment officer and joint 
managing director of Edinburgh Fund Managers, which 
was acquired by Aberdeen in 2003. Prior to joining EFM, 
Anne worked for Merrill Lynch Investment Managers. Anne 
graduated in Electronics and Electrical Engineering from the 
University of Edinburgh and has an MBA from Insead.

Hugh Young
Global Head of Equities
Hugh is managing director of Aberdeen Asset Management 
Asia Limited, the Group’s regional HQ, and is also group head 
of equities. He co-founded Singapore based Aberdeen Asia in 
1992, having been recruited in 1985 to manage Asian Equities 
from London. Hugh graduated with a BA in Politics from 
Exeter University.
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Directors’ report

The directors have pleasure in submitting their annual report 
and financial statements for the year to 30 September 2009. 

Principal activity and business review
The principal activity of the Group is the provision of asset 
management services. Further information on the Group’s 
business, which is required by section 417 of the Companies 
Act 2006, can be found in the following sections of the Annual 
report, which are incorporated into this report by reference:

• Chairman’s statement on pages 4 to 6;

• Business review, including details of principal risks and 
uncertainties, on pages 14 to 31; and

• Environmental, social and community matters and 
employees on page 56 to 58.

Financial
The results for the year are shown in the Group Income 
Statement on page 71. 

An interim ordinary dividend of 2.8p per share was paid on  
18 June 2009. The directors recommend a final ordinary 
dividend of 3.2p per share, making a total of 6.0p per share  
for the year to 30 September 2009. 

The proposed final dividend, if approved, will be paid on  
28 January 2010 to shareholders on the register at the close 
of business on 11 December 2009. A preference dividend 
of 6.75% was paid on 30 June 2009 and quarterly coupon 
payments have been made on the 7.9% perpetual capital 
securities. The total distribution of dividends and coupon 
payments for the year to 30 September 2009 is £61.5 million.

Directors
The names and biographical details of the present directors 
of the company, are given on pages 34 to 36. The Company’s 
Articles of Association require a director to retire from office 
no later than the third Annual General Meeting following 
his or her last election or re-election and for a minimum 
of one third of the board to retire annually. Accordingly, Sir 
Malcolm Rifkind, Giles Weaver and Donald Waters retire by 
rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Simon Troughton was appointed on 29 July 2009, Gerhard 
Fusenig was appointed on 8 October 2009 and Kenichi 
Miyanaga was appointed on 26 November 2009 and all 
will stand for election at the Annual General Meeting. 
All other directors served throughout the year.

Directors’ interests in the share capital of the Company at  
the year end were as follows:

Ordinary shares 
of 10p Options

Convertible Preference  
Share Units

7.9% Perpetual 
subordinated Capital 

Securities

2009
Number

2008
Number

2009
Number

2008
Number

2009
Number

2008
Number

2009 
US$'000

2008 
US$'000

Beneficial

Martin Gilbert  7,869,971 A  8,471,515 A 653,000 653,000 100 100 – –

Bill Rattray  2,244,463 A  2,125,698 A 244,000 244,000 50 50 – –

Andrew Laing  992,724 A  873,959 A 378,000 378,000 13 13 – –

Donald Waters  200,530  163,530 – – – – – –

Charles Irby  112,500 C  112,500 – – – – – –

Giles Weaver  110,000  110,000 – – 2 2 256 –

Anita Frew  37,500  37,500 – – – – – –

Roger Cornick  11,000  11,000 – – – – – –

Simon Troughton  10,000  – B – – – – – –

Sir Malcolm Rifkind  7,500  7,500 – – – – – –

Gerhard Fusenig  – B  – – – – – – –

Kenichi Miyanaga  – B  – – – – – – –

A The holdings for Messrs Gilbert, Rattray and Laing include shares awarded under the Group’s LTIP and which remain subject to forfeiture pending 
achievement of the relevant performance criteria. Full details are given in the Remuneration report. 
B Holding at date of appointment
C Holding at date of resignation
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On 4 December 2009, deferred shares awarded as part of 
the 2008 annual bonus awards vested into the names of the 
individuals. Martin Gilbert received 603,722 ordinary shares 
on vesting, of which 247,527 were sold to finance taxation 
and national insurance costs. Andrew Laing received 79,177 
ordinary shares on vesting, of which 32,463 were sold to 
finance taxation and national insurance costs. Bill Rattray 
received 79,177 ordinary shares on vesting, of which 32,463 
were sold to finance taxation and national insurance costs.  

On 30 November 2009, Simon Troughton acquired 20,000 
ordinary shares at a price of £1.4029 per ordinary share. 
There have been no other changes to the Directors' holdings 
between 30 September 2009 and 9 December 2009.

Substantial interests
At 9 December 2009 the Company has been notified of the 
following interests, other than those of the directors’, of 3%  
or more in the ordinary shares:

Share capital
Details of changes in share capital are set out in note 23. The 
authority for the Company to purchase, in the market, up to 
71,698,483 of its ordinary shares, representing approximately 
10% of its issued ordinary share capital, expires at the 
forthcoming Annual General Meeting. This authority was not 
required during the year, however shareholders will be asked, 
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, to renew such 
authority for a further year.

Employees
Details of the Company’s employment practices, including 
the employment of disabled persons, can be found in the 
Corporate governance report on pages 51 to 58.

Corporate governance
A report on corporate governance and compliance with the 
provisions of the Combined Code on Corporate Governance is 
set out on pages 51 to 58.

Going concern
The Group has considerable financial resources, including 
committed bank facilities which remain available until July 
2011. The Board has prepared forecasts taking account of the 
current uncertain market conditions which demonstrate that 
the Group will continue to operate within available facilities.

After making these enquiries, the Board considers that the 
Group has adequate resources to meet its business needs and 
it is therefore appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing these financial statements.

Charitable contributions
During the year, the Group made various charitable 
contributions totalling £202,000 (2008: £172,000).  
It is the Group’s policy not to make contributions for  
political purposes.

Number % of class

Credit Suisse 240,641,902 23.8

Mitsubishi UFJ Trust & Banking Corporation 188,305,962 18.6

MFS Investment Management 65,555,669 6.5

Fidelity Investments 44,666,218 4.4

Legal & General Group Plc 42,443,413 4.2
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Directors’ indemnities
The Company maintains directors’ and officers’ liability 
insurance which provides appropriate cover for any legal 
action brought against its directors.

Policy on payment of creditors
As required by the Financial Services Authority, all open end 
fund repurchase settlements are paid within four working days 
of receipt of the appropriate documentation from investors. 
Unless otherwise agreed payments to other creditors are 
made within thirty days of receipt of an invoice. At the year 
end, the Group and Company had an average of 13 days’ 
purchases outstanding in respect of trade creditors and an 
average of four days outstanding in respect of open end  
fund repurchase settlements.

Audit information
The directors who held office at the date of approval of this 
directors’ report confirm that, so far as they are each aware, 
there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s 
auditors are unaware; and each director has taken all the 
steps that they ought to have taken as a director to make 
themselves aware of any relevant audit information and  
to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of  
that information. 

2010 Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting will be held at The Marcliffe 
Hotel, North Deeside Road, Aberdeen at 12 noon on Thursday 
21 January 2010. Details of all resolutions being put to 
shareholders are contained in the Notice of the Annual 
General Meeting on pages 134 to 139.

Electronic proxy voting
Registered shareholders have the opportunity to submit their 
votes (or abstain) on all resolutions proposed at the Annual 
General Meeting by means of an electronic voting facility 
operated by the Company’s registrar, Equiniti Limited. This 
facility can be accessed by visiting www.sharevote.co.uk. 
CREST members may appoint a proxy or proxies by using  
the CREST electronic appointment service.

Electronic copies of the annual report and financial 
statements 2009 and other publications
Copies of the 2009 Annual Report and financial statements, 
the Notice of Annual General Meeting, other corporate 
publications, press releases and announcements are available 
on the Company’s website at www.aberdeen-asset.com. 
Shareholders are encouraged to take advantage of the 
provisions allowing the Company to deliver notices of 
meetings and associated documentation electronically  
via the Company’s investor relations webpages at  
www.aberdeen-asset.com/investorrelations, or by email. 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT  CONTINUED

By order of the board

Scott E Massie
Secretary
10 Queen’s Terrace
Aberdeen AB10 1YG

9 December 2009



Aberdeen Asset Management PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2009       41  

Remuneration report

The Board’s report to shareholders on remuneration and 
details of the compensation and contractual arrangements 
for directors are set out below. This report has been prepared 
in compliance with Part 15 of the Companies Act 2006 
and the Large and Medium - Sized Companies and Group 
(Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008, which impose 
certain statutory requirements for the disclosure of directors’ 
remuneration. The Remuneration report (the Report) also 
meets the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules of the 
UK Listing Authority and describes how the Company has 
complied with the Combined Code throughout the year to 
30 September 2009 as it relates to directors’ remuneration. 
A resolution to approve this report will be proposed at the 
forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

The Regulations require the auditors to report to shareholders 
on the auditable part of the Report and to state whether, 
in their opinion, that part of the Report has been properly 
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 (as 
amended by the Regulations). The tables detailing directors’ 
emoluments, interests in deferred shares, share options and 
shares awarded under the Group’s Long Term Incentive Plan 
on pages 43 to 45 have been audited. The remainder of the 
Report, which is unaudited, sets out the remuneration policy 
that applied during 2009 and describes arrangements which 
are intended to apply for 2010.

Remuneration committee
The current members of the remuneration committee 
(the committee) are Sir Malcolm Rifkind (chairman), 
Anita Frew, Simon Troughton and Giles Weaver, all of 
whom are independent non-executive directors. All 
of the members served throughout the year under 
review except Simon Troughton who was appointed 
on 29 July 2009, replacing Roger Cornick who resigned 
membership of the Committee on the same day. Their 
biographical details are shown on pages 34 to 36. 

The committee, which operates on the basis of detailed 
written terms of reference, has been established by the  
board to: 

a)  determine and recommend to the Board the  
Company’s policy on remuneration of executive  
directors and senior employees;

b)  determine the specific remuneration levels of  
the chairman, the executive directors and other  
senior employees;

c)  ensure that appropriate performance targets are set  
and that any payments made to executive directors  
and senior employees reflect achievement against  
such targets;

d)  consider individual awards to executive directors and 
senior employees under all incentive schemes;

e)  consider any award which might result in an employee 
receiving a total remuneration package of £250,000  
or more;

f)  consider the recruitment of any employee on a basic 
salary of £125,000 or more or with a basic salary plus 
guaranteed bonus of £125,000 or more;

g) determine the size of the annual bonus pool;

h)  approve the award of any annual bonus in excess  
of £100,000;

i)  consider any redundancy or severance payment which 
exceeds the terms of the Company’s standard policies, 
subject to a de minimis limit of £25,000;

j)  ensure that the Company maintains contact with its 
principal shareholders on remuneration matters, and to 
demonstrate that decisions on executive remuneration 
are taken independently and are complementary to the 
financial and commercial well-being of the Company;

k)  approve all substantial changes to the Group’s pension 
arrangements;

l)  report to shareholders in accordance with relevant legal 
requirements and associated codes of practice.

The terms of reference of the committee, which are reviewed 
annually, are available on request and are published on the 
Company’s website.

The committee is authorised to take external advice in 
order to fulfil its duties and appointed an external firm of 
consultants, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, to advise on the 
levels of salaries and composition of benefits packages 
of the executive directors and other senior employees. 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP also provide the Group with 
remuneration and other advisory services. 
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Remuneration policy
The Group’s remuneration policy is designed to reflect the 
importance of recruiting, retaining and motivating senior 
executives of the calibre necessary to maintain and improve 
the Group’s position in the asset management sector. The 
policy seeks to reward performance in a manner which 
aligns the interests of clients, shareholders, executives and 
other employees. The remuneration policy will support the 
Company’s aim, which is to maximise long-term shareholder 
value. To meet this aim, the Company's strategy, contained 
within the chairman's statement on pages 4 to 6,  
continues to be followed and is reflected closely in the 
remuneration policy.

The remuneration policy, which applies to executive directors 
and senior employees, will remain unchanged for 2010 and 
subsequent years. The aim, within the overall policy design of 
retention and motivation, is to pay basic salaries and award 
benefit packages which are reasonable and competitive 
within the asset management sector. In addition, the policy 
is designed, and will remain designed, to deliver additional 
rewards through appropriate incentive schemes, both annual 
and long term. These are directly linked to performance at 
both a corporate and an individual level. 

The committee recognises that any remuneration policy 
must be sufficiently flexible to take account of changes in 
the business environment. In accordance with this need 
for flexibility, the committee takes into account the overall 
competitiveness of the total remuneration packages of all 
senior executives. The committee has reviewed remuneration 
in light of the current conditions and remains satisfied that 
the current remuneration policy and framework support the 
achievement of the Company's long terms goals and will assist 
in the maximisation of long term shareholder value. When 
justified by performance, the ‘at risk’ performance elements 
will form the most significant element of total remuneration 
for executive directors and senior employees. The committee 
has considered the levels of remuneration paid throughout the 
Group, having regard to the advice of PricewaterhouseCoopers 
LLP and having also consulted with Roger Cornick and Martin 
Gilbert when considering the remuneration packages of the 
executive directors and senior employees. As a consequence 
of the current economic climate and the Group's overall 
performance and profitability, the committee has agreed that 
overall bonus awards should be significantly reduced, with 
that being awarded to executive directors being reduced by 
approximately 25%, while more generally, bonuses have been 
reduced on average by 21% from those paid in 2008.

Outlined below are the details of the individual reward 
components of the remuneration policy. In providing details, 
the report identifies those elements which are performance 
linked and the participation of the executive directors in them.

Executive remuneration
Executive remuneration comprises a number of elements:

i)  Basic salary
 The salaries of all employees, including executive 

directors, are reviewed annually and are determined by 
reference to external market research. The Group’s policy 
is to pay salaries which are market competitive in the 
asset management sector as this will enable the 
retention and recruitment of the key talent required to 
achieve the Group’s strategy. The Group participated in 
the McLagan Partners 2008 compensation survey and the 
Investment Management Reward Survey 2009 carried out 
by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. Both provided salary 
comparisons for a range of employees across the 
Aberdeen Group, including the executive directors. In 
addition, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP provided data and 
comment on the salaries and benefits packages for the 
executive directors and other senior employees. The 
committee also considered information included in other 
publicly available research and survey results. Having 
taken into consideration all relevant factors, the 
committee has taken the decision to maintain executive 
directors' salaries at the same level as last year.

ii)  Annual bonus
 The policy is to recognise corporate and individual 

achievements each year through an appropriate annual 
bonus scheme. The aggregate amount of bonus available 
in any year is dependent on the Group’s overall 
performance and profitability. Consideration will also be 
given to the levels of bonuses paid in the marketplace. 
Individual awards, payable to all members of staff and 
which are non-pensionable, are determined by a rigorous 
assessment of achievement against defined objectives, 
and are reviewed and approved by the committee. The 
bonus awarded in any year will be paid partly in cash 
with a further element to be settled by the award of the 
Company’s shares, which will vest in tranches over the 
following three year period. A significant proportion of 
the executive directors’ remuneration is expected to be 
paid by annual bonus, such awards to be based on the 
achievement of defined objectives. For the current year, 
all employees and executive directors eligible for an 
annual bonus will receive 20% of their awards in cash 
and 80% in deferred shares. The objectives may vary 
each year to ensure that they are linked to the principal 
objectives of the Group, but for 2009 the principal 
objectives selected by the committee for the executive 
directors, as with the previous year, focused on the 
integration of the businesses acquired during the year, 
management of costs and achievement of operating 
efficiencies and ensuring key client and staff retention. In 
addition, during the year the committee requested that  

REMUNERATION REPORT  CONTINUED
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 Martin Gilbert ensure the successful delivery of the 
Mitsubishi relationship; that Andrew Laing continue with 
oversight of the US operations and retain close control of 
the Property division; and that Bill Rattray continue to 
seek efficiencies in the capital structure of the Company.

 Martin Gilbert has been awarded a bonus of £1,453,125 
for meeting his defined objectives for the year which 
included those detailed above. £309,375 of this award will 
be paid in cash and £1,143,750 will be used to acquire a 
number of the Company’s shares which will vest in equal 
tranches in December 2010, 2011 and 2012. 

 Andrew Laing has been awarded a bonus of £220,000 for 
meeting his defined objectives for the year which 
included those detailed above. £60,000 of this award will 
be paid in cash and £160,000 will be used to acquire a 
number of the Company’s shares which will vest in equal 
tranches in December 2010, 2011 and 2012. 

 Bill Rattray has been awarded a bonus of £206,250 for 
meeting his defined objectives for the year which 
included those detailed above. £56,250 of this award will 
be paid in cash and £150,000 will be used to acquire a 
number of the Company’s shares which will vest in equal 
tranches in December 2010, 2011 and 2012. 

 In line with the Group’s remuneration policy of retaining 
flexibility, and in common with practice in the asset 
management sector, it has been decided to continue the 
policy of not imposing any maxima based on a 
relationship to basic salary.

iii)  Long Term Incentive Plan
 The Group operates a share based Long Term Incentive 

Plan (LTIP) which was approved and adopted by 
Shareholders on 24 March 2005. The LTIP is administered 
by an independent professional trustee based in the 
Channel Islands (the Trustee) which, when exercising its 
discretion, will have regard to the recommendations of 
the remuneration committee. After taking into account 
the recommendations of the committee, the Trustee will 
make awards under the LTIP to selected executive 
directors and other senior executives. 

 The LTIP encourages focus on the longer term 
performance of the Group against an appropriate group 
of comparator companies based on the increase in 
earnings per share over a three year period. Awards can 
be made in either of two forms: an LTIP Conditional 
Ownership Award or an LTIP Incentive Option. LTIP 
Conditional Ownership Awards will be made of a 
specified number of shares and take the form of the 
acquisition of shares by a participant on terms which 
mean that the ownership of the shares remains 
conditional during the relevant measurement period. 

 The participant will not obtain absolute ownership of any 
of the shares until the end of the measurement period 
and then only to the extent that the performance targets 
have been satisfied. Participants will be entitled to 
receive any dividends paid on the shares during the 
measurement period, even though the shares held will 
not have vested unconditionally. However, any 
overpayment of dividends arising on shares which do not 
subsequently vest will be recovered by deduction from 
annual bonus awards. 

 Similarly, LTIP Incentive Option awards will be made over 
a specified number of shares and, following the third 
anniversary of the date of grant, the participant will be 
told the extent to which the LTIP Incentive Option has 
vested. The total vested number of shares will then be 
split into three equal tranches, the first tranche being 
exercisable from the vesting date, the second tranche 
one year after vesting and the third tranche two years 
after vesting. 

 This deferral of the acquisition of vested shares will 
provide an additional incentive for the award holder and 
continue to link his interests with that of all other 
shareholders. LTIP Incentive Options must be exercised 
before the tenth anniversary of the grant date. 
Participants will not be entitled to receive dividends on 
LTIP Incentive Option shares until the LTIP Incentive 
Option has been exercised.

 vesting of shares over which an award has been made 
will be dependent upon the extent to which the 
performance target has been satisfied. The committee 
has reviewed the appropriateness of the existing criterion 
and has decided that there should be no changes for 
awards to be made in 2009 and 2010. The performance 
target which will determine the extent to which any LTIP 
award will vest requires the growth in earnings per share 
over the relevant measurement period to exceed the 
average movement in the stock markets in which the 
assets managed by the Group are invested. 

 This criterion has been chosen as being reflective of 
success in the asset management sector as it compares 
the Group’s performance to a dynamic and meaningful 
comparator. The committee will thereafter consider 
whether these targets remain appropriate and 
challenging and any amendments to these targets in 
respect of intended awards in later years will be disclosed 
in the Remuneration report for 2010.

a)  if earnings per share have increased over the 
measurement period by a percentage that is at least 
5% per annum greater than the average movement in 
the stock markets over the same period then 30% of 
the LTIP award will vest;
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b)  if earnings per share have increased over the 
measurement period by a percentage that is at least 
10% per annum greater than the average movement in 
the stock markets over the same period then 100% of 
the LTIP award will vest;

c)  growth in earnings per share that falls between these 
limits will result in a pro rated vesting of the LTIP award 
occurring between 30% and 100% depending upon 
the actual growth in earnings per share; 

d)  if growth in earnings per share over the measurement 
period is less than the lower limit set out in paragraph 
(a) above no part of the award made under the LTIP will 
vest, the award will lapse and the participant will cease 
to have any entitlement to any of the shares over 
which the award was originally made. 

 The movement in the stock markets will be measured by 
indices appropriate to the assets managed by the Group 
and shall be determined by the committee. The basket of 
indices currently identified as being representative of the 
assets managed by the Group include the FTSE All-Share, 
Russell 1000, FTSE Europe ex UK, FTSE Asia Pacific ex 
Japan, FTSE Japan, MSCI Emerging Markets, the FTSE-A 
British Government All Stocks, the Lehman US Aggregate 
Bond and IPD Pan European Property Index.

 For the purposes of calculating earnings per share for any 
period, adjustments will be made to the earnings per 
share figure disclosed in the audited financial statements 
to exclude the effects of (i) amortisation and impairment 
of intangible assets; (ii) impairment of goodwill; (iii) any 
charges arising from share options and LTIP awards; (iv) 
exceptional items, unless the committee consider this to 
be inappropriate; and (v) any other adjustments deemed 
reasonable and appropriate by the committee.

 To the extent that an LTIP Conditional Ownership Award 
has not vested, shares will be re-acquired from relevant 
participants by the Trustee for a nominal consideration of 
£1. LTIP Incentive Options that do not meet the 
performance criteria will lapse on the third anniversary of 
the date of the award. The committee remains satisfied 
that the performance condition is considered to be an 
appropriate measure of the Company's success within 
the asset management sector and is clearly linked to the 
focus on improving efficiency and profitability.

 In addition to the performance condition summarised 
above, the Plan rules state that no award will vest unless, 
in the opinion of the committee, the underlying financial 
performance of the Company has been satisfactory over 
the relevant measurement period. The length of the 
measurement period for any award will be three years. 

 The life of the LTIP will be ten years and no awards may 
therefore be made after 24 March 2015. LTIP awards over 
ordinary shares are designed to incentivise senior 
executives in a manner which is consistent with the 
creation of value for shareholders. 

 On 16 December 2008, a total of 4,033,400 shares 
issued in 2005, under the LTIP Conditional Ownership 
Award vested fully into the names of the individual 
directors and employees at a price of 96.75p per share. 
The weighted average growth in the relevant market 
indices over the measurement period from 1 October 
2005 to 30 September 2008 was 35.6%. As described 
above, in order to achieve full vesting, the Company was 
required to grow its underlying earnings per share by 
65.6% over the same period. The actual growth in the 
Company's underlying EPS over the same period was 
268.4%. In light of this growth, the committee confirmed 
that, in their opinion, the underlying financial 
performance of the Company has been satisfactory and 
therefore full vesting of the awards was permitted.

 As at the date of this Report, LTIP Conditional Ownership 
Awards have been made in respect of 2,031,841 ordinary 
shares which have not yet vested, equating to 
approximately 0.2% of the current issued share capital. 
Included within this total are awards over 1,108,305 
ordinary shares on which the performance criterion has 
not been met and will lapse in accordance with the rules. 
Details of the awards which have been made to directors 
of the Company under the LTIP are shown on page 50.  
As at the date of this Report, LTIP Incentive Options have 
been made in respect of 18,100,000 ordinary shares, 
which have not yet vested. This equates to approximately 
1.8% of the current issued share capital.
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 It remains the committee’s intention not to recommend 
awards to any one individual in excess of 100% of  
annual salary in any one year except in exceptional 
circumstances, for example to aid recruitment or 
retention of staff. However, as reported above, an 
element of annual bonus is also awarded in the form  
of shares with deferred vesting conditions.

iv)  Private medical cover
 Private health care is offered to all executive directors 

and employees who also have the option to cover their 
partners and unmarried dependent children.

v)  Pension
 Executives, including executive directors, are entitled to 

membership of the Group’s defined contribution pension 
arrangements. The employer’s contribution to this 
scheme on behalf of all permanent employees, including 
executive directors, is 20% of basic salary.

 In light of changes to pensions legislation introduced in 
the UK from 6 April 2006, certain of the Group’s UK 
employees have elected for employer contributions to 
the scheme to cease. In these cases, the committee has 
approved additional cash payments to be made as an 
addition to basic salary, such that the overall cost to the 
Group is no greater than the pension contribution which 
would otherwise have been made. Any similar requests 
which may be made by employees in future will be 
treated in the same manner. No such request will arise in 
respect of the Group’s legacy defined benefit schemes, all 
of which are closed to future accrual.

vi)  Life assurance
 All permanent employees (including executive directors) 

are included in the Group life assurance scheme which 
provides death in service benefits, currently amounting 
to seven times their basic annual salary.

vii)  Executive share option scheme
 The Group has an executive share option scheme which 

is approved by the Inland Revenue and was approved by 
shareholders prior to its introduction. An unapproved 
schedule was added to this scheme in 1999 to permit 
options to be granted within institutional guidelines but 
in excess of the reduced limits on approved options 
imposed by the Government. In March 2004 the scheme 
reached the end of the ten year period during which the 
grant of options was permitted. Options were granted at 
the discretion of the committee, for no consideration, 
and were based on assessments of the individuals’ 
expected contribution to future Company performance. 
All options outstanding are now capable of being 
exercised, all having met their performance criteria: that 
earnings per share, before amortisation and impairment 
of intangible assets, impairment of goodwill and 
exceptional items increased over the period of three 
years from the date of grant, by 5% per annum in excess 
of the average growth in the stock markets in which the 
Group’s AuM were invested. At the date of this Report, 
awards of options over 4,251,200 ordinary shares remain 
in issue (see note 24). Details of share options held by 
the executive directors are shown on page 50.

 The committee intends to recommend further LTIP Conditional Ownership Awards over 177,831 shares to the executive 
directors, which equates to approximately 0.02% of the current issued share capital. The proposed awards to the executive 
directors are as follows:

 

LTIP Conditional Ownership 
Number of shares

Martin Gilbert 67,022

Andrew Laing 57,192

Bill Rattray 53,617
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Total shareholder return
The Regulations require the inclusion of a graph which 
illustrates the total shareholder return for a holding in the 
Company’s shares against a broad equity market index. 
The FTSE All-Share Index has been used on the basis that it 
includes all UK listed stocks, including the Company’s ordinary 
shares. The graphs below also include as a comparator the 
FTSE All-Share General Financial Index. The Board considers 
this to be an appropriate index against which to measure 
performance because it includes all other UK listed financial 
stocks and therefore represents the closest comparator for 
benchmark purposes. Both of these indices are calculated on a 
total return basis, ie assuming reinvestment of dividends.

The Regulations require this information to be provided for 
the five year period to 30 September 2009. The Board has 
decided to include an additional graph showing equivalent 
information for a three year period, consistent with the period 
over which the vesting of long-term incentives is measured.

Service contracts
The executive directors have current service contracts, details 
of which are summarised below. Executive directors are 
permitted to accept a limited number of directorships outwith 
the Group, recognising that this can assist in the development 
of a director’s knowledge and capabilities. All such 
appointments are approved in advance by the Board. Where 
the appointment is accepted in furtherance of the Group’s 
business any fees received are remitted to the Company. If 
the appointment is not connected to the Group’s business, 
the director is entitled to retain any fees received. The Group 
earned fees of £117,000 for Martin Gilbert’s services as a non-
executive director of several companies. Martin Gilbert earned 
and retained fees of £186,300 for acting as chairman of 
FirstGroup plc. The Board has a policy which requires executive 
directors to acquire and retain a beneficial shareholding in 
the Company equivalent to 100% of salary, to be acquired 
over a period of no more than five years. The holdings of the 
executive directors comfortably exceed this requirement.

Name Date of contract Notice period Unexpired term
Provision of compensation  

for loss of officeC

M J Gilbert 30 August 1996A twelve/six monthsB Rolling twelve/six months One year's gross remuneration

A A Laing 30 August 1996A twelve/six monthsB Rolling twelve/six months One year's gross remuneration

W J Rattray 30 August 1996A twelve/six monthsB Rolling twelve/six months One year's gross remuneration

A Amended by Deed of variation dated 30 November 2001.
B Twelve months’ notice given by the Company or six months’ notice given by the director.
C If the Company decides to terminate the director’s appointment without giving the required period of notice then the director is entitled to be paid 
one year’s remuneration, which will include the value of all benefits including any bonus to which the director would otherwise have been entitled. 
The directors’ contracts also provide for termination on three months’ notice if, in the opinion of the Board and having given the director adequate 
opportunity to improve, the director has failed to perform at a satisfactory standard. In such a case, the directors’ contracts do not provide for any 
liquidated damages to be paid.

REMUNERATION REPORT  CONTINUED

Five year total shareholder return  
(dividends reinvested) to 30 September 2009

-50

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

Sep 09Sep 08Sep 07Sep 06Sep 05Sep 04

FTSE All-Share (total return)
FTSE All-Share General Financial (total return)
Aberdeen Asset Management

%

Three year total shareholder return  
(dividends reinvested) to 30 September 2009

-60

-50

-40

-30

-20

-10

0

10

20

30

40

Sep 09Sep 08Sep 07Sep 06

%



Aberdeen Asset Management PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2009       47  

Non-executive directors
The remuneration of non-executive directors is determined by 
the Board. Non-executive directors are engaged under letters 
of appointment and they do not have contracts of service. 
The letters of appointment are available for inspection at the 
Company’s registered office during normal business hours and 
are available on the Company’s website. The appointment will 
normally terminate on:

i)  a director choosing to resign voluntarily; or

ii)  a director being prohibited from serving by law, 
bankruptcy or illness; or

iii)  the third, sixth or ninth anniversaries of his/her 
appointment if the nominations committee does not 
approve the extension of his/her appointment; or 

iv)  a director being found guilty of misconduct; or

v)  a director not being re-elected by the shareholders 
following retirement by rotation at an Annual General 
Meeting.

The non-executive directors do not participate in the annual 
bonus scheme or the Long Term Incentive Plan. The chairman, 
who also chairs the nominations committee, receives a fee of 
£150,000 per annum.

Fees are paid to the other non-executive directors at the 
following annual rates:

For services as a director £39,000

For services as senior independent director £5,000

For chairmanship of audit committee £15,000

For membership of audit committee £5,500

For chairmanship of remuneration committee £11,000

For membership of remuneration committee £5,500
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Directors’ emoluments (audited information)

2009

Salary  
& fees 
 £'000

Bonus 
payments

£'000

Other  
benefits 

 £'000

Total 
 before pensions 

 £'000

Pension 
 costs 
 £'000

Total 
£'000

ExECUTIvE

M J Gilbert  400 1,453 72 1,925  – 1,925

A A Laing  250 220 2  472  50  522 

W J Rattray  250 206 1  457  50 507

 900 1,879  75 2,854  100 2,954

NON-ExECUTIvE

R C Cornick  115  –   –  115  –   115

D H Waters 59  –   –  59  –   59

Sir M Rifkind 50  –   –  50  –   50

C G H Weaver 50  –   –  50  –   50

A M Frew 50  –   –  50  –  50

C L A Irby 50  –   –  50  –  50 

S R v Troughton 7 – – 7 – 7

G W Fusenig – – – – – –

K Miyanaga – – – – – –

 381  –   –   381  –   381 

 1,281 1,879  75 3,235  100 3,335

Proposed LTIP awards to executive directors are set out on page 45.

Martin Gilbert elected for employer contributions to the Group’s defined contribution pension arrangement on his behalf to cease 
and as a consequence, he has received an additional cash payment of £70,000 for the year to 30 September 2009 (2008: £70,000). 
This amount is included within ‘Other benefits’ in the tables above. Full details are contained in note v) Pension on page 45. 
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2008

Salary  
& fees 
 £'000

Bonus  
payments

£'000

Other 
 benefits 

 £'000

Total  
before pensions 

£'000

Pension 
 costs  
£'000

Total 
£'000

ExECUTIvE

M J Gilbert  400  1,938   71  2,409  –   2,409 

A A Laing  250  275   1   526  50  576 

W J Rattray  250  275  1   526  50  576 

 900  2,488   73  3,461  100  3,561 

NON-ExECUTIvE

R C Cornick  43  –   –   43  –   43 

D H Waters  58  –   –   58  –   58 

Sir M Rifkind  49  –   –   49  –   49 

C G H Weaver  49  –   –   49  –   49 

A M Frew  47  –   –   47  –   47 

C L A Irby  146  –   –   146  –   146 

S R v Troughton – – – – – –

G W Fusenig – – – – – –

K Miyanaga – – – – – –

 392  –   –   392  –   392 

 1,292 2,488  73  3,853  100  3,953 

Directors' interests in shares arising from deferred element of annual bonus awards (audited information)

Interest at 
1 October 

2008

Awarded  
during 

the year
vested  
in year

Issue  
price

Interest at  
30 September  

2009
vesting  

date

M J Gilbert 769,344 – – 170.6p 769,344 Dec 2009

799,331 – – 164.2p 799,331 Dec 2010

– 1,811,166 – 84.2p 1,811,166 Dec 2009, 2010 and 2011A  

A A Laing 80,598 – – 170.6p 80,598 Dec 2009

83,740 – – 164.2p 83,740 Dec 2010

– 237,531 – 84.2p 237,531 Dec 2009, 2010 and 2011A

W J Rattray 80,598 – – 170.6p 80,598 Dec 2009

83,740 – – 164.2p 83,740 Dec 2010

– 237,531 – 84.2p 237,531 Dec 2009, 2010 and 2011A

A Awards will vest in three equal tranches in December 2009, December 2010 and December 2011.

These interests represent ordinary shares which will vest on the dates stated. The value of the awards at the award date are 
included in the table of directors' emoluments for the relevant year.
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Directors’ interests in share options (audited information)

Date of grant 2008
Exercised  

during year  2009
Exercise

price
Earliest  

exercise
Latest  

exercise
Status of 

performance

M J Gilbert 8.12.99  240,000 –   240,000 185.0p Dec 2004 Dec 2009 Achieved

23.01.04  413,000  –   413,000 59.0p Jan 2007 Jan 2014 Achieved

  653,000  –   653,000  

A A Laing 8.12.99  200,000  –   200,000 185.0p Dec 2004 Dec 2009 Achieved

11.6.03  89,000  –   89,000 42.0p Jun 2006 Jun 2013 Achieved

23.01.04  89,000  –   89,000 59.0p Jan 2007 Jan 2014 Achieved

 378,000  –   378,000  

W J Rattray 8.12.99  100,000  –   100,000 185.0p Dec 2004 Dec 2009 Achieved

23.01.04  144,000  –   144,000 59.0p Jan 2007 Jan 2014 Achieved

 244,000  –   244,000 

The middle market price of the Company's ordinary shares at 30 September 2009 was 150.0p and the range during the year 
was 80.0p and 150.0p.

Directors' interests in Long Term Incentive Plan (audited information)

Held at 
1 October 2008

Awarded  
during 

the year
vested  
in year

Issue  
price

Held at  
30 September  

2009
vesting  

date

Partial settlement 
of share awards  

in year

M J Gilbert 925,000 –  (925,000) 135.0p – Dec 2008 –

73,271A – – 170.6p 73,271 Dec 2009 £4,250

76,127 – – 164.2p 76,127 Dec 2010 £4,415

– 148,456 – 84.2p 148,456 Dec 2011 £8,610

A A Laing 94,000 –  (94,000) 135.0p – Dec 2008 –

58,617A – – 170.6p 58,617 Dec 2009 £3,400

60,902  – – 164.2p 60,902 Dec 2010 £3,532

– 118,765 – 84.2p 118,765 Dec 2011 £6,888

W J Rattray 82,000 –  (82,000) 135.0p – Dec 2008 –

58,617A – – 170.6p 58,617 Dec 2009 £3,400

60,902 – – 164.2p 60,902 Dec 2010 £3,532

– 118,765 – 84.2p 118,765 Dec 2011 £6,888

A These shares will lapse as a consequence of not having met their performance criterion.

The Remuneration report was approved by the Board of directors on 9 December 2009 and signed on its behalf by:

Sir Malcolm Rifkind
Non-executive director
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Corporate governance report

Throughout the year ended 30 September 2009, the Company 
has been in compliance with the code provisions set out 
in section 1 of the 2006 Combined Code on Corporate 
Governance (the Code). This report describes Aberdeen’s 
corporate governance arrangements, explaining how we have 
applied the principles of the Code.

The Board
The Board currently comprises the chairman, seven non-
executive directors and three executive directors. Roger 
Cornick was appointed chairman having previously served 
as an independent non-executive director, following the 
retirement of Charles Irby at the conclusion of the Annual 
General Meeting on 22 January 2009. Simon Troughton was 
appointed to the Board on 29 July 2009; Gerhard Fusenig was 
appointed on 8 October 2009; and Kenichi Miyanaga was 
appointed on 26 November 2009. All other members of the 
Board served throughout the year. The roles of the chairman 
and chief executive are separate, clearly defined and have 
been approved by the Board. The chairman, Roger Cornick, 
is responsible for the effective conduct of the Board and for 
shareholder relations, while the chief executive, Martin Gilbert, 
is responsible for the day to day management of the Group. 
Donald Waters continues as the senior independent director.

In considering director independence, the Board has taken 
into consideration the guidance provided by the Code. The 
chairman, as advised above, was appointed on 22 January 
2009, and the Board has also had regard to the fact that a 
further three directors will have served nine years by the time 
of the 2010 Annual General Meeting, including the chairmen 
of the audit and remuneration committees. 

The Board has been strengthened during the year by 
the appointment of Simon Troughton, an independent 
non-executive and, subsequent to the year end, by two 
representatives of our largest shareholders. The Board has 
considered the situation very carefully and has decided that it 
is not in the best interests of the Company, or its shareholders, 
to lose a total of four directors during 2009, three of whom 
chaired each of the board committees, and has decided to 
make an orderly change to its directorate. We have a new 
Board chairman in place, who also chairs the nominations 
committee and we will announce shortly the appointment to 
the Board of a new independent non-executive director who 
will become chairman of the audit committee and who will 
shadow Donald Waters until the conclusion of the 2010 audit, 
after which Donald will retire from the Board.

The chairman of the remuneration committee, Sir Malcolm 
Rifkind, has been asked, and has agreed, to remain on the 
Board for the present time and we anticipate appointing 
a new chairman of the remuneration committee over 
the course of the next reporting period. Giles Weaver, 
a long serving member of both the audit committee 
and the remuneration committee, has also been asked, 
and has agreed, to remain on the Board for the present 
time in order to provide additional continuity on each 
of the committees on which he currently serves. 

The Board would thereafter expect to make further 
appointments at appropriate intervals in future years 
so as to continue to provide an appropriate balance 
between independent, executive and representative 
board members, and to reduce the risk in future of board 
members leaving simultaneously. As in previous years, 
the Board has conducted an internal evaluation of its 
effectiveness but intends to conduct an external evaluation 
during the year to 30 September 2010. In reviewing 
the Code, the Board considers that, save for Messrs 
Fusenig and Miyanaga, the non-executive directors are all 
independent, notwithstanding that three of their number 
will have served in excess of nine years on the Board. 

Giles Weaver joined the Board following the acquisition 
of the Murray Johnstone Group (MJ) in November 2000. 
Mr Weaver was formerly an executive director of MJ until 
December 1999, following which he became chairman of 
MJ until its acquisition. In addition, Mr Weaver is a member 
of the Murray Johnstone Limited Retirement Benefits Plan. 
On a literal interpretation of the guidance in the Code, he 
was never an executive of Aberdeen nor of any subsidiary 
while it has been a member of the Aberdeen Group but, in 
seeking to apply the spirit as well as the letter of the Code, 
the Board chose not to regard Giles Weaver as independent 
until 2004. A full nine years having now passed since his 
appointment, and taking into consideration his independence 
of character and judgement, the Board reiterates its view 
that Giles Weaver is an independent non-executive director. 
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Donald Waters continues to chair the audit committee 
effectively and to act as a member of the Board with a high 
degree of independence of character and judgement and the 
Board is content to record its opinion that Donald Waters 
remains an independent director. Likewise, Sir Malcolm Rifkind 
continues to chair the remuneration committee effectively 
and also to act as a member of the Board with a high 
degree of independence of character and judgement and the 
Board is also content to record its opinion that Sir Malcolm 
remains an independent director. Prior to the appointment 
of Messrs Fusenig and Miyanaga, representing two of our 
major shareholders, the Board confirms that it has authorised 
any conflict or potential conflict in accordance with the 
Company's existing procedures and has put in place a set of 
specific guidelines since their appointments to address any 
potential conflicts that may arise in the future.

Biographical details of directors can be found on pages  
34 to 36.

The Board met eight times during the year to review financial 
performance and strategy and to follow a formal schedule of 
matters reserved for its decision, which includes the setting 
of Company goals, objectives, budgets and other plans. 
Comprehensive board papers, comprising an agenda and 
formal reports and briefing papers, are sent to directors in 
advance of each meeting. Throughout their period in office 
directors are continually updated, by means of written and 
verbal reports from senior executives and external advisers, 
on the Group’s business and the competitive and regulatory 
environments in which it operates, as well as on legal, 
environmental, social, governance and other relevant matters.

In addition to its formal business, the Board received a number 
of briefings and presentations from senior executives, local 
management and external advisers during the year covering 
a wide range of topics across the range of the Group’s 
business. The Board also has a policy of making periodic visits 
to the Group’s key overseas offices in order to meet local 
management and clients and to obtain an understanding 
of the local business environment. The Board visited the 
Copenhagen and Singapore offices during the year.

All directors have access to independent professional 
advice, if required, at the Company’s expense as well as 
to the advice and services of the company secretary. New 
directors appointed to the board receive a full, formal and 
tailored induction, which includes meetings with relevant 
members of senior management, in order to help them gain 
a detailed understanding of the Group and its activities. 

The company secretary, under the direction of the chairman, 
is responsible for facilitating this induction programme, 
ensuring good information flow between the Board, its 
committees and management and assisting with directors’ 
continuing professional development needs. Directors 
are also advised, at the time of their appointment, of the 
legal and other duties and obligations arising from the 
role of director of a listed company and are reminded 
of these duties and obligations on a regular basis. 

Directors appointed during the year are required to seek 
election at the first Annual General Meeting following their 
appointment and all directors have submitted themselves for 
re-election by shareholders at intervals of no more than three 
years. Details of the attendance of individual directors are 
shown in the table below.

Maximum possible  
attendance

Meetings  
attended

Charles Irby 3 3

Donald Waters 8 8

Roger Cornick 8 8

Anita Frew 8 7

Sir Malcolm Rifkind 8 8

Giles Weaver 8 8

Martin Gilbert 8 8

Bill Rattray 8 8

Andrew Laing 8 8

Simon Troughton 1 1

Performance evaluation
The Board has established a formal process, led by the 
chairman, for the annual evaluation of the performance of  
the board, its appointed committees and each director, to 
ensure that they continue to act effectively and efficiently  
and to fulfil their respective duties, and to identify any 
training requirements. 

A tailored questionnaire, taking into account developments 
over the year and including specific references to the 
objectives of the Board and its committees, was completed 
by each director. The responses were analysed and the results 
were subsequently discussed at meetings of the committees 
and of the Board, as well as in individual discussions between 
the chairman and each director. Additionally, the non-
executive directors held a meeting without the executive 
directors present at which executive directors’ performance 
was discussed. 

CORPORATE GOvERNANCE REPORT  CONTINUED
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The non-executive directors also met without the chairman 
present to discuss the results of the evaluation of the 
chairman’s performance, having taken into consideration 
the views of the executive directors, and the results of this 
meeting were subsequently discussed between the senior 
non-executive director and the chairman. 

Board committees
The Board has appointed the following committees to assist 
in the execution of its duties. All of these committees operate 
on written terms of reference, which are reviewed annually 
and which are available on the Company’s website, and the 
chairman of each committee reports to each meeting of the 
Board. Each of the committees is authorised to obtain, at the 
Company’s expense, external legal or other professional advice 
to assist in carrying out its duties. Only the members of each 
committee are entitled to attend its meetings but others, such 
as senior management and external advisers, may be invited 
to attend as appropriate. 

Current membership of the committees is shown in the 
directors’ biographies on pages 34 to 36. The composition 
of these committees is reviewed annually, taking into 
consideration the recommendations of the  
nominations committee.

Nominations committee 
The nominations committee is chaired by Roger Cornick and 
he is supported by two independent non-executive directors, 
Sir Malcolm Rifkind and Donald Waters. Roger Cornick was 
appointed as chairman of the committee following his 
appointment as chairman of the Board on 22 January 2009. 
Both Sir Malcolm and Donald served on the committee 
throughout the year.

The committee is responsible for reviewing the structure, size 
and composition of the Board and for recommending new 
members for appointment to the Board. The Board as a whole 
has responsibility for the appointment of new directors and 
for nominating them for election by shareholders at the first 
opportunity following their appointment. The committee is 
also responsible for giving due consideration to succession 
planning for the Board and other senior executives and for 
making recommendations to the Board.

During the year the committee reviewed the proposals for 
rotation and re-election of directors at the Annual General 
Meeting; considered and made recommendations to the Board 
for the appointment of a new chairman and new members 
of the Board; discussed the results of the annual performance 
evaluation exercise and noted the satisfactory operations  
of the committee; and reviewed its terms of reference.  

The committee met on a number of occasions during the year 
including three formal meetings and details of the attendance 
of individual members are shown in the table below.

Maximum possible 
attendance

Meetings  
attended

Charles Irby 1 1

Roger Cornick 2 2

Donald Waters 3 3

Sir Malcolm Rifkind 3 3

Audit committee 
The audit committee is chaired by Donald Waters and he 
is supported by two independent non-executive directors, 
Anita Frew and Giles Weaver. All served on the committee 
throughout the year. The Board is satisfied that all of the 
committee’s members have recent and relevant commercial 
and financial knowledge and experience to satisfy the 
provisions of the Code, by virtue of their having held various 
executive and non-executive roles in investment management 
and business management. Additionally, Donald Waters and 
Giles Weaver are both chartered accountants.

The committee’s role is to assist the board in discharging its 
duties and responsibilities for financial reporting, internal 
control and risk management, and the appointment 
and remuneration of independent external auditors. The 
committee is also responsible for reviewing the scope 
and results of audit work and its cost effectiveness and 
the independence and objectivity of the auditors. In 
order to safeguard the objectivity and independence 
of the auditors, the committee has approved a 
comprehensive policy to regulate the provision of non-
audit services by the Group’s external auditors. 

The policy provides details of the types of service which 
are and are not permitted and those which require the 
explicit prior approval of the committee. Permitted non-
audit services include: the provision of tax compliance 
services; the provision of certain recruitment services; 
and acting as reporting accountant in appropriate 
circumstances, provided there is no element of valuation 
work involved. The provision of tax advisory services, due 
diligence/transaction services and litigation services may 
be permitted with the committee’s prior approval. The 
provision of internal audit services, valuation work and 
any other activity that may give rise to any possibility of 
self-review are not permitted under any circumstance. 
The committee also has responsibility for reviewing the 
Company’s arrangements on whistle blowing, ensuring 
that appropriate arrangements are in place for employees 
to be able to raise, in confidence, matters of possible 
impropriety, with suitable subsequent follow-up action.
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During the year the committee discharged its responsibilities, 
under its terms of reference, by: 

a) reviewing the Group’s draft 2008 financial statements 
and 2009 interim results statement prior to discussion 
and approval by the Board and reviewing the external 
auditor’s detailed reports thereon;

b) reviewing the continuing appropriateness of the Group's 
accounting policies;

c) reviewing the external auditor’s plan for the audit of the 
Group’s 2009 financial statements, receiving and 
reviewing confirmations of auditor independence and 
approving the terms of engagement and proposed fees 
for the 2009 audit;

d) making recommendations to the board for a resolution 
to be put to shareholders to approve the re-appointment 
of the external auditors; 

e) reviewing management’s annual report on the Group’s 
system of internal control and its effectiveness, reporting 
to the Board on the results of this review and receiving 
regular updates on key risks and controls;

f) reviewing the internal audit department terms of 
reference, its work programme and regular reports on its 
work during the year;

g) receiving reports from the chairman of the Group risk 
management committee;

h) reviewing the committee’s terms of reference, carrying 
out an annual performance evaluation exercise and 
noting the satisfactory operation of the committee.

Subsequent to the year end the Company carried out a review 
of its corporate governance arrangements. The Board agreed 
that it would be in the shareholders' and the Company's best 
interests if a separate risk committee was established to review 
and monitor all aspects of the Company's risks. This committee 
will be chaired by a non-executive director and will operate 
under formal terms of reference approved by the Board. It is 
expected that this committee will commence in early 2010.

The committee receives regular reports from the Group’s 
external and internal auditors and can, and does, request 
supplementary reports from management to enable it to  
fulfil its duties under its terms of reference. The committee 
met four times during the year, with representatives of  
senior management and KPMG Audit Plc in attendance  
at each meeting. 

Details of the attendance of the individual members of the 
committee during the year are shown in the table below.

Maximum possible 
attendance

Meetings 
 attended

Donald Waters 4 4

Anita Frew 4 4

Giles Weaver 4 4

Remuneration committee 
The remuneration committee is chaired by Sir Malcolm 
Rifkind, and he is supported by three independent non-
executive directors, Anita Frew, Simon Troughton and Giles 
Weaver. Simon Troughton was appointed to the committee 
during the year and replaced Roger Cornick following his 
appointment as chairman of the Board. 

The role of the committee is to monitor, review and make 
recommendations to the Board on the Group’s remuneration 
policy, as set out in the Report on pages 41 to 50, and to make 
recommendations to the board on the remuneration packages 
of the executive directors and other senior employees of the 
Group. The committee is also responsible for approving the 
design of all share incentive plans and for recommending their 
approval by the Board and by shareholders. The remuneration 
committee held nine formal meetings during the year and 
details of the attendance of the individual members of the 
committee are shown in the table below. In addition, and in 
accordance with the requirements of its terms of reference, 
the members of the committee were also consulted on a 
range of issues during the year, including specific matters 
related to both recruitment and redundancy. 

Maximum possible 
attendance

Meetings 
 attended

Sir Malcolm Rifkind 9 9

Roger Cornick 8 8

Anita Frew 9 9

Giles Weaver 9 9

Simon Troughton 1 1

Management board 
The operational management of the Group is delegated by 
the Board to the management board which comprises the 
executive directors and other heads of department. Brief 
biographies of its members are provided on page 37. The 
management board meets three times each month, has 
specific terms of reference which have been approved by  
the Board and has responsibility for implementing the  
Board’s strategy. 

CORPORATE GOvERNANCE REPORT  CONTINUED
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Relationships with shareholders
The Company places great importance on communication 
with investors and aims to keep shareholders informed 
by means of regular communication with institutional 
shareholders, analysts and the financial press throughout the 
year. Annual and interim reports and interim management 
statements are widely distributed to other parties who 
may have an interest in the Group’s performance and these 
documents are also made available on the Company’s website. 
The chief executive and finance director make regular reports 
to the Board on investor relations and on specific discussions 
with major shareholders and the Board receives copies of 
all research published on the Company. Private investors are 
encouraged to attend the Annual General Meeting at which 
they have an opportunity to ask questions. 

The Annual General Meeting is normally attended by all 
directors, and the chairmen of the audit, nominations 
and remuneration committees are all available to answer 
questions. The senior independent director is always available 
to shareholders if they have concerns which contact 
through the normal channels of chairman, chief executive 
or finance director has failed to resolve or for which such 
contact is inappropriate. The Company continues to offer 
major shareholders the opportunity to meet any or all of 
the chairman, the senior independent director and any new 
directors. The Group will continue its policy of announcing 
the number of proxy votes cast on resolutions at the Annual 
General Meeting and any other general meetings.

Internal control
The Board recognises the importance of a robust risk 
management solution to safeguard company and client assets, 
protect the interests of shareholders and stakeholders and 
meet its responsibilities as a UK listed and regulated fund 
management company. 

Consequently, Board members, together with management, 
have taken steps to build and continually improve an effective 
risk management framework that includes a sound system of 
internal controls. Responsibility lies with the risk management 
committee for embedding the framework within the business 
and providing assurance to the Board that risks and issues are 
adequately monitored and managed. The Board is ultimately 
responsible for the Group’s system of internal controls and 
the ongoing management of significant matters (see also 
Audit Committee above). 

The internal controls are designed to cover all risks that might 
impede its achievement as an asset management group 
including all business, operational, reputational, financial and 
regulatory compliance risks. The internal controls are designed 
to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to meet 
the business objectives and to provide reasonable, but not 
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss. 

The system of internal controls is embedded within the day 
to day operations of the Group and is inherent to the Group’s 
culture which emphasises clear management responsibility 
and accountabilities. 

The risk management committee, operating under terms 
of reference approved by the Board, drives the process of 
reporting and managing critical risks, issues and high priority 
projects. It serves to reconcile the key risks and issues being 
identified by management with those identified by the 
Group’s monitoring functions. Additionally, the committee 
monitors the Group’s capital requirements as part of the 
internal capital adequacy assessment process and in line 
with regulatory expectations. Membership of the committee 
comprises executive directors, senior management and the 
heads of departments that fall within the risk division

The primary monitoring functions sit within the Group’s risk 
division and comprise the compliance, legal, internal audit, 
business risk and investment risk departments. Compliance 
ensures effective controls are implemented and regularly 
reviewed in adherence to regulatory requirements in each 
jurisdiction in which the Group operates, while legal is 
responsible for ensuring that the Group complies with 
statutory requirements globally. Internal audit reviews the 
effectiveness of all controls, either by reviewing the methods 
and findings of the other independent monitoring functions, 
or by directly auditing the controls operated by management. 
Business risk is responsible for the oversight and management 
of operational and counterparty risk, the latter being 
particularly focused on derivative markets and instruments, 
thus reflecting the increasing size and complexity of the 
Group. Independent oversight of the risks within the strategies 
employed by the various investment teams is provided by 
investment risk. The heads of these functions each report 
to the group head of risk who, in turn, reports to the chief 
executive and also attends and reports at meetings of the 
Board. The head of internal audit, however, primarily reports 
to the audit committee and has unrestricted access to the 
chairman of the audit committee. 

A summary of significant risks, key internal controls and 
findings arising from the risk management framework and 
the work of the monitoring functions is reported annually in a 
formal risk control report to the Board. Identifying, evaluating 
and managing the Group’s significant risks is an ongoing 
process which is regularly reviewed by the Board and has been 
in place throughout the year to 30 September 2009 and up to 
the date of approval of these financial statements.
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Corporate responsibility
As part of the Group’s corporate responsibility (CR), the 
Board takes account of the significance of environmental, 
social and governance (ESG) matters that are of importance 
to the Group. Primary responsibility for these matters rests 
with Andrew Laing, the deputy chief executive, however 
reporting to the Board will come from a number of sources 
including the Group risk division via the Group’s automated 
risk management framework. The Board has identified and 
assessed the significant ESG risks to the Group’s short and 
long-term value, as well as the opportunities to enhance value 
that may arise from an appropriate response. 

The Board confirms that it has received adequate information 
to make this assessment and that account is taken of the ESG 
matters in the induction and training of directors. The Board is 
of the opinion that the Group has in place effective systems 
for managing and mitigating significant risks which, where 
relevant, incorporate performance management systems and 
appropriate remuneration incentives. 

As previously stated, the most important ESG matters of 
relevance to the Group are employee retention and client 
relationships. On both of these issues, the Board has received 
specific reports from the executive identifying the risks 
and the issues and have taken steps to ensure that they 
are managed in an appropriate manner. In addition, it is 
recognised that the Group’s activities do have an impact 
on the environment and in using the results of our recent 
environmental audit, the Group remains committed to 
minimising waste and using energy efficiently, thus aiming 
to reduce the negative impact of our operations on the 
environment. Full details are available on the Group’s website.

The Group believes that the principles of transparency, 
fairness, accountability and integrity are fundamental to 
the Group’s operations. Under the guidance of the CR 
committee, the Group has established five sub-committees 
focusing on employees, health and safety, environment 
management, suppliers and social and community activities. 
Each sub-committee comprises representatives from different 
divisions and regions. These sub committees are charged with 
promoting their specialist interests and to report on such 
to the board of directors, via the CR committee. During the 
year, the Group made strides in its CR programme, including 
initiating an environmental management system for the 
Company's UK offices and developing a corporate social 
responsibility website for the Group’s worldwide business. 
Further details are available on the Group’s website and on 
the new CR website, at www.aberdeen-asset.com/csr.

voting
The Group invests for its clients' portfolios in companies 
globally and actively targets those companies with sound 
corporate governance practices as investments. The Group 
is committed to exercising responsible ownership with 
a conviction that companies adopting best practices in 
corporate governance will be more successful in their core 
activities and deliver enhanced returns to shareholders. 
The Group also provides socially responsible investment 
services to meet the demand from clients who want 
their investments to reflect an ethical bias. During the 
year under review, the Group engaged in dialogue with in 
excess of 80 companies to improve our understanding of 
their ESG issues. The Group has codified and published its 
policy on corporate governance in relation to companies 
in which it has invested or is considering investing and on 
voting at shareholder meetings of investee companies. 
Full details are available on the Group website.

Employees
The Group has over 1,850 employees worldwide (1,893 
in 2008) and recognises that their involvement is key to 
the future success of the business. The practice of keeping 
employees informed on all matters of concern to them, via 
email and the Group’s internal noticeboard, and ensuring that 
all publicly announced documents are circulated internally 
to all employees, continues. The Group is also committed to 
following good practice in employment matters, recognising 
the part this plays in attracting and retaining staff. 

Employees work hard for the stakeholders and there is a 
remuneration strategy that recognises both corporate and 
individual performance, further details of which are contained 
in the Remuneration report on pages 41 to 50. Overall, the 
Group expects staff to learn about the business, its systems 
and processes, so as to develop their skills and knowledge. 
One of the Group’s values is a focus on teamwork. We are 
committed to hiring and motivating the most talented people 
we can find.
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The Group operates an integrated management development 
programme to develop the key competencies needed in 
the business and has a challenging graduate development 
programme, which provides the business with a skills and 
talent pipeline. There are currently 12 graduates on the 
graduate development programme, six of whom started 
in October 2009. The graduate development programme 
provides the opportunity to maximise the individual's 
experiences in the company, whilst enhancing their skills and 
knowledge. Through various rotations around the Group, the 
programme aims to give individuals a well-rounded view of 
the asset management industry and its related functions. 
Graduates gain experience in a number of departments, 
including performance, internal audit, group marketing, 
product development, fixed income, equities and property.  
A placement typically lasts three to four months, and gives 
the graduate an excellent opportunity to understand the 
function of each department and to add significant value.

The Group promotes the importance of high ethical standards 
to all employees and staff have the opportunity to voice any 
concerns they may have, either direct with management or on 
a confidential basis via the whistle blowing process.

Equal opportunities
The Group is committed to providing equal opportunities, 
both for existing employees and for new applicants, and 
seeks to ensure that the workforce reflects, as far as is 
practicable, the diversity of the many communities in which 
the Group operates. It is the Group’s policy to give full and fair 
consideration to applications for employment from disabled 
persons, having regard to their particular aptitudes and 

abilities. For the purposes of training, career development and 
promotion, disabled employees, including anyone who may 
become disabled during the course of his or her employment, 
are treated on equal terms with other employees. The Group 
operates a zero tolerance policy to harassment and bullying. 
Details of the Group’s equal opportunities policy is available 
on the Company’s website and this policy is supplemented  
by specific policies that reflect local employment legislation 
and expectations.

Health and safety
The Group has in place appropriate health and safety policies 
which can be accessed by all staff via an internal database. 
The aim is to provide both staff and visitors with a safe and 
healthy working environment and, with this in mind, an 
updated accident reporting process has been developed and 
implemented throughout the Group. The Group is committed 
to adhering to the high standards of health and safety set  
out by its policies and procedures and to provide training  
as necessary.

Environment
The Group continues to promote energy efficiency and the 
avoidance of waste throughout its operations. The Group 
has again carried out an environmental audit, this time 
covering all our main offices worldwide, in order to obtain 
key performance indicator data and to be able to provide 
comment on the Group’s environmental performance.  
The Group remains committed to using energy efficiently  
and minimising waste, thus aiming to reduce the negative 
impact of our operations on the environment. 
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Energy consumption
We continue to look closely at our energy use, recognising 
that this is one of the most significant impacts that our 
operations have on the environment. We have implemented a 
number of initiatives to conserve energy, including the use of 
low energy lighting and implementing a switch off policy and 
we remain committed to reducing our energy usage across all 
our offices. Whilst we do not have access to data on energy 
consumption across all our offices due, primarily, to shared 
occupancy, we have data for our largest UK office, in London 
and this is detailed on page 57. 

During the financial year under review, 195 staff in 
Aberdeen relocated to a new purpose built office in the 
centre of Aberdeen; 64 staff in Conshohocken relocated 
to our main offices in central Philadelphia and, in London, 
we have taken the lease of Bow Bells House, a new build, 
and all our 400 employees moved in after the end of 
the financial year under review. We expect that these 
relocations will minimise our energy usage and wastage 
and, in particular for the two relocations in Aberdeen and 
London, will allow us to benefit from the latest technologies 
on energy consumption and resource utilisation and 
which we anticipate will, over the long term, assist in 
our aim of reducing the Group’s energy consumption.

Water consumption
We are all conscious of the global need to conserve water 
and we have established a number of initiatives to encourage 
this, including the use of sensors in taps and reduced flow 
mechanisms. While we do not have access to data on water 
consumption across all our offices due, primarily, to shared 
occupancy, we have data for our largest UK office, in London 
and this is detailed on page 57. We remain committed  
to reducing water consumption, per employee, on an  
annual basis.

Social and community activities
We undertook a review at the beginning of the year of 
the Group’s charitable giving policy which concluded that 
our three-pronged policy - to support causes local to our 
offices, national in the countries in which we operate and 
international - was working well and reflected our flat 
management structure which facilitates local decision making. 
Our over-arching strategy on charitable giving will remain 
broadly the same, with a focus on community groups, health, 
children and older people. 

We are currently working with the Charities Aid Foundation to 
expand payroll giving across the Group and a new employee 
volunteering programme is scheduled to be rolled out to offer 
employees the opportunity to volunteer to assist a favoured 
local charity for up to two days per annum. 

We have continued to support staff charitable activities, 
mainly sporting events, including Race for Life, the Rob Roy 
Challenge, Help for Heroes Battlefield Bike Ride and the 
London Marathon. As well as offering financial support to 
charities and various activities, we have also been offering 
assistance in kind, such as printing services, auction prizes 
and the use of our offices for fund-raising events and other 
meetings. We also continue to donate computer equipment 
to the Strongbones Childrens Charitable Trust. This is now 
year two of our five year commitment to support the first 
Information and Support Worker for North East Scotland for 
the Parkinson’s Disease Society (PDS). 
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report 
and the group and parent company financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare group and 
parent company financial statements for each financial 
year. Under that law they are required to prepare the group 
financial statements in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by 
the EU and applicable law and have elected to prepare the 
parent company financial statements on the same basis.

Under company law the directors must not approve the 
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give 
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and 
parent company and of their profit or loss for that period. In 
preparing each of the group and parent company financial 
statements, the directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply  
them consistently;

• make judgments and estimates that are reasonable  
and prudent;

• state whether they have been prepared in accordance 
with IFRSs as adopted by the EU; and

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern 
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group 
and the parent company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting 
records that are sufficient to show and explain the parent 
company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy 
at any time the financial position of the parent company and 
enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply 
with the Companies Act 2006. They have general responsibility 
for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to 
safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect 
fraud and other irregularities.

Under applicable law and regulations, the directors are 
also responsible for preparing a Directors' report, Directors' 
remuneration report and Corporate governance statement 
that complies with that law and those regulations.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and 
integrity of the corporate and financial information included 
on the Company's website. Legislation in the UK governing the 
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may 
differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Independent Auditor's report to the members 
of Aberdeen Asset Management PLC

We have audited the financial statements of Aberdeen Asset 
Management PLC for the year ended 30 September 2009 set 
out on pages 62 to 133. The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law 
and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
as adopted by the EU and, as regards the parent company 
financial statements, as applied in accordance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

This report is made solely to the Company's members, as a 
body, in accordance with sections 495, 496 and 497 of the 
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken 
so that we might state to the Company's members those 
matters we are required to state to them in an auditors' 
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility 
to anyone other than the Company and the Company's 
members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for 
the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors
As explained more fully in the Directors' Responsibilities 
Statement set out on page 59, the directors are responsible 
for the preparation of the financial statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility 
is to audit the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK 
and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with  
the Auditing Practices Board's (APB's) Ethical Standards  
for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
A description of the scope of an audit of financial  
statements is provided on the APB's website at  
www.frc.org.uk/apb/scope/UKP.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion:

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
state of the Group's and of the parent company's affairs 
as at 30 September 2009 and of the Group's profit for 
the year then ended;

• the Group financial statements have been properly 
prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU; 

• the parent company financial statements have been 
properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs, as adopted 
by the EU and as applied in accordance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and

• the financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 
2006 and, as regards the Group financial statements, 
Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the 
Companies Act 2006
In our opinion:

• the part of the Directors' Remuneration Report to be 
audited has been properly prepared in accordance with 
the Companies Act 2006; and

• the information given in the Directors' Report for the 
financial year for which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report  
by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following:

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to 
you if, in our opinion:

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the 
parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have 
not been received from branches not visited by us; or

• the parent company financial statements and the part of 
the Directors' Remuneration Report to be audited are not 
in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

• certain disclosures of Directors' remuneration specified 
by law are not made; or

• we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit.
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Under the Listing Rules we are required to review:

• the Directors' statement, set out on page 39, in relation 
to going concern; and

• the part of the Corporate Governance Statement relating 
to the Company's compliance with the nine provisions of 
the June 2008 Combined Code specified for our review.

G Bainbridge (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of KPMG Audit Plc, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants 
37 Albyn Place
Aberdeen
AB10 1JB

9 December 2009
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Accounting policies

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted 
by the EU, (adopted IFRS) and interpretations issued by the 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
or its predecessors (IFRIC), which had been approved by the 
European Commission as at 30 September 2009. 

The financial statements have been prepared on the 
historical cost basis, except that certain of the Group’s 
financial instruments are stated at their fair values and the 
measurement of long-term employee benefits at present 
value of the obligation less fair value of any assets held to 
settle the obligation. The principal accounting policies, which 
have been consistently applied, are set out below.

Statement of compliance
Both the parent company financial statements and the Group 
financial statements have been prepared and approved by the 
directors in accordance with adopted IFRS. On publishing the 
parent company financial statements here together with the 
Group financial statements, the Company is taking advantage 
of the exemption in section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 
not to present its individual income statement and related 
notes that form part of the approved financial statements.

Accounting estimates and judgements
Preparation of the financial statements necessitates the use 
of estimates, assumptions and judgements. These estimates, 
assumptions and judgements affect the reported values of 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at the balance sheet 
date as well as affecting the reported income and expenses for 
the year. Although the estimates are based on management’s 
knowledge and judgement of information and financial data, 
the actual outcome may differ from these estimates. The key 
assumptions which affect these results for the year and the 
balances as at the year-end are specifically identified, where 
appropriate, in the following notes to the Group financial 
statements.

a) Amortisation periods used for intangible assets - note 13

b) Impairment testing of goodwill and intangible assets - 
note 13

c) Deferred tax assets - note 16

d) Share-based payments - note 24

e) Provisions - note 30

f) Pensions - note 34
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New standards and interpretations not applied
The International Accounting Standards Board has issued the following standards, relevant to the Group, which have not yet 
been applied and have an effective date after the date of these financial statements:

Effective date

Endorsed and available for early adoption:

IFRS 8 Operating Segments 1 January 2009

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements - Comprehensive revision including a statement of 
comprehensive income

1 January 2009

IAS 32 Financial Instruments Presentation - Disclosure of puttable financial instruments 1 January 2009

IFRS 2 Share-based Payment - Amendments relating to vesting conditions and cancellations 1 January 2009

IAS 23 Borrowing Costs - Capitalisation of borrowing costs attributable to the development of 
intangible assets

1 January 2009

IAS 27 Consolidated and separate Financial Statements - Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, 
Jointly-Controlled Entity or Associate

23 January 2009

IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement - Amendments resulting from Annual 
Improvements to IFRS

1 January 2009

IFRS 3 Business Combinations - Comprehensive revision on applying the acquisition method 1 July 2009

IFRS 1 / 
IAS 27

Amendments to IFRSI and IAS 27 Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, jointly-controlled  
entity or associate

1 January 2009

IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements - Consequential amendments arising from 
changes to IFRS 3

1 July 2009

Standards and interpretations not endorsed:

IRFS 7 Improving Disclosures about Financial Investments - Amendments to IFRS 7 1 January 2009

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2013

The Directors do not anticipate that the adoption of these 
standards will materially impact the Group's financial results 
in the period of initial application although there will be 
revised presentations to the primary financial statements and 
additional disclosures. No material impact on the Group is 
expected to arise from any other standards which are available 
for early adoption. Any future business combinations will be 
affected by the revisions to IFRS 3.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial information contained within these 
financial statements incorporates the results, cash flows and 
financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries for 
the period to 30 September 2009. Subsidiaries are entities 
controlled by the Company and are included from the date 

that control commences until the date that control ceases. 
Control exists when the Group has the power, directly or 
indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an 
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 

The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s 
share of the total recognised gains and losses of associates 
on an equity accounted basis, from the date that significant 
influence commences until the date that significant influence 
ceases. Associates are those entities in which the Group has 
significant influence, but not control, over the financial and 
operating policies. When the Group’s share of losses exceeds 
its interest in an associate, the carrying amount is reduced to 
nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued except to 
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive 
obligations or made payments on behalf of an associate.
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All inter-company transactions, balances, income and 
expenses between Group entities are eliminated on 
consolidation. Unrealised gains arising from transactions 
with associates are eliminated to the extent of the 
Group’s interest in the entity. Unrealised losses are 
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only 
to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Business combinations
The acquisition of businesses is accounted for using the 
purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is measured 
as the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, 
of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity 
instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control 
of the acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the 
business combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions 
for recognition under IFRS 3 Business Combinations are 
recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date.

Revenue
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can 
be reliably measured. Revenue is recognised as the services 
are provided and includes management fees, transaction fees, 
performance fees and registration fees.

Initial income from the sale of shares in open end investment 
companies received in advance is taken to the balance sheet 
and amortised over the period of the asset management 
service, which is estimated based on the Group’s experience of 
the average holding periods by investors.

The Group is entitled to earn performance fees from a 
number of clients where the actual performance of the clients’ 
assets exceeds defined benchmarks by an agreed level of 
outperformance over a set time period. Performance fees are 
recognised when the quantum of the fee can be estimated 
reliably, which is normally at the end of the performance 
period, when this occurs on or before the reporting date, or 
where there is a period of less than six months remaining 
to the end of the performance period and there is evidence 
at the reporting date which suggests that the current 
performance will be sustainable.

Finance revenue
Finance revenue comprises interest and dividends. Interest 
income is recognised using the effective interest rate method 
as it accrues. Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s 
right to receive payment is established which, in the case of 
listed securities, is the ex-dividend date.

Realised and unrealised gains and losses  
on investments
Gains and losses (both realised and unrealised) on financial 
assets designated as held for trading are recognised in the 
consolidated income statement. Realised and unrealised  
gains are recognised as part of revenue.

Gains and losses on financial assets designated as available-
for-sale are initially recognised through the consolidated 
statement of recognised income and expense. Upon disposal, 
any gain or loss taken through the consolidated statement 
of recognised income and expense is reversed out and the 
full gain or loss from purchase, after any impairment charge 
previously recognised, is taken through the consolidated 
income statement.

Realised gains and losses on investments are calculated as 
the difference between the net sales proceeds and cost or 
amortised cost. Unrealised gains and losses on investments 
represent the difference between the valuation of investments 
at the balance sheet date and their original cost or, if they 
have been previously revalued, the valuation at the last 
balance sheet date. The movement in unrealised gains and 
losses recognised in the period also includes the reversal of 
gains or losses previously recognised on investments disposed 
of during the current accounting period.

Exceptional income and costs
Where the Group incurs significant non-recurring expenditure 
or earns significant non-recurring income in respect of items 
that arise outwith the Group’s normal business activities and 
which are sufficiently material to warrant separate disclosure 
then the expenditure incurred is separately recognised on 
the face of the income statement as exceptional in order to 
provide more helpful information to investors.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES  CONTINUED
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Finance costs
Finance costs comprise interest payable on borrowings.

Leases
All Group leases are operating leases, being leases where 
the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the leased asset.

Rental payments made under operating leases are charged 
to the income statement on a straight line basis over the 
term of the lease. Lease incentives received by the Group are 
recognised as a reduction in the rental expense, recognised on 
a straight line basis over the term of the lease.

Pension costs
The principal pension scheme operated by the Group is 
a group personal pension scheme. In addition overseas 
subsidiaries make contributions to various trade and state 
defined contribution schemes. Contributions to these defined 
contribution pension schemes are recognised as an expense 
in the income statement as they become payable under the 
rules of the schemes.

The Group also operates three legacy defined benefit 
pension schemes in the UK which arose on acquisitions, 
one of which is operated by the Company. All schemes are 
closed to new membership and to future service accruals. In 
addition, defined benefit scheme obligations were added with 
the acquisition of DEGI during 2008 and the Credit Suisse 
business acquired in Japan during 2009. The Group’s net 
obligation in respect of these schemes is calculated separately 
for each scheme by estimating the amount of future benefit 
that members have earned in return for their service in prior 
periods; that benefit is discounted to determine its present 
value, and the fair value of any scheme assets is deducted. 
The benefits are discounted at a rate equal to the yield on 
high credit rated corporate bonds that have maturity dates 
approximating to the terms of the Group’s obligations. The 
calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the 
projected unit credit method.

The surplus or deficit in respect of defined benefit schemes 
is expressed as the excess or shortfall of the fair value of the 
assets of the scheme compared to the present value of the 
scheme liabilities and is recognised as an asset or liability of 
the Group or Company.

Interest costs on the liability, expected return on plan assets 
and the costs of curtailments and settlements are recognised 
in the income statement.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the period in 
which they occur directly in equity. When the calculation 
results in a benefit to the Group or Company, the recognised 
asset is limited to the present value of any future refunds 
from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.

Employee benefits
Short term employee benefits
Short term employee benefits are recognised as an 
undiscounted expense and liability when the employee has 
rendered services during an accounting period. Short term 
accumulating compensated absences are recognised when the 
employee renders the service that increases his entitlement to 
future compensated absence. Non-accumulating compensated 
absences are recognised when the absence occurs.

Profit sharing and bonus payments
These are recognised when there is a present legal or 
constructive obligation to make such payments as a result  
of past events and a reliable estimate of the obligation can  
be made.

Share based payments
The Executive Share Option Scheme allows Group employees 
to acquire shares of the Company. The fair value of options 
granted after 7 November 2002 is recognised as an employee 
expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value 
is measured at grant date and spread over the period over 
which the employee becomes unconditionally entitled to the 
options. The fair value of the options granted is measured 
using a trinomial lattice model, taking into account the 
terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. 
The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect 
the actual number of share options that vest except where 
forfeiture is due only to share prices not achieving the 
threshold for vesting.
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The fair value of awards under the Group’s Long Term 
Incentive Plan (LTIP) is recognised as an expense with a 
corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is initially 
measured at the date of the award and is spread over the 
period during which employees become unconditionally 
entitled to the shares. The fair value of LTIP awards is based 
on the market price of the underlying shares at the date of 
the award, taking into account the terms and conditions upon 
which the award was made.

Where the Company makes awards under the LTIP to 
employees of its subsidiaries it recharges the cost of these 
awards to each subsidiary based on the fair value of the  
shares awarded.

The Group awards deferred shares to employees as an 
element of annual bonus awards. These deferred shares are 
expensed to the income statement over the vesting period of 
three years.

Where the Company makes awards under the deferred share 
scheme to employees of its subsidiaries it recharges the cost 
of these awards to each subsidiary based on the cash value of 
the shares at the award date.

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised as an expense and  
liability when the Group is committed to the termination  
of employment before the normal retirement date.  
A commitment to such termination benefits arises when the 
Group has initiated detailed plans which cannot realistically 
be withdrawn.

Employee Benefits Trust
The Group has an Employee Benefits Trust (EBT) which owns 
shares in the Company for the purposes of administering 
the Group’s LTIP and the deferred share element of annual 
bonuses. The EBT is consolidated into the Group’s financial 
statements, with these shares deducted from equity. Any 
consideration received for such shares is recognised within 
retained earnings. No gain or loss is recognised in the income 
statement on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of 
equity shares.

Taxation
Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and 
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement except 
to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in 
equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable profit 
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted 
at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable 
in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable 
on differences between the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding 
basis used for tax purposes.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability 
method and is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to 
apply when the asset is realised or the liability settled.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised 
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be 
available against which deductible temporary differences can 
be utilised, except:

• in respect of taxable or deductible temporary  
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries 
and joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of 
the temporary differences can be controlled and it is 
probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future.

• where the deferred tax asset or liability arises from  
the initial recognition of goodwill.

• where the deferred tax asset or liability arises from  
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 
transaction that:

– is not a business combination; and

– at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
accounting profit nor loss.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES  CONTINUED
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Property, plant & equipment
Property, plant & equipment is stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Expenditure on property, plant & equipment is capitalised on 
initial recognition. Subsequent expenditure is only capitalised 
when it is probable that there will be future economic benefits 
attributable to the item and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. All other expenditure is recognised as an 
expense in the income statement as incurred.

Property, plant & equipment is depreciated so as to write off 
the cost of assets, on a straight line basis, over their estimated 
useful lives as follows:

• Heritable property: 50 years

• Leasehold property: over the period of the lease

• Property improvements: shorter of five years or the 
period of the lease

• Computers, fixtures and fittings: three to ten years

• Motor vehicles: four years 

Depreciation is recognised as an expense in the income 
statement.

The carrying value of these assets is reviewed at each 
reporting date. An assessment is made as to whether there 
is any indication that an asset may be impaired; if any such 
indication exists and where the carrying value exceeds the 
estimated recoverable amount, the assets are written down 
to their recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the 
greater of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Any 
impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.

An item of property, plant & equipment is derecognised 
upon disposal or when no further future economic benefits 
are expected from its use. Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying value  
of the asset) is included in the Income Statement in the year 
the asset is derecognised. 

Intangible assets
Goodwill
Goodwill arising on consolidation, representing the excess of 
the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share 
of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
acquired, is capitalised in the balance sheet. The carrying value 
of goodwill at 1 October 2004, the date of transition to IFRS, 
is equivalent to the carrying value under UK GAAP and is 
subject to annual impairment testing.

Following initial recognition, goodwill is stated at cost less 
any accumulated impairment losses. An impairment review is 
carried out at least annually and any impairment is recognised 
immediately in the income statement and is not subsequently 
reversed. Goodwill is allocated to the appropriate cash-
generating unit for the purpose of impairment testing.

Management contracts
Intangible assets such as management contracts acquired 
as part of a business combination, are capitalised where it is 
probable that future economic benefits attributable to the 
assets will flow to the Group and the fair value of the assets 
can be measured reliably.

Management contracts are recorded initially at fair value and 
then amortised, if appropriate, over their useful lives. The fair 
value at the date of acquisition is calculated using discounted 
cash flow methodology and represents the valuation of the 
net residual income stream arising from the management 
contracts in place at the date of acquisition. The contracts are 
included in the balance sheet as an intangible asset.

The useful lives of management contracts in respect of open 
end funds are considered to be indefinite and are therefore 
not subject to amortisation. The indefinite nature of these 
contracts is re-assessed on an annual basis to ensure that the 
policy remains appropriate. The Group tests for impairment 
of these assets annually or more frequently if there is an 
indication that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
The recoverable amount is the greater of fair value less costs 
to sell and value in use. Management contracts in respect of 
segregated mandates are considered to have a finite life and 
are therefore amortised on a straight line basis over their 
estimated average contract term of between seven and ten 
years, with amortisation charged to the income statement. 
The Group tests for impairment of these contracts annually 
or more frequently if there is an indication that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable.
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Other intangible assets - software
Purchased intangible assets have a finite life and are stated  
at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment  
losses. Amortisation is charged to the income statement on  
a straight line basis according to the useful economic life  
of the intangible asset which, for software, is estimated at 
three years.

Subsequent expenditure on capitalised intangible assets 
is capitalised only when it increases the future economic 
benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates.  
All other expenditure is expensed as incurred. At each 
reporting date, an assessment is made as to whether there 
is any indication that an asset in use may be impaired. If any 
such indication exists and the carrying values exceed the 
estimated recoverable amount, the assets are written down 
to their recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the 
greater of the fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

Financial instruments
Financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value 
plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through 
profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. They are 
categorised as described below.

The fair value of financial instruments that are actively traded 
on organised financial markets is determined by reference 
to quoted market bid prices at the close of business on 
the balance sheet date. For investments where there is no 
active market, the fair value is determined using valuation 
techniques. These techniques include recent arm’s length 
market transactions, reference to the current market value of 
another financial instrument which is substantially the same; 
discounted cashflow analysis and option pricing models.

Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss 
include investments held for trading purposes. They are carried 
at fair value in the balance sheet and gains or losses are taken 
to the income statement in the period in which they arise. 
The following assets and liabilities are classified as financial 
instruments at fair value through profit or loss:

• Current assets
– Financial investments

– Stock of units and shares

• Current liabilities
– Investment contract liabilities

Available for sale financial assets are also carried at fair value 
in the balance sheet. Movements in fair value are taken to the 
fair value reserve until derecognition of the asset, at which 
time the cumulative amount dealt with through this reserve is 
recognised in the income statement.

Where there is objective evidence that an available for sale 
financial asset is impaired, the cumulative impairment loss 
is reclassified from equity to profit and loss with subsequent 
movements recognised in profit and loss.

The following assets are designated as available for sale:

• Non-current assets
– Other investments

Included in this category are the Group’s investments in 
private equity partnerships. The fair value of these investments 
represents the Group’s direct investments and entitlement 
to carried interest distributions, both of which are measured 
with reference to the International Private Equity and venture 
Capital Association valuation Guidelines. 

Loans and receivables and other financial liabilities are 
recognised at amortised cost using the effective interest  
rate method. 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES  CONTINUED



Aberdeen Asset Management PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2009       69  

Convertible bonds that can be converted to share capital at 
the option of the holder, where the number of shares issued 
does not vary with changes in their fair value, are accounted 
for as compound financial instruments with a liability and 
equity component. Transaction costs that relate to the issue of 
a compound financial instrument are allocated to the liability 
and equity components in proportion to the allocation of 
proceeds. The equity component of the convertible bonds 
is calculated as the excess of the issue proceeds over the 
present value of the future interest and principal payments, 
discounted at the market rate of interest applicable to similar 
liabilities that do not have a conversion option. The interest 
expense recognised in the income statement is calculated 
using the effective interest rate method.

The Group has adopted trade date accounting. Accordingly, 
a financial investment is recognised on the date the Group 
commits to its purchase and derecognised on the date on 
which the Group commits to its sale.

Assets held for sale
Assets acquired with the intention to subsequently dispose of 
them by sale are classified as held for sale and measured at 
the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs  
to sell.

Assets are only considered to be classified as held for sale if:

a) the carrying amount will be recovered through a sale 
transaction rather than through continuing use;

b) management is committed to the sale within one year of 
acquisition;

c) the asset is available for immediate sale in its present 
condition;

d) the asset is marketed for sale at a price that is reasonable 
in relation to its current fair value.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances, call 
deposits and investments in money market instruments with 
an original maturity of three months or less. Bank overdrafts 
that are repayable on demand are included as a component of 
cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the statement 
of cash flows.

Investment contracts
The Group sells unit linked life and pension contracts through 
its insurance subsidiaries, Aberdeen Asset Management Life 
and Pensions Limited (L&P) and Aberdeen Asset Management 
Pooled Pension Limited (PPL). Management fees earned 
from these contracts are accounted for as described in the 
accounting policy for revenue.

L&P and PPL are consolidated in the Group financial 
statements on a line-by-line basis. Unit linked policyholder 
assets held by L&P and PPL and related policyholder liabilities 
are carried at fair value, with changes in fair value taken to 
profit or loss.

Amounts received from and paid to investors under these 
contracts are treated as deposits received or paid and 
therefore not recorded in the income statement. Charges to 
investors due under these contracts are recognised in the 
income statement. At the balance sheet date the value of 
these contracts is stated at an amount equal to the fair value 
of the net assets held to match the contractual obligations.

Investments in subsidiaries
In the Company balance sheet, investments in subsidiaries are 
carried at cost less any provision for impairment.

Impairment
The Group performs annual impairment reviews in respect of 
goodwill and intangible fixed assets with indefinite lives. The 
Group carries out impairment reviews in respect of property, 
plant & equipment and other assets, including fixed asset 
investments, whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement 
whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount for any asset or cash-generating unit  
is the higher of its value in use and its fair value less costs  
to sell.

Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating 
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of 
any goodwill allocated to cash-generating units and then to 
reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit on 
a pro rata basis.
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Impairment losses in respect of goodwill are not reversed. In 
respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there 
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to 
the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net  
of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had 
been recognised.

Equity instruments
Preference share capital
The issued preference capital is classified as an element of 
equity as it is irredeemable, except at the Company’s option, 
and dividend payments are discretionary. Dividends on 
preference shares are recognised as distributions within equity.

Perpetual subordinated capital securities
The 7.9% perpetual subordinated capital securities are 
classified as an element of equity as the securities are 
irredeemable, except at the Company’s option, and coupon 
payments are discretionary. Coupon payments, net of 
attributable tax, are recognised as distributions within equity.

Repurchase of share capital
When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the 
amount of the consideration paid, which includes directly 
attributable costs, is net of any tax effects, and is recognised 
as a deduction from equity. When these shares are sold or 
reissued subsequently, the amount received is recognised as 
an increase in equity, and the resulting surplus or deficit on 
the transaction is transferred to or from retained earnings. 
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised on the date 
of payment or, if subject to approval, the date approved by 
shareholders. Dividends on certain own shares held by the 
Employee Benefit Trusts are waived by the Trustees.

Provisions
A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Group 
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
a past event and it is probable that an outflow of economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect 
is material, provisions are determined by discounting the 
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money 
and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 
Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due 
to the passage of time is recognised as an interest expense. 
No provision is established where a reliable estimate of the 
obligation cannot be made.

Foreign currencies
The consolidated financial statements are presented in 
sterling, the Company’s functional and presentation currency. 
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional 
currency and items included in the financial statements of 
each entity are measured in that functional currency.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the 
functional currency at the exchange rate ruling at the date of 
the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate ruling 
at the balance sheet date and any exchange differences arising 
are taken to the income statement.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at historical 
cost in a foreign currency are translated to the functional 
currency using the exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction and so no exchange differences arise. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities stated at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated at the exchange rate ruling at the 
balance sheet date. Where fair value movements in assets 
and liabilities are reflected in the income statement, the 
corresponding exchange movements are also recognised in the 
income statement. Where fair value movements in assets and 
liabilities are reflected directly in equity, the corresponding 
exchange movements are also recognised directly in equity.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated 
to sterling at the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet 
date. The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are 
translated to sterling at rates approximating to the exchange 
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.

Hedge of net investment in foreign operation
Foreign currency differences arising on the retranslation of a 
financial liability designated as a hedge of a net investment 
in a foreign operation are recognised directly in equity, in the 
foreign currency translation reserve, to the extent that the 
hedge is effective. To the extent that the hedge is ineffective, 
such differences are recognised in profit or loss. When the 
hedged part of a net investment is disposed of, the associated 
cumulative amount in equity is transferred to profit or loss as 
an adjustment to the profit or loss on disposal.

Segment reporting
The Group’s primary reporting segments are its two operating 
divisions, namely the fund management division and the 
property asset management division. Additional information 
is provided by geographic segment whereby the results of the 
Group are disclosed according to the geographical location of 
its operating subsidiaries in the UK and Europe, Asia and  
the Americas.
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Group Income Statement
For the year to 30 September 2009

Notes
2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Revenue 1 421,897 430,086

Operating costs (325,900)  (330,794)
Exceptional costs 5 (44,498)  (25,002)
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets (30,136)  (13,785)

Operating expenses (400,534)  (369,581)

Exceptional gains 4 – 4,129
(Losses) gains on investments and other income 4 (282) 724

Other operating income 4 (282) 4,853

Operating profit before: 95,715  100,016 
Exceptional gains and charges (44,498)  (20,873)
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets (30,136)  (13,785)

Operating profit 21,081  65,358 

Finance revenue 8 1,125  5,697 
Finance costs 8 (11,736)  (10,598)

Net finance costs 8 (10,611)  (4,901)

Profit before exceptional items, amortisation, impairment and taxation 85,104 95,115
Exceptional items, amortisation and impairment before taxation (74,634) (34,658)

Profit before taxation 10,470 60,457

Tax expense on profit before exceptional items, amortisation and impairment (14,605) (16,491)
Tax on exceptional items, amortisation and impairment 10,831 2,881

Tax expense 9 (3,774) (13,610)

Profit after taxation, before exceptional items, amortisation and impairment 70,499 78,624
Exceptional items, amortisation and impairment after taxation (63,803) (31,777)

Profit for the year 6,696 46,847

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company (8,073) 35,216
Other equity holders 14,769 11,631

6,696 46,847

(Loss) earnings per share

Basic 12 (1.71p) 4.57p
Diluted 12 (1.71p) 4.52p
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Statement of Recognised Income and Expense
For the year to 30 September 2009

Group Company

2009
£'000

2008
£'000

2009
£'000

2008 
£'000 

Net actuarial (loss) gain on defined benefit pension schemes (25,386)  7,223 (672) 318

Translation of foreign currency net investments 21,725  (1,425) – –

Movement in fair value of available for sale investments (6,400) (4,992) 2,076 (2,572)

Tax on items taken directly to equity 8,943 (1,269) 109 623

Net (expense) income recognised directly in equity (1,118) (463) 1,513 (1,631)

Profit for the year 6,696 46,847 50,139 40,018 

Total recognised income and expense for the year 5,578 46,384 51,652  38,387 

Attributable to equity holders of the Company 

Equity shareholders of the Company (9,191) 34,753 36,883  26,756 

Other equity holders 14,769  11,631 14,769  11,631 
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Balance Sheet
30 September 2009

Group Company

Notes
2009
£'000

2008
£'000

2009
£'000

2008 
£'000 

Assets 
Non-current assets 
Intangible assets  13 1,147,614  828,461 306,488  26,682 
Property, plant & equipment  14 18,888  15,661 8,548  8,666 
Other investments  15 59,903  50,335 1,165,069  1,041,011 
Pension surplus 34 – 5,481 – –
Deferred tax assets  16 36,087 24,109 2,922  449 
Trade and other receivables  17 6,853 8,898 –  – 
Total non-current assets 1,269,345  932,945 1,483,027 1,076,808

Current assets 
Stock of units and shares  18  468  268  –  – 
Financial investments  19 1,465,470  1,131,060 –  – 
Trade and other receivables  17 197,021  191,558 202,068  128,467 
Other investments  20 34,013  15,441 –  – 
Cash and cash equivalents  21 81,362  82,161 72  85 
Assets classified as held for sale  22 27,817  17,596 23,000  12,075 
Total current assets 1,806,151  1,438,084 225,140  140,627 
Total assets 3,075,496  2,371,029 1,708,167  1,217,435 

Equity 
Called up share capital  23 104,306  79,691 104,306  79,691 
Share premium account  25 683,214  396,010 683,214  396,010 
Other reserves  25 226,009  216,876 217,144  223,054 
Retained (loss) profit  25 (196,583) (147,216) 34,340  22,590 
Total equity attributable to shareholders of the parent 816,946  545,361 1,039,004  721,345 

Minority interest 15 6,932 – – –
Attributable to other equity holders - perpetual capital 
securities  26 198,111  197,942 198,111  197,942 
Total equity 1,021,989  743,303 1,237,115  919,287 

Liabilities 
Non-current liabilities 
Interest bearing loans and borrowings  27 227,561  172,340 227,561  172,340 
Other creditors 603 11,970 –  – 
Pension deficit  34 33,415  17,376 847  451 
Deferred tax liabilities  16 111,812  60,930 45,948  27 
Total non-current liabilities 373,391  262,616 274,356  172,818 

Current liabilities 
Investment contract liabilities  19 1,465,470  1,131,060 –  – 
Interest bearing loans and borrowings  27 28,331  46,529 119,431  80,831 
Trade and other payables  28 178,384  169,269 76,227  43,489
Provisions  30 1,300 2,000 – – 
Deferred income  31 841  1,588 – – 
Current tax payable 5,790  14,664 1,038 1,010 
Total current liabilities 1,680,116  1,365,110 196,696  125,330 
Total liabilities 2,053,507  1,627,726 471,052  298,148 
Total equity and liabilities 3,075,496  2,371,029 1,708,167  1,217,435 

 The financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 9 December 2009, and signed on its behalf by: 

R C Cornick Chairman W J Rattray Finance Director
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year to 30 September 2009

Group Company

Notes
2009
£'000

2008
£'000

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Core cashflow from (used in) operating activities 84,368  109,590 (14,920) 71,158 

Effects of short-term timing differences on open end 
fund settlements (4,732) (3,314) –  – 

Cash generated from (used in) operations 79,636 106,276 (14,920) 71,158 

Net interest paid (9,717) (5,146) (8,747) (8,852)

Tax (paid) received (27,611) (22,270) 1,768 (2,973)

Net cash generated from (used in) operations 42,308 78,860 (21,899) 59,333

Other non-recurring costs paid (25,244) (14,358) (6,788) (255) 

Net cash generated from (used in) operating activities  6 17,064 64,502 (28,687) 59,078 

Cash flows from investing activities 

Proceeds from sale of investments 29,466 19,877 4,879 5,761

Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment 3,430 17,161 23  – 

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 36,285 (195,741) (3,086) (8,860) 

Investment in existing subsidiary undertakings – – (2,949) (181,094)

Acquisition of intangible assets (2,445) (2,433) (1,980) (1,775) 

Acquisition of property, plant & equipment (10,243) (2,959) (2,008) (2,164) 

Acquisition of investments (43,392) (37,031) (286) (21,446) 

Net cash from (used in) investing activities 13,101 (201,126) (5,407)  (209,578)

Cash flows from financing activities     

Issue of ordinary share capital net of expenses (841) 95,206 (841) 95,206

Purchase of own shares  (328)  –  (328)  – 

New borrowings 178,331 98,582 178,331  98,582 

Repayment of borrowings (146,529) (373) (146,529)  – 

Dividends paid and coupon payments (61,547) (54,959) (61,547) (54,959) 

Net cash (used in) from financing activities (30,914) 138,456 (30,914) 138,829 

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (749) 1,832 (65,008) (11,671) 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 October 82,161 80,680 (34,217) (31,262) 

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash  
and cash equivalents (50) (351) 8,197 8,716 

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 September 81,362 82,161 (91,028) (34,217) 
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Notes to the Accounts
For the year to 30 September 2009

1 Segment reporting

 The Group’s primary business segments, based on the Group’s management and reporting structure, are the investment 
management and property asset management divisions. The results, analysed by these two business segments, are 
shown below.

Year to 30 September 2009

Investment 
management 

£'000

Property asset 
management 

£'000

Group  
total  

£'000

Turnover 310,440 108,576 419,016

Net fair value gain on assets at fair value through income 2,881  – 2,881

Revenue 313,321 108,576 421,897

Operating costs (233,960) (91,940) (325,900)

Exceptional costs (note 5) (37,246) (7,252) (44,498)

Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets (25,636) (4,500) (30,136)

Operating expenses (296,842) (103,692) (400,534)

Other operating income 48 (330) (282)

Operating profit (before exceptional items, amortisation and  
impairment of intangibles) 79,409 16,306 95,715

Operating profit (after exceptional items, amortisation and  
impairment of intangibles) 16,527 4,554 21,081

Profit before tax 9,088 1,382 10,470

Total assets 2,868,647 206,849 3,075,496

Total liabilities 1,977,757 75,750 2,053,507

Depreciation 3,720 640 4,360

Share-based payment expense 25,555  – 25,555

Capital expenditure 8,964 2,200 11,164

Acquisitions and additions of intangible assets and goodwill 318,129 – 318,129
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1 Segment reporting continued

Year to 30 September 2008

Investment 
management 

£'000

Property asset 
management 

£'000

Group  
total  

£'000

Turnover  315,291  117,300  432,591 
Net fair value loss on assets at fair value through income (2,505)  – (2,505)

Revenue  312,786  117,300  430,086 

Operating costs (229,704) (101,090) (330,794)
Exceptional costs (note 5) (11,094) (13,908) (25,002)
Amortisation of intangible assets (11,940) (1,845) (13,785)

Operating expenses (252,738) (116,843) (369,581)

Exceptional gain on sale of property – 4,129 4,129

Gains on disposal of other investments  724  –  724 

Other operating income 724 4,129 4,853

Operating profit (before exceptional items, amortisation and  
impairment of intangibles)  83,806 16,210  100,016 

Operating profit (after exceptional items, amortisation and  
impairment of intangibles)  60,772 4,586 65,358

Profit before tax 56,587 3,870 60,457

Total assets  2,151,222  219,807 2,371,029 

Total liabilities  1,541,440  86,286  1,627,726 

Depreciation  2,901  914  3,815 

Share-based payment expense 14,716  – 14,716

Capital expenditure 2,518 441 2,959

Acquisitions and additions of intangible assets and goodwill  22,116 192,683 214,799

Exceptional impairment provision on property seed capital – 8,644 8,644

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS  CONTINUED
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1 Segment reporting continued

The results of the Group presented on a geographical basis are shown below. 

Year to 30 September 2009
UK/Europe  

£'000
Asia 

£'000
Americas 

£'000
Eliminations 

£'000
Total  
£'000

Revenue 264,607 124,753 32,537  – 421,897

Operating profit (loss) (21,873) 75,812 (32,858) – 21,081

Profit (loss) before tax (33,793) 79,588 (35,325) – 10,470

Total assets 4,209,363 186,885 87,947 (1,408,699) 3,075,496

Total liabilities 2,207,854 41,157 13,868 (209,372) 2,053,507

Depreciation 2,605 983 772 – 4,360

Amortisation and impairment of  
intangible assets 10,053 12,926 7,157 – 30,136

Share-based payment expense 15,577 5,200 4,778  – 25,555

Capital expenditure 5,178 1,185 4,801 – 11,164

Acquisitions of intangible assets and goodwill 290,129 28,000 – – 318,129

Year to 30 September 2008
UK/Europe  

£'000
Asia 

£'000
Americas 

£'000
Eliminations 

£'000
Total  

£'000

Revenue  278,126 102,198 49,762  – 430,086

Operating profit (loss) 12,567 59,482 (6,691)  – 65,358

Profit (loss) before tax 5,334 64,732 (9,609)  – 60,457

Total assets 3,415,043 234,582 62,559 (1,341,155) 2,371,029

Total liabilities 1,761,221 25,320 21,232 (180,047) 1,627,726

Depreciation 2,522 686 607  – 3,815

Amortisation of intangible assets 11,995 205 1,585  – 13,785

Total significant non-cash expenses 7,856 1,632 5,228  – 14,716

Capital expenditure 1,090 691 1,178  – 2,959

Acquisitions of intangible assets and goodwill 194,962 155 19,682  – 214,799

Exceptional impairment provision on  
property seed capital 8,644 – – – 8,644

Turnover and operating profit before interest and tax by origin are not materially different to the information  
given above.

 Eliminations
The total assets included in the UK geographical segment include the investments held by the parent company in, and 
intercompany balances with, its overseas subsidiaries. The adjustments above represent the elimination of these 
investments and intercompany balances which are required to be made on consolidation to reconcile to the 
consolidated assets of the Group.
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2 Operating expenses

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Operating profit is stated after charging (crediting): 
Fees payable to the Company's auditors for the audit of the Company's accounts 70  68 
Fees payable to the Company's auditors and its associates for other services

– audit of the company's subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 941 833 
– other services pursuant to legislation (see below) 221 98 

1,232 999 
– tax services 140 119 
– all other services (see below) 290  255 

1,662 1,373 
Fees paid in respect of the Group’s pension schemes

– audit 23 28 
1,685 1,401 

Operating lease payments 12,476  10,968 
Depreciation 4,360  3,815 
Amortisation of intangible assets 17,415  13,785 
Impairment of intangible assets 12,721 –
Directors’ emoluments 3,335  3,953 
Exchange loss (gain) 1,732 (2,752)
Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipment 43  1 

 Fees paid to the Company's auditors
In 2009, other services pursuant to legislation includes £96,000 for services provided to the Group's property subsidiaries 
and £40,000 for the review of the interim statement.

The total for all other services in 2009 includes £62,000 (2008: £218,000) for work carried out in connection with 
private equity transactions, £194,000 (2008: £24,000) for services provided to the property division and Asian 
subsidiaries, £10,000 for advice in relation to the disposal of the Group's private equity business and £12,000 for 
technical and accounting advice.

The Company's auditors received fees of £730,000 in connection with acquisitions completed during the year. These 
costs have been capitalised together with other acquisition costs.

Fees paid to the Company's auditors KPMG Audit Plc, and its associates for services other than the statutory audit of 
the Company are not disclosed since the consolidated accounts disclose non-audit fees on a consolidated basis.

Details of directors’ remuneration are given in the Remuneration report on pages 41 to 50. 

3 Net fair value gains (losses) on assets at fair value through income 

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Fair value gains (losses) on investments 2,881 (2,505)

The above fair value adjustment represents gains and losses, both realised and unrealised, on financial assets held for 
trading which have been recognised in revenue.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS  CONTINUED
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4 Other operating income 

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Other operating income comprises the following items:
Exceptional gain on disposal of property – 4,129

(Losses) gains on disposal of other investments  (282)  724 

Other operating income (282)  4,853 

 2009
The loss on disposal of other investments comprise net gains of £48,000 on the disposal of private equity investments, 
together with net losses of £330,000 on the disposal of investments held by the property asset management division.

 2008
The gain on disposal of property related to the sale of a building acquired as part of the DEGI transaction. The premium 
over the fair value on acquisition was achieved as a result of subsequent changes in the tenancy arrangements of the 
property and in the identification of a strategic purchaser. The Board considered this gain to be outwith the course of 
the Group’s normal business and sufficiently material that it should be disclosed separately to enable a proper 
understanding of the financial statements and therefore chose to disclose this item as an exceptional gain.

The gain on disposal of other investments comprises principally net gains realised on the disposal of private equity 
investments.

5 Exceptional costs

Exceptional costs incurred in 2009 fall into three categories. First the costs arising from the acquisition of certain 
businesses and assets from Credit Suisse and the integration and migration of these businesses of the Group. These 
integration costs include charges in respect of a transitional services agreement with the vendor to ensure that both 
people and systems were transferred in a controlled manner; set up costs in respect of the migration of the back office 
data and systems to the Group’s third party administrator; and costs of retaining duplicate staffing for a transitional 
period to ensure a smooth migration of data. Secondly, non-recurring rationalisation and redundancy costs have been 
incurred in implementing a cost reduction programme. Finally, one-off costs have been incurred in completing the 
integration of businesses acquired during the previous financial year. These costs include the acceleration of certain 
property lease costs following the elimination of duplication of office premises as well as redundancy and other 
rationalisation costs.

The exceptional provision for vAT on investment trusts in 2008 represents vAT which may be repayable to the Group’s 
UK investment trust clients following conclusion of an action brought against HMRC by a UK investment trust. The 
amount of this provision is an estimate of the costs which may arise in respect of historic periods in excess of the 
amount to be recovered from HMRC.

The exceptional impairment provision in 2008 arose from the decision to discontinue marketing a proposed property 
fund in order to focus attention on completion and integration of the DEGI transaction. As a result of this decision, the 
fair value of this fund was considered to be impaired because of the accelerated recognition of future costs arising from 
this portfolio.
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5 Exceptional costs continued

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Arising on Credit Suisse acquisition:

Transitional service costs from vendor 7,849  –
Costs of separation, migration and integration of back office data and systems  10,405  – 

18,254 –
Duplicate staff costs, redundancy and third party integration costs arising  
from earlier acquisitions –  4,074 

Integration costs 18,254 4,074 

Redundancy and other non-recurring costs arising from implementation of  
the cost reduction programme 17,800 10,284
Acceleration of property lease costs on office rationalisation 7,052 –
Costs arising on disposal of private equity business 1,392 –

vAT expense on investment trusts – 2,000

Exceptional impairment provision on property seed capital –  8,644 

Total exceptional costs 44,498 25,002

6 Analysis of cash flows

Group Company

2009
£'000

2008
£'000

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Reconciliation of profit after tax to operating cash flow

Profit after tax 6,696  46,847 50,139 40,018 
Depreciation charges 4,360  3,815 1,931  1,539 
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets 30,136  13,785 1,180  745 
Fair value (gains) losses on investments (2,881)  2,505 (392) 2,531 
Losses (gains) on disposal of investments and other assets 2,186  (4,723) 143  (780) 
Share based element of remuneration 25,555 14,716 25,555  14,716 
Net finance costs 10,611  4,901 9,674  8,966 
Income tax expense (credit) 3,774 13,610 (5,003)  4,550 

80,437  95,456 83,227  72,285 
(Decrease) increase in provisions (700) 1,500 –  – 
(Increase) decrease in stock (200) 269 –  – 
Decrease (increase) in trade and other receivables 14,567  (16,764) (135,483)  12,719 
Decrease in short-term loans to property funds – 24,027 –  – 
(Increase) decrease in trade and other payables (39,712) (12,570) 30,548  (14,101) 

Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities 54,392  91,918 (21,708)  70,903 
Net interest paid (9,717) (5,146) (8,747)  (8,852) 
Corporation tax (paid) received (27,611) (22,270) 1,768 (2,973) 

Net cash generated from (used in) operating activities 17,064  64,502 (28,687)  59,078 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS  CONTINUED
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7 Employees

2009 2008

Group
Recurring

£'000
Exceptional 

£'000
Total
£'000

Recurring
£'000

Exceptional 
£'000

Total 
£'000 

Aggregate employee costs, including directors:
Salaries and bonuses 142,489 – 142,489  140,732 3,849  144,581 
Share based element of remuneration (note 24) 25,555 – 25,555 14,716  – 14,716 
Other benefits 3,732 – 3,732 3,019  – 3,019 
Social security costs 12,354 – 12,354 11,827 58 11,885 
Other pension costs 16,221 – 16,221 15,913 96 16,009 

200,351 – 200,351 186,207 4,003 190,210 
Redundancy costs – 13,033 13,033 728 2,069 2,797 

200,351 13,033 213,384 186,935 6,072 193,007 

2009
Number

2008
Number 

Average number of employees during the year

Investment management 1,153  1,127 
Property asset management 637 683

1,790  1,810 

Company
2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Aggregate employee costs, including directors:
Salaries and bonuses 27,121 18,217 
Share based element of remuneration (note 24) 7,749 6,110 
Other benefits 812 537 
Social security costs 2,219 2,567 
Other pension costs 3,306 3,063 

41,207 30,494 
Redundancy and exceptional staff costs 58 326 

41,265 30,820 

2009
Number

2008
Number

Average number of employees during the year

Investment management 335 340
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8 Net finance costs 

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Interest on 7.2% subordinated notes 2016 5,987  4,582 
Interest on 4.5% convertible bonds 2010  89  240 
Interest on unsecured guaranteed loan notes  –  14 
Interest on overdrafts, revolving credit facilities and other interest bearing accounts 5,586  5,649 

11,662  10,485 
Amortisation of issue costs on convertible bonds  74  113 

Total finance costs 11,736  10,598 
Finance revenue - interest income (1,125) (5,697)

Net finance costs 10,611  4,901 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS  CONTINUED
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9 Tax expense 

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Current tax expense

UK corporation tax on profits for the year 5,853 6,462 
Adjustments in respect of prior periods (195) (2,412) 

5,658 4,050

Foreign tax - current 8,336 18,035 
Foreign tax - adjustments in respect of prior periods (290) (1,000) 

Total current tax 13,704 21,085

Deferred tax credit

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (10,819) (6,966)
Adjustments in respect of prior periods 889 (509) 

Total income tax expense in income statement 3,774 13,610 

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

Profit before tax 10,470  60,457 

Income tax using the domestic corporation tax rate 28% (2008: 29%) 2,932 17,533 
Effect of lower tax rates applicable in foreign jurisdictions (21,073) (11,878) 

Effect of capital gains deductions and exempt capital losses (447) 582 

Effect of non-UK group dividends net of double tax relief 9,949 12,618 

Movement in unprovided deferred tax asset 12,619  3,043 

Non-taxable income/disallowed expenses 3,673  (4,367) 

Losses recognised for deferred tax (4,283) –

Adjustments in respect of prior years (485) (3,412) 

Deferred tax prior year 889 (509) 

Total income tax expense in income statement 3,774  13,610 

 Domestic tax rate
The domestic tax rate of 28% (2008: 29%) is based on the UK tax rate for the year.

 Factors affecting future tax charge
The Group’s overseas profits are subject to overseas tax rates some of which are lower than the standard rate of UK 
corporation tax of 28% (2008: 29%). The Group will be able to benefit from the offset of tax losses brought forward 
from prior years against its taxable profits in future years.
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10 Profit for the financial year

The profit dealt with in the accounts of the Company was £50,139,000 (2008: £40,018,000). 

11 Dividends

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Dividends on perpetual preference shares

Dividend paid 4,445 5,395

Coupon payments in respect of perpetual capital securities (net of tax)

Coupon payments made during the year 14,769  11,461 

Ordinary dividends

Declared and paid during the year

Dividends paid on ordinary shares: 
Final dividend for 2008 - 3.0p (2007: 2.9p) 21,222  18,451 
Interim dividend for 2009 - 2.8p (2008: 2.8p) 21,111  19,652 

42,333  38,103 

Total dividends and coupon payments paid during the year 61,547  54,959 

Proposed for approval at the Annual General Meeting  
(not recognised as a liability at 30 September)

Dividends on ordinary shares: 
Final dividend for 2009 - 3.2p (2008: 3.0p) 32,208 21,086 

The total ordinary dividend for the year is 6.0p per share including the proposed final dividend for 2009 of 3.2p per 
share. This payment will trigger an adjustment to the subscription price applying to the warrants which form part of  
the 6.75% convertible preference share units issued in June 2005. Assuming approval of the final dividend payment at 
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, the subscription price will reduce from 94p per ordinary share to 92p per 
ordinary share.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS  CONTINUED
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12 Earnings per share

The calculations of earnings per share are based on the following profits and numbers of shares.

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing profit for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders, by 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to ordinary 
shareholders, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, plus the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the potentially dilutive shares into 
ordinary shares.

Underlying earnings per share figures are calculated by adjusting the profit to exclude exceptional items and 
amortisation and impairment of intangible assets. The purpose of providing the underlying earnings per share is to allow 
readers of the accounts to clearly consider trends without the impact of exceptional and non-cash items.

IAS 33 Underlying

2009
£'000

2008
£'000

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Basic earnings per share

Profit attributable to shareholders 6,696 46,847 6,696 46,847 
Dividends on perpetual preference shares (5,527) (5,395) (3,771) (5,395) 
Coupon payments in respect of perpetual capital securities (net of tax) (14,769) (11,631) (14,769) (11,631)

(Loss) profit for the financial year (13,600) 29,821 (11,844) 29,821 

Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets,  
net of attributable taxation 27,237 12,285 
Exceptional gains on disposal of investments and property,  
net of attributable taxation – (2,932) 
Exceptional integration costs and expenses associated with cost 
reduction programme, net of attributable taxation 36,566 22,424 

Profit for the financial year - underlying basis 51,959 61,598 

Weighted average number of shares (000's) 796,745 652,149 796,745 652,149 

Basic (loss) earnings per share (1.71p) 4.57p 6.52p 9.45p

Diluted earnings per share

(Loss) profit for calculation of basic earnings per share, as above (13,600) 29,821 51,959 61,598 
Add: interest on 2010 convertible bonds, net of attributable taxation N/A N/A – 170 
Add: dividend on convertible preference share units N/A N/A 3,771 5,395 

(Loss) profit for calculation of diluted earnings per share (13,600) 29,821 55,730 67,163 

Weighted average number of shares (000's)

For basic earnings per share 796,745 652,149 796,745 652,149 
Dilutive effect of 2010 convertible bonds N/A N/A – 2,793 
Dilutive effect of convertible preference share units N/A N/A 61,621 82,395 
Dilutive effect of LTIP awards N/A  5,745 1,008  5,745 
Dilutive effect of exercisable share options and deferred shares N/A  2,202 23,801  2,202 

796,745 660,096 883,175 745,284 

Diluted (loss) earnings per share (1.71p) 4.52p 6.31p 9.01p 

The effects of the 2010 convertible bonds and the convertible preference share units were anti-dilutive on an IAS 33 
basis in both years. The effects of the LTIP awards and exercisable share options and deferred shares were anti-dilutive 
on an IAS 33 basis in 2009.
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13 Intangible assets

Group
Goodwill

£'000

Management 
contracts 

£'000
Software

£'000
Total 
£'000 

Cost
At 1 October 2007  433,969  202,014  10,040  646,023 
Additions  49  –  2,384  2,433 
Arising on acquisition  101,201  111,165  –  212,366 
Exchange movement  1,386  6,377 (3)  7,760 

At 30 September 2008  536,605  319,556  12,421  868,582 
Additions – – 2,445  2,445 
Arising on acquisition 120,746 192,100 2,838  315,684 
Disposal – – (838) (838)
Exchange movement 20,121 11,765 112  31,998 

At 30 September 2009 677,472 523,421 16,978 1,217,871

Amortisation and impairment
At 1 October 2007  –  17,700  8,636  26,336 
Amortisation for year  –  12,966  819  13,785 

At 30 September 2008 –  30,666  9,455  40,121 
Amortisation for year – 16,128 1,287  17,415 

Impairment losses – 12,721 – 12,721

At 30 September 2009  – 59,515 10,742 70,257

Net book value 

At 30 September 2009 677,472 463,906 6,236 1,147,614

At 30 September 2008  536,605  288,890  2,966  828,461 

Company
Goodwill

£'000

Management 
contracts 

£'000
Software

£'000
Total 
£'000 

Cost
At 1 October 2007  5,999  22,106  9,109  37,214 
Additions  – –  1,775  1,775 

At 30 September 2008  5,999  22,106  10,884  38,989 
Additions – – 1,980 1,980
Arising on acquisition 112,906 164,100 2,000 279,006

At 30 September 2009 118,905 186,206 14,864 319,975

Amortisation and impairment
At 1 October 2007  3,665  120  7,777  11,562 
Amortisation for year  –  160  585  745 

At 30 September 2008  3,665  280  8,362  12,307 
Amortisation for year – 389 791 1,180

At 30 September 2009 3,665 669 9,153 13,487

Net book value 

At 30 September 2009 115,240 185,537 5,711 306,488

At 30 September 2008  2,334  21,826  2,522  26,682 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS  CONTINUED
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13 Intangible assets continued

The Group has determined that it has two business segments or cash generating units (CGUs) for the purpose of 
assessing the carrying value of goodwill and intangible assets: (i) the investment management division and (ii) the 
property asset management division. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to the most appropriate 
CGU. The carrying value of goodwill and intangible assets attributable to each segment is as follows:

Group Company

2009
£'000

2008
£'000

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Investment management 937,192  623,295 306,488 26,682
Property asset management 210,422 205,166 – – 

1,147,614  828,461 306,488  26,682 

 Goodwill
Goodwill has arisen on the acquisition of various businesses over the years and is separately identifiable into the two 
business segments described above. These business segments represent the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored 
and tested for impairment. Additions to goodwill during the year relate to the businesses acquired from Credit Suisse as 
described in note 15.

Goodwill is not amortised but is subject to annual impairment testing, as described below. There were no goodwill 
impairment losses recorded at 30 September 2009.

 Management contracts
Management contracts arise on business combinations and as with goodwill they are allocated to the appropriate CGUs. 
They are recorded initially at their fair value and then amortised, unless in the case of open end funds they are deemed 
to have an indefinite life. Where contracts do not have an indefinite life they are being amortised over their remaining 
useful lives of between two and ten years. The group tests for impairment of these assets annually or more frequently if 
there is an indication that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Details of the impairment review in respect of the 
current year are described below. Additions to management contracts during the year relate to the businesses acquired 
from Credit Suisse as described in note 15.

 Impairment testing of goodwill and intangibles
 Goodwill

The recoverable amount of each CGU is determined by value-in-use calculations which use cash flow projections based 
on the Group's latest approved budgets covering the 2009/10 financial year and which take into account the market 
conditions prevailing at the time. value in use has been estimated by using a discounted cashflow model, on the basis of 
a five year projection plus a terminal value as required by IAS 36. The cash flows have been based on the annual budget 
for the year to 30 September 2010, as approved by the Board with a long term growth rate used to extrapolate the 
cash flows from the budget. This long term growth rate assumption is in line with the long term nature of the Group's 
business and in line with the Board's view that the Group will operate as a going concern in the long term.

The principal assumptions used in the above analysis are:

2009
%

2008
%

Annual increase in equity assets under management (AuM) 6.0 6.0
Annual increase in fixed income assets under management (AuM) 3.0 3.0
Annual increase in property under management (AuM) 6.0 6.0
Annual increase in operating costs (Investment management) 5.5 3.0
Annual increase in operating costs (Property asset management) 5.0 3.0

The annual increases in operating costs assumed above, include provision for inflation of salaries and other operating 
costs, as well as provision for the additional costs associated with the assumed increase in the levels of business.
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The following discount rates have been used in the impairment analysis. They are based on the Group's weighted 
average cost of capital using a risk fee interest rate, together with a beta for the sector and allied to an equity risk 
premium. The rates calculated for each CGU, which take into account the relative risks associated with each CGU,  
are as follows:

2009
Post tax

%

2009
Pre tax

%

2008
Post tax

%

Investment management 10.3 13.3 10.5
Property asset management 12.8 16.7 14.0

The impairment review included a sensitivity analysis on the key assumptions underpinning the cash flow projections 
and the rate at which the projections were discounted to arrive at the final value-in-use. The sensitivity analysis 
included testing assumptions relating to future revenue growth and the assumptions surrounding the level of operating 
costs and margins.

The absolute levels, on a standalone basis, of the key assumptions which most closely resulted in a match in the values 
in use to the carrying values of goodwill were:

2009
 Investment 

 management
% 

2009
 Property asset 

 management 
%

2008
 Investment 

 management 
%

2008
 Property asset 
 management

%

Discount rate 16.2 16.3 13.0 21.2
Long term revenue growth rate 0.5 4.0 4.5 3.9
Inflation rate 12.7 7.5 6.7 7.4

The value in use, calculated for each CGU in accordance with the process described above, was compared with the 
carrying value of goodwill, intangible assets and property, plant & equipment. This comparison resulted in a surplus of 
value in use over the carrying value of these assets for both CGUs, as shown in the table below, and therefore no 
impairment of goodwill has been recognised in the year.

2009
 Investment 

 management 
 £’000

2009
 Property asset 

 management 
 £’000

2008
 Investment 

 management 
 £’000

2008
 Property asset 
 management 

 £’000

Excess of recoverable amount over carrying value  694,000  49,000  524,000  207,000 

 Management contracts
IAS 36 'Impairment of Assets' requires impairment testing to be carried out if indicators of potential impairment exist. 
The Group reviewed the management contracts held at 30 September 2009 including contracts which are considered to 
have an indefinite life. Management contracts within investment management at 30 September 2009 includes £294.6 
million (2008: £119.0 million) of assets which are considered to have an indefinite life. These assets comprise contracts 
for the management of open end funds which have no limit of time or termination provisions. The review revealed 
potential indicators of impairment in respect of a small number of indefinite life contracts. value in use calculations 
were performed in respect of these contracts using methods and assumptions described above in relation to goodwill. 
Estimates of fair value less costs to sell were also prepared and both measures of value were compared with the 
carrying value of the contracts. This revealed a deficit in the carrying value compared to the fair value less costs to sell 
of £12.7 million which has been recognised as an impairment cost in the year to 30 September 2009.
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13 Intangible assets continued

The categories of management contracts, their carrying amounts at the year end, remaining amortisation periods and 
estimated useful lives are as follows:

30 September 2009 30 September 2008

Net book 
values
£'000

Remaining 
amortisation 

period (years)

Estimated 
useful life 

(years)

Net book 
values
£'000

Remaining 
amortisation 

period (years)

Estimated 
useful life 

(years)

Institutional contracts - equities  
& fixed income 69,530 3–8 6–10 72,475 4–7 6–10
Institutional contracts - property 24,561 3–8 6–10 28,704 4–9 6–10
Open end fund contracts 369,815 N/A Indefinite 187,711 N/A Indefinite

463,906 288,890 

 Company impairment review
A review of goodwill and management contracts held by the Company was carried out on the same basis as described 
above in respect of the Groups intangible assets. There were no indicators of impairment in respect of the management 
contracts held by the Company. No impairment of goodwill or management contracts has been recognised in the year.

14 Property, plant & equipment

Group

Heritable 
property 

£'000

Short 
leasehold 
property 

£'000

Computers 
fixtures and 

fittings 
£'000

Motor 
vehicles 

£'000
Total  
£'000

Cost 
At 1 October 2007  2,446  10,941  21,794  124  35,305 
Additions  –  2,021  714  224  2,959 
Transfer to trade and other receivables  – (706) –  – (706)
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries  13,221  –  2,391  –  15,612 
Disposals (13,221) (115) (3,477) (84) (16,897)
Exchange movement  –  551  705  23  1,279 

At 30 September 2008  2,446  12,692  22,127  287  37,552 
Additions 130 5,569 5,425 40 11,164
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries – 18 48 32  98 
Disposals (67) (5,994) (1,935) –  (7,996) 
Exchange movement – 727 1,262 40  2,029 

At 30 September 2009 2,509 13,012 26,927 399 42,847

Depreciation 
At 1 October 2007  442  4,726  16,219  85  21,472 
Charge for year  282  1,232  2,250  51  3,815 
Transfer to trade and other receivables  – (32)  –  – (32)
On disposals (233) (68) (3,350) (84) (3,735)
Exchange movement  –  167  182  22  371 

At 30 September 2008  491  6,025  15,301  74  21,891 
Charge for year 49 1,562 2,663 86 4,360
On disposals (37) (2,425) (945) – (3,407)
Exchange movement – 255 848 12 1,115

At 30 September 2009 503 5,417 17,867 172 23,959

Net book value 

At 30 September 2009 2,006 7,595 9,060 227 18,888

At 30 September 2008  1,955  6,667  6,826  213  15,661 
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Company

Heritable 
property 

£'000

Short 
leasehold 
property 

£'000

Computers 
fixtures and 

fittings 
£'000

Motor 
vehicles 

£'000
Total  
£'000

Cost

At 1 October 2007  2,446  6,083  15,828  37  24,394 
Additions  –  886  1,278  –  2,164 

At 30 September 2008  2,446  6,969  17,106  37  26,558 
Additions – 2,103 794 32 2,929
Disposals – (2,475) – – (2,475)

At 30 September 2009 2,446 6,597 17,900 69 27,012

Depreciation 

At 1 October 2007  441  2,869  13,011  32  16,353 
Charge for year  49  565  920  5  1,539 

At 30 September 2008  490  3,434  13,931  37  17,892 
Charge for year 49 769 1,110 3 1,931
On disposals – (1,359) – – (1,359)

At 30 September 2009 539 2,844 15,041 40 18,464

Net book value 

At 30 September 2009 1,907 3,753 2,859 29 8,548

At 30 September 2008  1,956  3,535  3,175  –  8,666 

15 Non-current asset investments

Group  £'000

Shares

At 1 October 2007  34,898 
Additions  13,275 
Reclassified from current asset investments  7,599 
Fair value adjustment (3,715)
Disposals (2,291)
Exchange movement  569 

At 30 September 2008  50,335 
Additions 19,443
Fair value gains 3,012
Fair value losses (9,412)
Disposals (6,481)
Exchange movement 3,006

At 30 September 2009 59,903

Net book value 

At 30 September 2009

Available for sale 59,903

At 30 September 2008
Available for sale  50,335 
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15 Non-current asset investments continued

Additions to unlisted investments during the year comprise £19.2 million of co-investment and seed capital investments 
made by the Group's property division and £0.2 million of private equity investments.

Disposals during the year comprised £2.4 million of seed capital investments within the property division, £2.4 million 
of seed capital within the investment management division and £1.7 million of private equity investments.

On 1 July 2008 the Group reclassified £7.6 million of investments in equity securities previously classified as current 
assets held for trading to non-current assets available for sale. This is in line with the changes to International 
Accounting Standards (IAS 39) which permits such changes in rare circumstances. The Group regarded the turmoil in 
global financial markets during 2008 as a once in a generation event which meets the definition of rare circumstance. 
The fair value of these assets at 30 September 2009 is £4.8 million (2008: £6.4 million). The cumulative movement in 
fair value since reclassification of £1.4 million (2008: £1.2 million) has been taken to fair value reserve. The movement 
in fair value in the previous year prior to reclassification was a reduction in value of £2.0 million which has been 
recognised in the income statement. 

Additions to unlisted investments comprise in 2008 of £9.6 million of seed capital investments made by the Group’s 
property division and £3.6 million of investments made pursuant to a commitment to a private equity fund operated by 
the Group until 30 June 2008.

Company

Subsidiary 
undertakings 

(unlisted) 
 £'000

Other 
 investments 

(unlisted) 
 £'000

Total  
£'000

Shares

At 1 October 2007  837,819  17,626  855,445 
Additions:  increase in existing subsidiary undertakings  181,094  –  181,094 
 investment in subsidiaries  98  –  98 
 other investments  –  3,645  3,645 
 reclassified from current asset investments  –  7,599  7,599 
Fair value adjustment  – (956) (956)
Disposals (2,684) (3,230) (5,914)

At 30 September 2008  1,016,327  24,684  1,041,011 
Additions:  increase in existing subsidiary undertakings 65,472 – 65,472
 investment in subsidiaries 59,418 – 59,418
 other investments – 228 228
 transferred from subsidiary – 234 234
Fair value adjustment – 2,076 2,076
Disposals – (3,370) (3,370)

At 30 September 2009 1,141,217 23,852 1,165,069

Net book value 

At 30 September 2009

At cost less provisions for impairment 1,141,217  – 1,141,217

Available for sale  – 23,852 23,852

At 30 September 2008
At cost less provisions for impairment  1,016,327  –  1,016,327 
Available for sale  –  24,684  24,684 
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 Acquisitions 2009
On 30 June 2009 the Group completed the second and final part of the acquisition of certain businesses and assets 
from Credit Suisse. The acquisition was completed in two stages the first part of which completed on 30 April 2009.  
This was in respect of the businesses acquired in Asia Pacific (ex Japan) which had total assets under management of 
£7.1 billion. The consideration for this part of the acquisition was satisfied by the issue of 32,526,196 new ordinary 
shares in the Company to Credit Suisse. The second part of the acquisition was completed on 30 June 2009 and was in 
respect of the Rest of the World target business and had assets under management of approximately £28.0 billion 
bringing the total assets under management acquired to £35.1 billion. The final consideration was satisfied by the issue 
of 207,473,804 new ordinary shares in the Company. Combined with the consideration of new shares issued in respect  
of the first closing, a total of 240,000,000 new ordinary shares were issued to Credit Suisse in satisfaction of the 
purchase consideration. The acquisition consisted primarily of investment management contracts, it also included  
several small operating companies in which 100% of the equity was acquired.

Independent valuation specialists were engaged to carry out a purchase price allocation exercise in order to allocate the 
purchase price between tangible assets, goodwill and intangible assets. The fair value adjustments from this allocation 
process are reflected in the table below.

On 13 July 2009 the Group announced the sale of the former Credit Suisse funds acquired to Premier Asset 
Management Group Limited for a cash consideration of £23.0 million. The sale comprised two OEIC fund umbrellas 
containing ten open end funds which had total assets of some £858.0 million (as at 8 July 2009). The sale of these 
funds was completed on 5 December 2009.

The Group consolidates funds where the substance of the relationship indicates that the fund is controlled by the 
company. During the year Aberdeen Asset Management Pooled Pensions Limited, a Group subsidiary, was deemed to 
control two of the funds in which it has invested and these funds have been consolidated in accordance with IAS 27 
together with an investment previously held by the Group as held for sale.

The acquisition was made by the Company however certain management contracts were held within the companies 
acquired at first closing. The tables below reflect the acquisition made by the Group and the Company.

The assets and liabilities at the date of the acquisition and the fair value adjustments were as follows:

Businesses acquired from 
Credit Suisse

Acquisition 
 of Pooled 

Pension Funds

Acquisition 
 of Aberdeen  

Global III
(note 22)

Group

At date of
acquisition

£’000

Fair value
adjustments

£’000

Provisional 
fair value

£’000

At date of
acquisition 

£’000

At date of
acquisition 

£’000

Intangible assets 838 194,100 194,938 – –
Property, plant & equipment 98 – 98 – –
Assets held for sale – 23,000 23,000 – –
Other investments – – – 3,939 (2,018)
Trade and other receivables 15,449 – 15,449 844 1,648
Cash and cash equivalents 36,077 – 36,077 5,810 484
Trade and other payables (14,691) (15,318) (30,009) (3,661) (114)
Deferred tax on intangible assets – (53,788) (53,788) – –

Net assets of acquired businesses 37,771 147,994 185,765 6,932 –
Goodwill 120,746 – –
Minority interest – (6,932) –

306,511 – –

Discharged by
value of shares issued 300,425
Expenses of acquisition 6,086

306,511

The businesses acquired from Credit Suisse have been integrated with the Group's existing business therefore the results 
and cashflows can no longer be identified.
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15 Non-current asset investments continued

The assets and liabilities at the date of the acquisitions were as follows:

              Businesses acquired from Credit Suisse

Company

At date of
acquisition

£’000

Fair value
adjustments

£’000

Provisional
fair value

£’000

Intangible assets  -    166,100  166,100 
Assets held for sale  -    23,000  23,000 
Cash and cash equivalents  3,000  -    3,000 
Investment in subsidiaries  34,771  12,682  47,453 
Deferred tax on intangible assets  -   (45,948) (45,948)

Net assets of acquired business  37,771  155,834  193,605 
Goodwill  112,906 

 306,511 

Discharged by:
value of shares issued  300,425 
Expenses of acquisition  6,086 

 306,511 

 Acquisitions 2008
The assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition and the fair value adjustments relating to acquisitions during the 
year were as follows:

Businesses acquired from 
Nationwide Financial Services Acquisition of DEGI Acquisition of GPI

At date of
acquisition

£’000

Fair value
adjustments

£’000
Fair value

£’000

At date of
acquisition

£’000

Fair value
adjustments

£’000
Fair value

£’000

At date of
acquisition

£’000

Fair value
adjustments

£’000
Fair value

£’000

Intangible assets – 12,000 12,000 66 61,599 61,665 – 37,500 37,500
Property, plant & 
equipment 965 – 965 8,969 5,678 14,647 113 (113) –
Trade and other 
receivables – – – 15,704 – 15,704 9,844 (1,161) 8,683
Current asset 
investments – – – 12,448 – 12,448 270 – 270
Cash and cash 
equivalents – – – 12,858 – 12,858 2,467 – 2,467
Trade and other 
payables – – – (24,410) – (24,410) (7,481) – (7,481)
Pension deficit – – – (7,480) (1,581) (9,061) – – –
Deferred tax on 
intangible assets – (3,224) (3,224) – (20,706) (20,706) – (10,144) (10,144)

Net assets of 
acquired business 965 8,776 9,741 18,155 44,990 63,145 5,213 26,082 31,295
Goodwill 7,682 25,895 67,624

17,423 89,040 98,919

Discharged by:
Cash consideration 15,976 87,398 94,061
Expenses of acquisition 1,447 1,642 1,780
Deferred consideration – – 3,078

17,423 89,040 98,919



94       Aberdeen Asset Management PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2009

15 Non-current asset investments continued

On 1 October 2007 the Group completed the acquisition of the US equity asset management businesses of Nationwide 
Financial Services Inc. The acquisition included a broad cross-section of US equity strategies in sub-advisory mandates 
for 30 mutual funds and variable insurance trusts amounting to £3.4 billion in assets under management. The 
acquisition was completed for a cash consideration of US$32.0 million (£16.0 million) of which US$6.0 million (£2.9 
million) was paid on completion and US$26.0 million (£13.1 million) was paid on 20 June 2008.

On 27 March 2008 the Group’s wholly owned subsidiary, Aberdeen Property Investors Holding AB, completed the 
acquisition of 100% of the ordinary share capital of DEGI Deutsche Gesellschaft fur Immobilienfonds mbH (DEGI) from 
Dresdner Bank AG. The economic benefit of the acquisition was effective from 1 January 2008 as the Group were 
governing the operating and financial policies of DEGI from that date. The Group therefore adopted 1 January 2008 as 
the acquisition date. DEGI had approximately e6.4 billion (£5.8 billion) of assets under management in a number of 
property funds offering German, European or global commercial property exposure. The acquisition was completed for a 
cash consideration of e110.0 million (£87.4 million).

On 30 May 2008 the Group’s wholly owned subsidiary, Aberdeen Property Investors Holding AB, completed the 
acquisition of Goodman Property Investors Limited (GPI) from Goodman Group. The initial consideration for the 
acquisition was £88.8 million plus an amount of £5.2 million which was linked to the value of GPI's net assets at 
completion. The payment for net assets was subsequently amended to £8.9 million. In addition, further deferred 
consideration of up to £12.5 million consideration is payable dependent on the value of GPI’s assets under management 
flows over a 24 month period from completion and £3.1 million was included in the cost of acquisition as an estimate 
of the deferred consideration payable.

The businesses acquired during the year have been integrated with the Group’s existing business therefore the results 
and cashflows can no longer be separately identified.

The principal companies in which the Group interest was more than 10% at 30 September 2009 were as follows: 

Subsidiary undertakings Principal activity
% 
owned

Country of 
registration

Country of 
operation

Aberdeen Asset Management Asia Limited Fund management 100 Singapore Singapore 
Aberdeen Asset Management Company Limited Fund management 100 Thailand Thailand
Aberdeen Asset Management France SA Fund management 100 France France
Aberdeen Asset Management Japan Limited Fund management 100 Japan Japan
Aberdeen Asset Management Hungary Alapkezelo Zrt Fund management 100 Hungary Hungary
Aberdeen Asset Management Life and Pensions Limited Unit linked pensions 100 England UK 
Aberdeen Asset Management LimitedA Fund management 100 Australia Australia
Aberdeen Asset Management Sdn Bhd Fund management 100 Malaysia Malaysia
Aberdeen Asset Managers Limited Fund management 100 Scotland UK 
Aberdeen Asset Managers Switzerland AG Fund management 100 Switzerland Switzerland
Aberdeen Asset Management, Inc Fund management 100 USA USA 
Aberdeen Fund Management Limited Fund management 100 England UK 
Aberdeen Fund Management Ireland Limited Fund management 100 Ireland Ireland 
Aberdeen Global Services SA Fund management 100 Luxembourg Luxembourg
Aberdeen International Fund Managers Limited Fund distribution 100 Hong Kong Hong Kong
Aberdeen International Investment Management Limited Fund management 100 Hong Kong Hong Kong
Aberdeen Investment Management K. K Fund management 100 Japan Japan
Aberdeen Investment Management Australia Limited Fund management 100 Australia Australia
Aberdeen Investment Management Limited Fund management 100 Singapore Singapore 
Aberdeen Private Wealth Management Limited Fund management 100 Jersey Jersey
Aberdeen Property Investors Holding ABB Property asset management 100 Sweden Sweden
Aberdeen Unit Trust Managers Limited Unit trust management 100 England UK 

A Held by Aberdeen Asset Management Asia Limited.
B Includes the Aberdeen Property Group of companies.

All of the above investments consist of holdings of ordinary share capital. The Company also owns 100% of the deferred 
shares issued by Aberdeen Unit Trust Managers Limited and holds investments in other subsidiary undertakings, the 
results of which are not significant in the Group context.
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16 Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Group

Balance at 
1 Oct 
 2007 
£'000

Recognised
in profit

or loss 
£'000

Recognised
in equity 

£'000

Arising in
business

combination 
£'000

Balance at 
30 Sep 
 2008 
£'000

Recognised
in profit

or loss 
£'000

Recognised
in equity 

£'000

Arising in
business

combination 
£'000

Balance at 
30 Sep 
 2009 
£'000

Intangible assets (28,840)  1,984  – (34,074) (60,930) 2,906 – (53,788) (111,812)

Available-for-sale
financial assets (747)  –  1,010  –  263  – 1,794 – 2,057

Loans and 
borrowings (388)  361  –  – (27) 27 – – –

Employee  
benefit plans  5,101  – (2,279)  –  2,822 (2,400) 7,086 – 7,508

Share-based 
payments  641  1,297  –  –  1,938 (1,271) – – 667

Other items (133)  1,873  –  –  1,740 4,271 (2,342) (1,584) 2,085

Tax loss  
carry-forward  15,413  1,960  –  –  17,373 6,397 – – 23,770

(8,953)  7,475 (1,269) (34,074) (36,821) 9,930 6,538 (55,372) (75,725)

The Group has tax losses which arose in the UK of £85.6 million (2008: £68.3 million) and overseas of £79.1 million 
(2008: £9.6 milllion). Deferred tax assets of £23.8 million (2008: £17.4 million) have been recognised in respect of these 
losses as they will be used to offset taxable profits forecast in future years.

Company

Balance at  
1 Oct
2007

 £’000 

Recognised
in profit

or loss
 £’000 

Recognised
in equity

 £’000 

Balance at  
30 Sep

2008
 £’000 

Recognised
in profit

or loss
 £’000 

Recognised
in equity

 £’000

Arising in
business

combination
 £’000

Balance
at 30 Sep

2009
 £’000

Intangible assets  –    –    –    –    –    –   (45,948) (45,948)

Employee benefit plans  254  –   (129)  125  –    109  –    234 

Other items  25  299  –    324  2,364  –    –    2,688 

Financial instruments (1,191)  412  752 (27)  27  –    –    –   

(912)  711  623  422  2,391  109 (45,948) (43,026)
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 Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

Assets Liabilities Net

Group
2009
£'000

2008
£'000

2009
£'000

2008
£'000

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Intangible assets  –  – (111,812) (60,930) (111,812) (60,930) 
Employee benefits 8,175 4,464 –  – 10,575 4,464 
Tax loss carry-forward 23,770 17,373 –  – 21,370 17,373 
Financial instruments 2,057 236  –  – 2,057 236 
Other items 2,085 2,036  –  – 2,085 2,036 

Net tax assets (liabilities) 36,087  24,109 (111,812) (60,930) (75,725) (36,821) 

Assets Liabilities Net

Company
2009
£'000

2008
£'000

2009
£'000

2008
£'000

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Intangible assets  –  – (45,948) – (45,948) –
Employee benefits  234  125 –  – 234  125 
Other items 2,688  324 –  – 2,688  324
Financial instruments –  – – (27) – (27)

Net tax assets (liabilities) 2,922  449 (45,948) (27) (43,026) 422

The unrecognised deferred tax liability on the Company's investment in subsidiaries at 30 September 2009 was  
£319.5 million (2008: £284.0 million).

17 Trade and other receivables

Group Company

2009
£'000

2008
£'000

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Current assets
Open end fund trustees for units liquidated 23,761  20,140 –  – 
Debtors for open end fund sales 9,332  23,133 –  – 

 33,093  43,273 –  – 
Other trade debtors 31,547 32,368 1,064 459
Amounts due by subsidiary undertakings –  – 181,161 113,957 
Other debtors 20,337 17,774 6,257 2,804 
Accrued income 85,165 69,557 – 24
Prepayments 26,879 28,586 13,586 11,223

197,021 191,558 202,068 128,467

Non-current assets

Other debtors 6,853  8,898  –  – 

18 Stock of units and shares

Group

2009
£'000

2008
£'000

Units and shares in managed funds  468  268 

Stocks of units and shares are held in relation to fund management activities and are classified as held for trading 
current assets.
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19 Investment contract liabilities

The following assets are held by the Group’s life assurance and pooled pensions subsidiaries to meet their  
contracted liabilities.

Group

2009
£'000

2008
£'000

Listed investments 905,229  798,304 
Open end funds 531,611  252,723 
Cash and deposits 17,577  80,537 
Other assets (liabilities)  11,053 (504)

1,465,470  1,131,060 

20 Other investments

Group Company

2009
£'000

2008
£'000

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Listed equities - held for trading 12,295  846 –  – 
Liquid investments of life subsidiaries 21,718  14,595  –  – 

34,013  15,441 –  – 

The net gain on held for trading investments was £988,000 (2008: loss £2,072,000).

21 Cash and cash equivalents

Group Company

2009
£'000

2008
£'000

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Cash at bank and in hand 81,362  82,161 72 85 
Bank overdrafts –  – (91,100) (34,302)

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 81,362  82,161 (91,028) (34,217)

The cash and cash equivalents are all subject to floating rates of interest. Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates 
based on daily bank deposit rates. The book value of cash and cash equivalents approximates their fair value. The 
Group’s exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying value of the assets. 

At 30 September 2009, the Group had £17.4 million (2008: £3.5 million) of undrawn committed borrowing facilities 
under its revolving credit arrangements (note 27).

The carrying amounts of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies:

Group Company

2009
£'000

2008
£'000

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Sterling 22,331 10,270 (94,531) (59,741) 
US dollar 4,888 5,881 1,111 567 
Euro 21,433 41,044 2,390 24,950 
Nordic currencies 16,016 8,102  –  – 
Other currencies 16,694 16,864 2 7 

81,362  82,161 (91,028)  (34,217) 
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22 Assets held for sale

Group Company

2009
£'000

2008
£'000

2009
£'000

2008
£'000

Seed capital investments 4,817  17,596 – 12,075

Management contracts held for sale 23,000 – 23,000 –

27,817 17,596 23,000 12,075

The net gains on assets held for sale was £207,000 (2008: loss £416,000)

Seed capital investments consist of amounts invested in funds when the intention is to dispose of these as soon as 
practicably possible.

Management contracts held for sale were acquired by the Group as part of the acquisition of certain businesses from 
Credit Suisse and agreement was reached on 13 July 2009 to sell these contracts (note15). The sale was completed  
on 5 December 2009.

During the year the Company's investment in Aberdeen Emerging Market Debt fund (Aberdeen Global III) was deemed 
to no longer meet the criteria for held for sale and therefore the investment was reclassified as at 1 July 2009 (note 15).

23 Share capital

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Authorised:

2,000,000,000 (2008: 1,000,000,000) Ordinary shares of 10p 200,000  100,000 
80,000 (2008: 80,000) 6.75% Non-cumulative, non-voting perpetual preference shares of £100 8,000  8,000 

208,000  108,000 

Allotted, called up and fully paid:

1,003,074,522 (2008: 716,984,837) Ordinary shares of 10p 100,307  71,698 
39,994 (2008: 79,926) 6.75% Non-cumulative, non-voting perpetual preference shares of £100 3,999  7,993 

104,306  79,691 

On 20 March 2009 a total of 2,793,036 ordinary shares of 10p each were issued in respect of the conversion of 
£2,999,720 of the 4.5% Convertible bonds 2010.

During the year a total of 42,353,749 ordinary shares of 10p each were issued in respect of the conversion of 39,932 
convertible preference share units.

During the year a total of 240,000,000 ordinary shares of 10p each were issued at an average of 125.2p in respect of 
the acquisition of certain assets and businesses from Credit Suisse. The first part of the acquisition was completed on  
30 April 2009 when 32,526,196 ordinary shares of 10p each were issued. The second and final part of the acquisition 
was completed on 30 June 2009 resulting in the issue of a further 207,473,804 ordinary shares of 10p each.

During the year a total of 942,900 ordinary shares of 10p each were issued at an average price of 59.5p pursuant to the 
exercise of options granted to employees under the 1994 Executive Share Option Scheme.

80,000 convertible preference share units of £1,000 each were issued on 30 June 2005. Each convertible preference 
share unit of £1,000 comprised one preference share and one warrant to subscribe to ordinary shares, of which £800 
relates to the preference share and £200 to the warrant. 

Each preference share is entitled to a non-cumulative dividend accruing at a rate of £67.5 per share per annum payable 
annually in arrears on 30 June in each year (payments subject to the directors' discretion).

The convertible preference shares are perpetual securities and have no maturity date but are redeemable in whole, but 
not in part, only at the option of the Company on 30 June 2012 or any dividend payment date thereafter at a price 
equal to the aggregate of £1,000 and any dividends accrued for the then current dividend period.
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24 Share-based payments

The Group has in place the following share-based payment arrangements: 

 1994 Executive Share Option Scheme
This scheme was established in 1994 and is approved by the Inland Revenue and was approved by the shareholders prior 
to its introduction. In accordance with its rules, options can only be issued within a ten year period and no further 
options can be issued under this scheme.

The following share options granted under the Scheme were in place at 30 September 2009:

Date of award Option price per share Period of exercise 

Number of shares

 Total  Directors

8 December 1999 166p 8 December 2004 - 8 December 2009 103,000 –
8 December 1999 185p 8 December 2004 - 8 December 2009 1,584,000 540,000 
11 June 2003 42p 11 June 2006 - 11 June 2013 805,700 89,000 
23 January 2004 57p 23 January 2007 - 23 January 2014 118,600 – 
23 January 2004 59p 23 January 2007 - 23 January 2014 1,639,900 646,000 

Options may only be exercised if the remuneration committee is satisfied that the Group’s earnings per share have 
increased over a period of three years by 5% per annum in excess of the average growth in the stock markets in which 
the Group’s assets under management are invested.

Full details of options held by directors who served during the financial year are given in the Remuneration report on 
pages 41 to 50. 

The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options is as follows:

Weighted  
average  

exercise price
2009

Number  
of options  

2009 

Weighted  
average  

exercise price
2008

Number  
of options  

2008 

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 5,194,100  6,287,100 
Exercised during the year 59.5p (942,900) 56.9p (993,000)
Lapsed during the year – (100,000)

Outstanding at the end of the year 4,251,200  5,194,100 

Exercisable at the end of the year 4,251,200  5,194,100 

The options outstanding at 30 September 2009 have exercise prices in the range 42p to 185p and a weighted average 
contractual life of 2.6 years (2008: 3.5 years).

The fair value of services received in return for share options granted are measured by reference to the fair value of 
share options granted. The estimate of the fair value of the services received is measured based on a trinomial lattice 
model using a Monte Carlo simulation model for assessing the likelihood of performance conditions being satisfied.
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24 Share-based payments continued

The key assumptions which have been used in the trinomial lattice model to ascertain the fair value of options are  
as follows:

Date option granted
11 June  

2003
23 January  

2004
23 January  

2004

Number of options granted  3,543,000  436,700  4,097,800 
Share price at grant date 42p 57p 59p 
Exercise price 42p 57p 59p 
vesting period 3 years 3 years 3 years
Expected volatility at award date 96.9% 78.9% 78.9%
Risk free rate at grant date  
(based on three month sterling LIBOR)

3.65% 4.07% 4.07%

Expected dividend yield 6.10% 4.50% 4.40%
Average expected term to exercise 7.5 years 7.6 years 7.6 years
Fair value of options £381,000 £120,000 £1,190,000

 2005 Long Term Incentive Plan
The fair value of services received in return for LTIP shares awarded are measured by reference to the fair value of LTIP 
shares awarded. The estimate of the fair value of the services received has been measured based on a trinomial lattice 
model using assumptions for employee exit/forfeiture rates, zero dividend yields (because dividends accrue to the 
employee as from the date of the award) share price and composite volatility and performance conditions.

The key assumptions which have been used in the trinomial lattice model to ascertain the fair value of LTIP shares and 
options are as follows:

Date of award
1 December  

2006
 14 December 

 2007
 17 June  

2008
 10 December  

2008

Number of LTIP shares awarded  1,108,305  696,416  –  385,987 
Number of LTIP options awarded  –  –  20,400,000 –
Share price at award date 171p 166p 130.25p 166p 
vesting period 3 years 3 years 3 years 3 years
Expected volatility at award date 35.7% 37.5% 32.1% 53.8%
Risk free rate at award date  
(based on three month sterling LIBOR)

5.25% 6.50% 5.95% 3.25%

Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 0%
Average expected term to exercise 3 years 3 years 8 years 3 years

2009
Number

2008
Number

Outstanding 1 October 25,827,194 25,645,383
Granted during the year 385,987 20,946,416
Exercised during the year (4,038,400) (19,227,914)
Forfeited during the year (2,085,200) (1,537,146)
Outstanding 30 September 20,089,581 25,827,194
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24 Share-based payments continued

 Deferred share awards
The Group has made the following deferred share awards which do not have ongoing performance conditions, but have 
a time vesting condition:

Number

Date of award

Share price 
on date of 

grant
Original 

award total

Leavers/
forfeited 

awards
vested 
awards

Balance at 
30 Sept 

 2009 vesting

1 December 2005 125.5p 2,155,236 – 2,155,236 – Dec 2008
16 December 2006 190.0p 7,761,822 1,216,806 570,809 5,974,207 Jan 2010
15 March 2007 188.7p 150,498 7,500 51,785 91,213 Dec 2009
1 June 2007 217.0p 614,772 79,157 241,600 294,015 Jun 2009

5 September 2007 176.0p 2,287,360 1,530,241 77,707 679,412 Oct 2010

16 October 2007 189.2p 274,279 74,070 180,094 20,115 Oct 2010

1 December 2007 167.5p 8,879,284 1,108,882 820,275 6,950,127 Dec 2010

17 June 2008 135.2p 127,500 – – 127,500 Jun 2011 - Jun 2013

1 December 2008 88.0p 40,171,397 345,603 2,702,974 37,122,820 Dec 2009 - Dec 2012

1 July 2009 127.0p 2,565,167 185,041 – 2,380,126 Jul 2012

Total 64,987,315 4,547,300 6,800,480 53,639,535

Awards made in respect of annual bonus awards in 2005, 2006 and 2007 vest at the end of a three year vesting period 
subject to the continued employment of the participant. Awards made in respect of annual bonus awards in 2008 vest 
annually in three equal tranches, again subject to the continued employment of the participant.

Weighted 
average share 

price
2009

2009
Number

Weighted 
average share 

price
2008 

2008
Number 

Outstanding 1 October   18,797,338   12,949,087 
Granted during the year   42,736,564   9,281,063 
Exercised during the year 124.1p (4,531,261) 148.2p (2,269,219)

Forfeited during the year (3,363,106) (1,163,593) 

Outstanding 30 September   53,639,535   18,797,338 

Group Company

2009
£'000

2008
£'000

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Employee expenses

Expense arising from the award of shares/options under the LTIP 1,718  8,960 1,486 711
Deferred share awards 23,837 5,756 6,263 5,399

Total expense recognised as employee costs 25,555  14,716 7,749  6,110 
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25 Reserves

Group

Share 
capital
£’000

Share 
premium 
account

£’000

Capital 
redemption 

reserve
£’000

Merger 
reserve

£’000

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

£’000

Fair value 
reserve

£’000

Warrant/
other 

reserve
£’000

Total  
other 

reserves
£’000

Retained 
earnings

£’000

At 1 October 2007  70,888  287,565  31,115  172,690 (3,870)  3,311  19,037  222,283 (158,636)
Total recognised  
income and expense  –  –  –  – (1,425) (3,982)  – (5,407)  51,791 
Arising on the  
issue of shares  8,803  108,445  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 
Share based  
payment charge  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  14,716 
Coupon outstanding on 
perpetual capital securities  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (128)
Dividends paid  
to shareholders  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (54,959)

At 30 September 2008  79,691  396,010  31,115  172,690 (5,295) (671)  19,037  216,876 (147,216)
Total recognised  
income and expense  –  –  –  –  21,725 (4,606)  – 17,119  (11,541) 
Purchase of own shares – – – – – – – – (328)
Arising on the  
issue of shares  24,615  287,204  –  –  –  – (7,986) (7,986)  (1,337) 
Share based  
payment charge  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  25,555 
Coupon outstanding on 
perpetual capital securities  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (169)
Dividends paid  
to shareholders  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (61,547)

At 30 September 2009 104,306  683,214 31,115 172,690 16,430 (5,277) 11,051 226,009 (196,583)
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25 Reserves continued

Company

Share 
capital
£’000

Share 
premium 
account

£’000

Capital 
redemption 

reserve
£’000

Merger 
reserve

£’000

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

£’000

Fair value 
reserve

£’000

Warrant/
other 

reserve
£’000

Total  
other 

reserves
£’000

Retained 
earnings

£’000

At 1 October 2007 70,888  287,565  31,115  172,690  1,008  1,776  19,037  225,626  22,002 
Total recognised  
income and expense  –  –  –  –  – (2,572)  – (2,572)  40,959 
Arising on the  
issue of shares 8,803  108,445  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 
Share based  
payment charge  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  14,716 
Coupon outstanding on 
perpetual capital securities  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (128)
Dividends paid  
to shareholders  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (54,959)

At 30 September 2008 79,691  396,010  31,115  172,690  1,008 (796)  19,037  223,054  22,590 
Total recognised  
income and expense  –  –  –  –  –  2,076  – 2,076  49,576 
Purchase of own shares – – – – – – – – (328)
Arising on the  
issue of shares 24,615  287,204  –  –  –  – (7,986) (7,986)  (1,337) 
Share based  
payment charge  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 25,555
Coupon outstanding on 
perpetual capital securities  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (169)
Dividends paid  
to shareholders  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (61,547)

At 30 September 2009 104,306  683,214 31,115 172,690 1,008 1,280 11,051 217,144 34,340

 Nature and purpose of reserves
 Share premium account

The share premium account is used to record the issue of share capital above par value. This reserve is not distributable 
and can only be reduced with court approval.

 Capital redemption reserve
The capital redemption reserve is created on the cancellation of share capital and the balance reflects the value of 
preference share capital redeemed by the company. This reserve is not distributable. 

 Merger reserve
The merger reserve is used to record share premium on shares issued by way of consideration in respect of acquisitions. 
The realised element of the merger reserve can be used to offset amortisation and impairment of intangible assets 
charged to the income statement. This reserve is not distributable.
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25 Reserves continued

 Warrant reserve
The warrant reserve was created on the issue of the £80,000,000 convertible preference share units in June 2005.  
Each convertible preference share unit issued comprised one preference share and one warrant to subscribe for ordinary 
shares, of which £800 related to the preference share and £200 to the warrant. The balance in the reserve reflects the 
value of unexercised warrants. The equity element of the bonds, net of deferred tax, is shown within warrant and  
other reserves.

 Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the 
financial statements of foreign subsidiaries.

 Fair value reserve
This reserve records fair value changes on available for sale investments until the investments are derecognised.

 Retained earnings
Retained earnings comprises:

• all realised gains and losses through the income statement less dividend distributions;
• actuarial gains and losses recognised in the pension liability;
• deferred tax on actuarial gains and losses;
• transactions relating to equity-settled share-based payments, and all deferred tax movements on share-based 

payments reflected through equity; and
• the purchase and sale of own shares.

The total movements in retained earnings relating to the issue of the LTIP shares represent the value of the shares 
issued to participants in any period, less the annual amortisation of these shares, which is charged through the  
income statement.

The Company reserve is distributable.

2009 2008

Group and 
company

Number  
of shares

% of  
issued  
shares

Cost 
£'000

Market  
value
£'000

Number  
of shares

% of  
issued  
shares

Cost 
£'000

Market  
value
£'000

Own shares 8,204,462 0.8% 15,369 12,307  14,127,564 2.0  26,219  17,801 

These shares are held by the Group’s Employee Benefits Trust for the purpose of satisfying deferred share bonuses that 
will vest in future periods. The maximum number of shares held during the year was 14,127,564.

The Company has the authority to issue shares to meet future deferred share awards.
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26 Perpetual subordinated capital securities

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

US$400 million 7.9% perpetual subordinated capital securities 196,465  196,465 
Coupon outstanding at 30 September 1,646  1,477 

198,111  197,942 

The 7.9% perpetual subordinated capital securities were issued on 29 May 2007. They have no fixed redemption date 
but the Company may, at its sole discretion, redeem all, but not part, of these securities at their principal amount on  
29 May 2012 or any subsequent coupon payment date. In addition, under certain circumstances defined in the terms 
and conditions of the issue, the Company may at its sole discretion:

• redeem all (but not part) of the securities at their principal amount at any time prior to 29 May 2012;
• on any coupon payment date, exchange all (but not part) of the securities for fully paid non-cumulative preference 

shares in the Company. The preference shares would entitle holders to receive a preferential dividend, if declared by 
the board, at a fixed rate of 7.9% per annum of their nominal value. Such preference shares may be redeemed, at 
the Company’s sole option, on any coupon payment date later than five years after their issue.

The Company has the option to defer coupon payments on the securities on any relevant payment date. Deferred 
coupons shall be satisfied only in the following circumstances, all of which occur at the sole option of the Company:

• redemption; or
• substitution by preference shares.

No interest will accrue on any deferred coupon. Deferred coupons will be satisfied by the issue and sale of ordinary 
shares in the Company at their prevailing market value, to a sum as near as practicable to (and at least equal to) the 
relevant deferred coupons. In the event of any coupon deferral the Company would not declare or pay any dividend on 
its ordinary or preference share capital.

Coupon payments are made quarterly in arrear on 28 February, 29 May, 29 August and 29 November in each year from  
29 August 2007.

27 Interest bearing loans and borrowings

Group Company

2009
£'000

2008
£'000

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Non-current liabilities

7.2% subordinated notes 2016 78,154  70,126 78,154  70,126 
Unamortised issue costs (593) (656) (593) (656)
4.5% convertible bonds 2010 –  2,904 –  2,904 
Unamortised issue costs – (34) – (34)
Amount drawn under bank revolving credit facility 150,000 100,000 150,000 100,000

 227,561  172,340 227,561  172,340 

Current liabilities

Amount drawn under bank revolving credit facility 28,331  46,529 28,331  46,529 
Bank overdraft  – – 91,100  34,302 

28,331 46,529 119,431  80,831 

US$125.0 million 7.2% subordinated notes 2016 were issued on 7 July 2006. The notes have a term of ten years 
although the Company has the option, subject to certain restrictions, to prepay all (but not part) of the notes from 8 
July 2011 onwards. Interest is payable semi-annually on 7 July and 7 January each year until 7 July 2011. From 8 July 
2011 each note converts to a floating rate note bearing interest at the LIBOR rate in effect for the applicable quarterly 
interest period plus 2.25%.
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27 Interest bearing loans and borrowings continued

£26.6 million 4.5% convertible bonds 2010 were issued on 8 March 2005. The bonds were convertible into ordinary 
shares of the Company at any time on or after 20 April 2005 at a conversion price of 107.4p (after adjustment for the 
rights issue on 23 September 2005). £23.6 million of these convertible bonds were converted to ordinary shares in 
November 2007 and the balance of £3.0 million were converted on 29 March 2009 (note 23).

The Company entered into a £150.0 million revolving credit and guarantee facility with Lloyds TSB Bank and Barclays 
Capital on 24 July 2009. The facility runs for a two year period and carries an interest rate of 2.75% over LIBOR / 
EUROBOR pa on amounts drawn. A non-utilisation fee of 1.375% pa is charged on undrawn amounts.

The Company entered into a e50.0 million revolving credit facility with BNP Paribas on 11 March 2009. The facility 
runs for a period of 18 months and carries an interest rate of 3.5% over EUROBOR pa on amounts drawn.  
A non-utilisation fee of 1.5% pa is charged on undrawn amounts.

The Company's bank overdraft is part of a Group working capital facility in support of which cross guarantees are 
provided by certain subsidiary undertakings. At 30 September 2009 the net amount guaranteed under this arrangement 
was £nil (2008: £nil). The Company regards such guarantees as insurance contracts and accounts for them accordingly. 
The Group’s bank borrowings are subject to a number of covenants which, in accordance with standard practice, are 
reviewed and discussed with lenders from time to time. The Board, having regard to its business plans is confident that 
the Group will continue to comply with applicable conditions for the foreseeable future.

28 Trade and other payables

Group Company

2009
£'000

2008
£'000

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Open end fund trustees for units created 8,465  25,332 –  – 
Creditors for open end fund repurchases 20,696  18,541 –  – 

29,161  43,873 –  – 

Other trade creditors 14,805  8,787 4,711 3,472
Accruals 109,146 96,876 11,556 27,908
Tax and social security 2,191 4,208 1,334 3,312
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings  –  – 57,776 8,052 
Deferred consideration due on acquisition 3,078 3,078 –  – 
Other creditors 20,003 12,447 850 745

178,384 169,269 76,227 43,489

29 Financial instruments

 i) Designated as held for trading

Group Company

2009
£'000

2008
£'000

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Stock of units and shares in managed funds  468  268 –  – 
Other investments 12,295  846 –  – 
Liquid investments of life subsidiaries 21,718  14,595 –  – 

34,481  15,709 –  – 
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29 Financial instruments continued

 ii) Designated as available for sale investments

Group Company

2009
£'000

2008
£'000

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Unlisted investments 59,903  50,335 23,852  24,684 

Available for sale financial assets consist of investments in ordinary shares, warrants and private equity investments.

The fair value of the unlisted available for sale investments has been estimated using a valuation technique based on 
assumptions that are not supported by observable market prices or rates. The directors believe that the estimated fair 
values resulting from the valuation technique which are recorded in the balance sheet are reasonable and most 
appropriate at the balance sheet date.

 iii) Assets classified as held for sale

Group Company

2009
£'000

2008
£'000

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Seed capital investments 4,817 17,596 – 12,075

Management contracts held for sale 23,000 – 23,000 –

27,817 17,596 23,000 12,075

 Fair values
Set out below is a comparison by category of the carrying amounts and fair values of all the Group and Company's 
financial instruments that are carried in the financial statements.

Group Company

Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value

Group
2009
£’000

2008
£’000

2009
£’000

2008
£’000

2009
£’000

2008
£’000

2009
£’000

2008
£’000

Financial assets

Other investments 59,903 50,335 59,903 50,335 23,852 24,684 23,852 24,684
Investments in subsidiaries – – – – 1,113,217 1,016,327 1,113,217 1,016,327
Other financial investments 1,465,470  1,131,060 1,465,470  1,131,060 – – – –
Other current  
assets investments 34,013  15,441 34,013  15,441 –  – –  – 
Stock of units and shares 468  268 468  268 –  – –  – 
Cash and cash equivalents 81,362  82,161 81,362  82,161 72  85 72  85 
Assets held for sale 27,817  17,596 27,817  17,596 23,000  12,075 23,000  12,075 

Financial liabilities

Interest bearing loans  
and borrowings:

– Fixed rate borrowings 78,154  73,030 76,895  73,052 78,154  73,030 76,895  73,052 
– Floating rate borrowings 178,331  146,529 178,331  146,529 269,431  180,831 269,431  180,831 

Insurance contract liabilities 1,465,470  1,131,060 1,465,470  1,131,060 –  – –  – 

The following summarises the major methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial instruments 
reflected in the above table.
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29 Financial instruments continued

 Securities
The fair value of listed investments is based on market bid prices at the balance sheet date without any deduction for 
transaction costs.

The fair value of unlisted investments have been valued in accordance with International Private Equity and venture 
Capital valuation guidelines for Limited Partnership agreements where possible.

 Interest bearing loans
The fair value of borrowings has been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows at prevailing interest 
rates. The valuations have considered similar issues available in the market and the liquidity of the assets and liabilities.

Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, estimated cash flows are based on management's best estimates and 
the discount rate is a market related rate for a similar instrument at the balance sheet date. Where other pricing models 
are used, inputs are based on market related data at the balance sheet date.

 Interest rate and currency risk profiles
The interest rate and currency profiles of the Group and Company's financial liabilities excluding liabilities relating to 
the Group's life assurance subsidiaries at 30 September were as follows:

2009 2008

Group
Fixed rate

£’000

variable 
rate

£’000
Total

£’000
Fixed rate

£’000

variable 
rate

£’000
Total

£’000

Sterling

Bank revolving credit facility  – 150,000 150,000  –  146,529  146,529 
4.5% convertible bonds 2010 – – –  2,904  –  2,904 

– 150,000 150,000  2,904  146,529  149,433 

Euro

Bank revolving credit facility  – 28,331 28,331  – – –

US dollar

7.2% subordinated notes 2016 78,154 – 78,154  70,126  –  70,126 

78,154 178,331 256,485  73,030  146,529  219,559 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS  CONTINUED
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29 Financial instruments continued

2009 2008

Company
Fixed rate

£’000

variable 
rate

£’000
Total

£’000
Fixed rate

£’000

variable 
rate

£’000
Total

£’000

Sterling

Bank revolving credit facility  – 150,000 150,000  –  146,529 146,529
Bank overdraft – 91,100 91,100  –  34,302 34,302 
4.5% convertible bonds 2010 – – – 2,904  –  2,904 

– 241,100 241,100 2,904 180,831 183,735

Euro

Bank revolving credit facility  – 28,331 28,331  – – –

US dollar

7.2% subordinated notes 2016 78,154 – 78,154  70,126  – 70,126

78,154 269,431 347,585 73,030 180,831 253,861

Interest on the revolving credit facility is at a variable rate of 2.75% above LIBOR / EUROBOR. Further details of the 
liabilities are given in note 27.

The interest rate and currency profiles of the Group and Company’s financial assets excluding liabilities relating to the 
Group's life assurance subsidiaries at 30 September were as follows:

2009 2008

Group
Floating rate

£’000
No interest

£’000
Total

£’000
Floating rate

£’000
No interest

£’000
Total

£’000

Sterling 45,315 44,041 89,356  25,865 21,116 46,981
US dollar 4,888 12,432 17,320 17,964 3,099 21,063
Euro currencies 21,433 1,596 23,029 41,044 – 41,044
Nordic currencies 16,016 35,887 51,903 8,102 23,735 31,837
Other currencies 16,694 5,261 21,955 16,864 8,012 24,876

Total 104,346 99,217 203,563 109,839 55,962 165,801

2009 2008

Company
Floating rate

£’000
No interest

£’000
Total

£’000
Floating rate

£’000
No interest

£’000
Total

£’000

Sterling 5,257 39,141 44,398 1,051 18,605 19,656
US dollar – 910 910 12,075 3,038 15,113
Euro 18 1,596 1,614 28  – 28
Other currencies 2 – 2 6 2,041 2,047

Total 5,277 41,647 46,924 13,160 23,684 36,844

The no interest financial assets do not have a maturity date. They principally comprise available for sale investments and 
assets and other debtors.

The floating rate financial assets principally comprise cash and deposit balances which earn interest at rates which 
fluctuate according to money market rates.
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29 Financial instruments continued

 Foreign net investment
The majority of the Group’s subsidiaries use sterling as their functional and presentation currency. The foreign currency 
net monetary assets of subsidiaries which adopt a different reporting currency are as follows:

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

US dollar 23,300  13,459 
Singapore dollar 3,751 63,162
Australian dollar 23,883 6,195
Nordic currencies (86,553) (75,662)
Euro 18,580 14,480
Other 15,316 11,218

 Financial instruments relating to unit linked contracts
The Group’s life assurance subsidiaries provide unit linked wrappers which avail clients of a number of benefits from 
these pooled arrangements. From the Group’s perspective, the risks and rewards of managing these assets are the same 
as other assets under management as the financial risks and rewards attributable to these assets also fall to be borne by, 
or to the benefit of clients. Hence, while a number of significant financial instruments are recognised in the balance 
sheet in respect of the subsidiary, the key risk to the Group is the impact of the level of the fees which are earned from 
these entities which are directly impacted by the underlying value of the policyholder assets. While by necessity these 
Group subsidiary companies have some insurance risks, these risks are completely reinsured, thereby negating any 
ultimate insurance risk to the Group’s equity holders.

The unit linked assets are matched by the associated insurance contract liabilities disclosed in note 19.

The assets above are all unit linked and held for the sole benefit of the policyholders within Aberdeen Asset 
Management Life and Pensions Limited and Aberdeen Asset Management Pooled Pensions Limited. Investment and 
credit risk in respect of assets and liabilities held within unit linked funds is borne by the policyholders.

30 Provisions

Group 

Provision for 
Investment 

Trust vAT
£'000

Current liabilities

At 1 October 2008 2,000
Utilised in the year (700)

At 30 September 2009 1,300

Following a successful action against HM Revenues and Customs (HMRC) brought jointly by the Association of 
Investment Companies and a UK investment trust, management fees charged to UK investment trusts were deemed to 
be exempt from vAT.

As a result, a number of the Group's UK subsidiaries are in course of seeking repayment of overpaid vAT from HMRC 
and reimbursing their investment trust clients accordingly. Although the Group always complied with vAT legislation in 
place at the relevant time, the amounts to be repaid to investment trusts will exceed the amounts recovered from 
HMRC, and provision was made in 2008 for the expected excess costs. During the year net payments of £700,000 were 
made by the Group.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS  CONTINUED
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31 Deferred income

Group Company

2009
£'000

2008
£'000

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Initial fees on sales of open end funds 841  1,588 –  – 

Initial fees on sales of open end funds are being spread over the average life of the contracts which has been estimated 
at three years.

32 Operating leases

The Group and Company have non-cancellable operating lease rentals which are payable as follows:

Land and buildings
Motor vehicles and  

plant and equipment

Group
2009
£'000

2008
£'000

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Within one year 8,728 7,389 624 434 
Between two and five years 27,822 12,449 745 1,095 
After five years 78,737 60,201  –  – 

115,287 80,039 1,369 1,529 

During the year ended 30 September 2009, £12,476,000 was recognised as an expense in the income statement in 
respect of operating leases (2008: £10,968,000).

Land and buildings
Motor vehicles and  

plant and equipment

Company
2009
£'000

2008
£'000

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Within one year  –  49  –  – 
Between two and five years 5,888  603  –  – 
After five years 60,628  40,513 –  – 

66,516  41,165  –  – 

 Sub-lease receivables
At the year end future minimum rentals under non-cancellab le operating leases were as follows:

Land and buildings

Group
2009
£'000

2008
£'000

Within one year – 75
Between two and five years 294 614
After five years 9,342 6,473

9,636 7,162

Land and buildings

Company
2009
£'000

2008
£'000

Within one year – 75
Between two and five years 294 614
After five years 5,627 3,051

5,921 3,740
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33 Commitments

In 2002 the Group made a commitment to invest up to £10.0 million in the Aberdeen Murray Johnstone Private Equity 
Fund (subsequently renamed Spirit Capital Partners Fund I), a limited partnership managed until 30 June 2008 by its 
wholly owned subsidiary, Aberdeen Asset Managers Limited. Of that amount some £8.2 million has subsequently been 
drawn and a further £1.8 million remains committed but not yet drawn.

34 Retirement benefits

The Group’s principal form of pension provision is by way of three defined contribution schemes operated world-wide. 
The Group also operates three legacy defined benefit schemes in the UK: the CGA Staff Pension Fund, the Murray 
Johnstone Limited Retirement Benefits Plan and the Edinburgh Fund Managers Group plc Retirement & Death Benefits 
Scheme. All three UK defined benefit schemes are closed to new membership and to future service accrual. In addition, 
there is a further defined benefit scheme in Germany as part of the DEGI acquisition, two small schemes within the 
property division and two small schemes in Japan as part of the Credit Suisse acquisition. 

 The total contributions charged to the income statement in respect of the schemes operated by the Group were  
as follows:

2009
£'000

2008
£'000

i) In respect of the Group’s defined contribution schemes: 
 Pension cost charged to operating profit:  UK schemes 7,837  6,787 
  Overseas schemes 5,924 8,322 

13,761 15,109 

ii) In respect of the Group’s defined benefit schemes: 

 Pension cost charged to operating profit:  UK and DEGI schemes 1,248 900 

  Other schemes 1,212 –

2,460 900

The pension surplus and deficits of the Group are summarised as follows:

2009
£'000

2008
£'000

Pension (deficits) surplus

Edinburgh Fund Managers Retirement & Death Benefits Plan (4,776) 5,481
Murray Johnstone Limited Retirement Benefits Plan (22,086)  (10,515) 
CGA Staff Pension Fund (847) (451)
DEGI Pension Plan (4,542) (6,410)

Deficit in main schemes ((4) below) (32,251) (11,895)

Other defined benefit plans (1,164) –

(33,415) (11,895)
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34 Retirement benefits continued

 Disclosure relating to the Group’s defined benefit obligations
The detailed disclosures provided in this note relate to the four main defined benefit schemes operated by the Group. 
They cover the three schemes in the UK and the DEGI scheme in Germany. The remaining schemes, covering schemes in 
Japan, Norway and Finland, are less significant and have a combined deficit of £1.2 million at 30 September 2009 
compared to the combined deficits of £32.3 million for the four main schemes.

The information given in (1) and (4) below reflects the aggregate disclosures in respect of the four main schemes 
operated by the Group. The information provided in (2) relates to the three UK schemes. The information provided in (3) 
relates to the DEGI pension scheme. The information in (5) shows the five year summary for the Group and the 
information in (6) provides the Company disclosures.

1) Plan assets and expected rate of return

2009 2008

£'000 % £'000 % 

Plan assets

Equities and alternatives 49,650 48.9  46,976 52.2
Gilts and other bonds 11,286 11.1  8,362 9.3
LDI funds 32,225 31.8  33,844 37.6
Other 4,629 4.6 – –

Cash 3,671 3.6  818 0.9

101,461 100.0  90,000 100.0

 Basis used to determine the expected rate of return on plan assets
To develop the expected long-term rate of return on assets assumption, the Group considered the current level of 
expected returns on risk-free investments (primarily government bonds), the historical level of risk premium associated 
with the other asset classes in which the portfolio is invested, and the expectations for the future returns of each asset 
class. The expected return for each asset class was then weighted, based on the target asset allocation, to develop the 
expected long-term rate of return on assets assumptions for the portfolio.

2)  Major assumptions used by UK schemes' actuaries

2009 
%

2008
% 

Expected rate of return

Equities and alternatives 7.10 7.60
Gilts and other bonds 4.10 4.60
LDI funds 4.00 4.20
Cash 0.50 5.00

2009 
%

2008 
% 

Discount rate 5.50 7.00
Pension increases

– pre July 1997 accrual (Edinburgh 3%) 3.30 3.50
– post July 1997 accrual 3.30 3.50

Contributory salary increases (applies to Murray Johnstone only) 5.30 5.50
Price inflation 3.30 3.50
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34 Retirement benefits continued

The range of assumptions used to determine the obligations are as follows:

2009 
%

2008 
% 

Discount rate 5.50 7.00
Rate of compensation increase (applies to Murray Johnstone only) 5.30 5.50
Rate of price inflation 3.30 3.50

The weighted average assumptions used to determine the net pension cost are as follows:

2009 
%

2008 
% 

Discount rate 7.00 5.90
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets

– during the financial year 5.84 6.43
Rate of compensation increase (n/a for Edinburgh) 5.50 5.20
Rate of price inflation 3.50 3.20

 Mortality assumptions
The mortality assumptions for the UK defined benefit schemes at 30 September are shown below.

2009 2008

Mortality table for males retiring in the future PMA92MC(YOB) PMA92MC(YOB)
Mortality table for females retiring in the future PFA92MC(YOB) PFA92MC(YOB)
Mortality table current male pensioners PMA92MC(YOB) PMA92MC(YOB)
Mortality table for current female pensioners PFA92MC(YOB) PFA92MC(YOB)

2009 
Years

2008 
Years 

Impact of mortality assumptions

Expected age at death for a male currently aged 40 retiring in the future at age 60 88.0 87.8
Expected age at death for a female currently aged 40 retiring in the future at age 60 90.8 90.7
Expected age at death for a current male pensioner aged 60 86.8 86.6
Expected age at death for a current female pensioner aged 60 89.8 89.5

3)  Major assumptions used by the DEGI scheme actuaries

2009 
%

2008 
% 

Major assumptions used by DEGI scheme actuaries

Discount rate 6.60 6.30
Rate of compensation increase 2.00 3.25
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 6.60 5.40

The mortality tables used for the DEGI scheme were RT2005G.
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34 Retirement benefits continued

4)  Aggregate disclosure obligations

The following disclosure relates to the Group's three UK schemes plus the DEGI scheme in Germany.

2009
£'000

2008
£'000

2007
£'000

2006
£'000

Change in benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of year 106,061  111,067  121,400  106,570 
On acquisition of subsidiary – 9,435 – –
Current service cost 156 – – –
Past service cost (555)  –  –  240 
Interest cost 7,181  7,045  6,131  5,103 
Amendments (387)  –  –  15 
Actuarial loss (gain) recognised 25,349 (18,019) (14,069)  12,163 
Benefits paid from scheme (5,782) (3,467) (2,395) (2,691)

Exchange movement 1,689 – – –

Benefit obligation at end of year 133,712  106,061  111,067  121,400 

Change in scheme assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 94,166  96,398  89,145  76,536 
On acquisition of subsidiary – 374 – –
Transfer (60) – – –
Expected return on scheme assets 5,534  6,145  5,357  4,612 
Actuarial (loss) gain on scheme assets (1,736) (14,396)  58  5,598 
Employer contributions 8,419  9,112  4,233  5,360 
Benefits paid from scheme (5,782) (3,467) (2,395) (2,961)

Exchange movement 920 – – –

Fair value of scheme assets at end of year 101,461  94,166  96,398  89,145 
Restriction on actuarial gain due to asset ceiling  –  –  3,600  – 

Deficit recognised at end of year (32,251) (11,895) (18,269) (32,255)
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2009
£'000

2008
£'000

2007
£'000

2006
£'000

Movement in deficit during the year

Deficit in scheme at beginning of year (11,895) (18,269) (32,255) (30,034)
On acquisition of subsidiary – (9,061) – –
Movement in year
Transfers and amendments 327 – – –
Employer contributions in the financial year 8,419 9,112  4,233 5,360
Pension expense recognised in income statement 
in the financial year (1,248) (900) (774) (746)
Amounts recognised in the SORIE in the financial year (27,085) 7,223  10,527 (6,835)
Exchange movement (769) – – –

Net deficit in scheme at end of year (32,251) (11,895) (18,269) (32,255)

Surplus in scheme at end of year – 5,481 – –
Deficits in schemes at end of year (32,251) (17,376) (18,269) (32,255)

Net deficit in schemes at end of year (32,251) (11,895) (18,269) (32,255)

Amounts recognised in the SORIE in the year include the amount shown above for the Group's main defined benefit schemes 
plus  an actuarial gain of £1,699,000 for other schemes.

The Group expects to pay approximately £5.9 million to the UK defined benefit schemes in the next financial year.

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Expense recognised in the income statement

Interest cost 7,181 7,045 
Expected return on scheme assets (5,534) (6,145)
Current and past service cost (399) –

 1,248  900 

Actual return on scheme assets 3,798 (8,251)

Amount recognised in statement of recognised income and expense

Actuarial losses in the year (27,085) (3,623)
Restriction on actuarial gain recognised due to asset ceiling – (3,600) 

Recognised in statement of recognised income and expense (27,085) (7,223)

Cumulative amount recognised (36,584) (9,499)

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Analysis of net interest cost on pension scheme

Expected return on pension scheme assets 5,534  6,145 
Interest on pension liabilities (7,181) (7,045)
Current and past service cost 399 –

Net interest cost (1,248) (900)
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34 Retirement benefits continued

5)  Five year summary

The following disclosures relate to all Group schemes.

2009
£'000

2008
£'000

2007
£'000

2006
£'000

2005
£'000

Defined benefit schemes - five year history

Benefit obligations at 30 September (138,588) (106,061) (111,067) (121,400) (106,570)
Fair value of plan assets at 30 September 105,173 94,166 92,798 89,145 76,536

Total pension deficit (33,415) (11,895) (18,269) (32,255) (30,034)

Difference between expected and actual return  
on plan assets

 

Amount (1,647) (14,396) 58 5,598 7,973
Percentage of plan assets (1.6%) (15.3%) 0.1% 6.3% 10.4%

Experience gains and losses on benefit obligations

Amount 1,815 6,456 (121) 39 (507)
Percentage of benefited obligations 1.3% 6.1% (0.1%) – (0.5%)

Total gains and losses

Amount (25,386) 7,223 10,527 (6,835) (5,968)
Percentage of benefit obligations (18.3%) 6.8% 9.2% (9.8%) (5.6%)

 Relationship between the Group and the Trustees of the defined benefit schemes
The schemes' assets are held in separate Trustee-administered funds to meet long-term pension liabilities to past 
employees. The Trustees of the funds are required to act in the best interests of the funds' beneficiaries.

6)  Company disclosures

Company

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Net liability for defined benefit obligations at 1 October  451  907 
Contributions paid (334) (200)
Expense recognised in the income statement  58  62 
Actuarial losses (gains) recognised 672 (318)

Net liability for defined benefit obligations at 30 September  847  451 
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35 Related party transactions

In the ordinary course of business, the Company and its subsidiary undertakings carry out transactions with related 
parties, as defined by IAS 24 'Related Party Disclosures'. Material transactions for the year are set out below.

The principal subsidiary undertakings of the Company are shown in note 15. During the year, the Group entered into the 
following transactions with related parties.

a) Compensation of key management personnel of the group

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Short-term employee benefits 5,013 6,051
Share based payments 7,065 8,937
Pension contributions 477 442
Termination benefits 218 1,500

Total 12,773 16,930

Deferred elements of employee benefits outstanding at the year end:
Amounts owed to related parties (including amounts deferred from previous years) 21,197  21,045 

The remuneration policy is described in more detail in the Remuneration report on pages 41 to 50.

b) Transactions with subsidiaries

Details of transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company are  
shown below:

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Interest receivable 4,330 4,771 
Interest payable 191 167 
Management fees 43,875 55,681 
Dividends 95,637 75,938 
Amounts due from subsidiaries 181,161 113,957 
Amounts due to subsidiaries 57,776 8,052 

c)  Transactions and balances with related parties

 Post employment benefit plans
The Group operates and participates in several post employment benefit plans as detailed in note 34.

The Group contributed the following amounts to defined benefit and defined contribution plans and had amounts 
outstanding at 30 September each year as follows:

Employer 
contributions

Outstanding at
30 September

2009 
£'000

2008 
£'000

2009 
£'000

2008 
£'000 

CGA Staff Pension Fund  334  200  –  – 
Murray Johnstone Retirement Benefits Plan 2,400  2,573  –  – 
Edinburgh Fund Managers Group plc Retirement & Death Benefits Plan 2,213  2,144  –  – 
DEGI Pension Plan 3,472 4,195  –  – 
Other defined benefit plans (835) – – –
Defined contribution schemes 13,761  15,109  –  – 
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35 Related party transactions  continued

d) Transactions with parties with significant influence

Since the acquisition by the Group of certain businesses from Credit Suisse on June 30 2009, Credit Suisse have held in 
excess of 20% of the ordinary shares of the Company and are entitled to board representation. Consequently, 
transactions between the Group and Credit Suisse are considered to be related party transactions.

The following transactions have taken place between the two entities during the year:

£'000

Outstanding at 
30 Sep 2009

£'000 

Sub-advisory fees received on pooled funds 12,127 –

Administration and distribution fees paid to Credit Suisse (2,392) –

9,735 7,898

Costs in respect of transitional services and separation (7,849) (7,849)

36 Contingent liabilities

The Group may, from time to time, be subject claims, actions or proceedings in the normal course of its business. While 
there can be no assurances, the directors believe, based on information currently available to them, that the likelihood 
of a material outflow of economic benefits is remote.

37 Financial risk management

 Overview
The Group is exposed to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

• credit risk
• liquidity risk
• market risk

Information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks is provided in this note, which describes the Group’s 
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital.

The Board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and ongoing management of the Group’s risk 
management framework and the implementation and operation of the Board's policies are handled by the Group’s risk 
management committee.

The Group’s audit committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management 
policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced  
by the Group. Internal audit assist the Group audit committee in its oversight role by undertaking both regular and  
ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures and report the results of these reviews directly to the  
audit committee.

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems 
are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group, through its training 
and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in 
which all employees are involved and understand their roles and obligations.

 Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a client or counterparty to a financial instrument is unable to pay 
in full amounts when due, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers. Debt levels are monitored 
locally by senior management and historically the level of default has not been significant and in the majority of cases 
there is an ongoing relationship with the client.
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37 Financial risk management continued

 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due or can only do so 
at a significantly increased cost. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will 
always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without 
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation. The Group prepares regular cashflow forecasts 
for the Board and management board and monitors cash movements closely in order to manage each resource efficiently.

 Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices, will 
affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management 
is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk.

Interest on the Group’s borrowings is denominated in currencies that match the cash flows generated by the underlying 
operations of the Group, primarily Sterling, Euro and US dollars. This provides an economic hedge and no derivatives are 
entered into.

The Group’s investment in its US subsidiary is hedged by the Group’s US dollar 7.2% subordinated notes 2016, which 
mitigates the currency risk arising from the subsidiary's net assets. The Group’s investments in other subsidiaries are not 
hedged as those currency positions are considered to be long-term in nature. No ineffectiveness was recognised in the 
income statement.

Equity price risk arises from available-for-sale equity securities. These securities are managed on an individual basis and 
all buy and sell decisions are approved by the Group management board.

 Unit-linked assets
The Group’s balance sheet contains a significant level of assets relating to the Group’s life and pensions subsidiary for 
which the risks and rewards fall to the benefit of or are borne by the underlying policyholders. Therefore the investment 
contract liabilities shown in the Group’s balance sheet are equal and opposite in value to the assets held on behalf of 
the policyholders. As a result the Group has no direct exposure to fluctuations in the value of assets which are held on 
behalf of policyholders. The Group’s exposure in relation to these assets lies in the revenue earned from the assets 
which varies in line with the movement in value of the assets. The Group has no exposure to fluctuations in the value of 
the assets arising from changes in market prices or credit default.

 Stock of units and shares
These represent units and shares of open end investment companies (OEICs) which are operated and managed by the 
Group. These are funds into which both institutional and retail investors can invest and the Group maintains a stock of 
units and shares in these funds, in order to facilitate the creation and redemption of units by investors. The Group’s risk 
management committee has set specific limits for the overall value of units which can be held by the Group at any one 
time and also placed a limit on the value of units held in any single fund.

 Trade debtors and accrued income
Trade debtors and accrued income represent amounts recognised in revenue in the Group income statement which have 
not been settled by clients. The majority of the Group’s asset management fees accrue based on daily, month-end or 
quarter-end asset values except performance fees which typically are earned based on annual performance. Fees are 
billed to clients as soon as values are available and settlement is due within agreed contractual terms. As a result, the 
average level for debtors and accrued income outstanding, at any point in time, will represent approximately four 
months revenue.

The Group, in some situations, may be exposed to a concentration of credit risk, particularly from some of its larger 
clients or groups of connected clients. This may arise during the period from recognition of management fees in the 
income statement and settlement of fees by clients. very few clients have external credit ratings.

 Open end fund debtors
The Group operates and manages a number of OEIC's and in doing so it seeks, as far as possible, to match the purchase 
and sale of investments in order to match the receipt or payment of funds from or to clients. Where these positions are 
not matched the Group may be required to fund any shortfall although due to the short settlement period for these 
transactions the risk relating to unsettled transactions is considered to be small. In addition should any investor default 
on any payment due the Group would be entitled to recover any costs from the investor. 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS  CONTINUED
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37 Financial risk management continued

 Cash and cash equivalents
The Group adopts a low risk strategy in respect of its treasury management, at all times ensuring, as far as possible, that 
its capital is preserved and financial risks are managed in line with the Group’s risk management policy which is 
designed to manage the risks associated with the Group’s cash and cash equivalent assets.

The treasury function for the Group is managed on a daily basis by the Group finance department who manage the 
Group’s cash resources within guidelines set by the board who receive regular reports on both the treasury and 
regulatory positions for the Group.

The main parameters within which the treasury function operates include: 

• Cash placed on deposit
• Deposits are only placed with approved counterparties

Foreign currency risk is managed in order to minimize, where possible, the risk of movement in exchange rates. This 
involves the repatriation of cash held by overseas subsidiaries to Sterling and this is achieved by way of dividends from 
subsidiaries as well as the settlement of intercompany transfer pricing arrangements.

Cash placed on deposit may be subject to changes in interest rates and the Group manages its deposits to maximise 
the returns but at the same time ensuring that the Group’s working capital requirements can be met.

 Management of capital
The Board's policy with respect to capital is to maintain a strong capital base in order to maintain investor, creditor and 
market confidence and to provide a sufficient base to sustain the future development of the business, while at the same 
time ensuring compliance with regulatory capital requirements. 

The Company's ordinary shares are listed on the London Stock Exchange and the Board monitors the composition of the 
shareholder base. 

Details of substantial interests in the share capital of the Company are provided in the Directors' report on page 38. 
Movements in share capital during the year which include new shares issued to finance acquisitions are provided in note 
24. The Board gives careful consideration to the appropriate funding structure for each acquisition which in the past 
have been structured to include both debt and equity funding.

From time to time the Group purchases its own shares on the market; the timing of these purchases depends on market 
prices. Primarily the shares are intended to be used for issuing shares under the Group’s share-based payment schemes. 
Buy and sell decisions are made on a specific transaction basis by the Group management board.

 Working capital
The Group monitors the level of its working capital closely to ensure that it has sufficient cash available to meet its 
liabilities as they become due. In addition, the Group’s treasury function monitors cash balances on a daily basis.

 Regulatory capital requirements
In accordance with the Capital Requirements Directive (CRD) the Group is required to maintain a minimum level of 
capital as prescribed in the UK by the Financial Services Authority (FSA).

The Group has been granted a waiver obtained from the FSA from the requirement to meet the minimum capital 
requirement under the consolidated supervision rules of the CRD. The waiver has been in place since 1 December 2007 
and is currently effective until 31 December 2011.

At 30 September 2009 there were 40 regulated companies in the Group, ten of which are registered in the United 
Kingdom and are regulated by the FSA. With the exception of Aberdeen Asset Management Life and Pensions Limited 
and Aberdeen Asset Management Pooled Pensions Limited, which are regulated insurance firms, all others are regulated 
investment firms. Only the regulated investment firms are part of the Group consolidation for regulatory capital 
reporting purposes. The Group has 30 overseas regulated companies all of which are subject to regulatory capital 
requirements which are determined by their local regulator.

The measurement of Capital Resources and Capital Resource Requirements (CRR), which are referred to as the Pillar 1 
capital requirements under CRD, are set out in regulatory rules. The CRR for UK regulated investment firms is the  
higher of:

• the sum of the credit risk capital requirement and the market risk capital requirement; and
• the fixed overhead requirement
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The credit risk relates to the risk of a third party becoming unable to meet its obligations to a firm. The risk is calculated 
by using risk weighted percentages which are applied to the various exposure amounts. Market risk represents the risk of 
a loss being incurred from fluctuations in exchange rates, calculated as a percentage of the total of the long or short 
positions, denominated in foreign currencies, whichever is the greater. The fixed overhead requirement is calculated as a 
quarter of a firm's relevant fixed annual expenditure in the year's audited financial statements.

The regulated companies are required to submit financial returns to the FSA, or the local regulatory authority for 
overseas companies, setting out the calculation of the regulatory capital surplus (or deficit). The Group’s regulated 
companies are required to submit returns quarterly or semi-annually and the Group must submit a consolidated return 
semi-annually.

The Group is required, as part of the CRD, to conduct an Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP), referred 
to as Pillar 2 capital requirements. The objective of this process is to ensure that firms have adequate capital to enable 
them to manage their risks not deemed to be adequately covered under the Pillar 1 minimum requirements. This is a 
forward looking exercise which includes stress testing on major risks, considering how the firm would cope with a 
significant market downturn for example, and an assessment of the Group’s ability to mitigate the risks.

All the regulated companies in the Group maintained surpluses of regulatory capital throughout the year.

38 Analysis of risks arising from financial instruments

This note presents a numerical analysis of the Group’s exposure to financial risk, as described in note 37. The Group’s 
direct and indirect exposure to financial risks arising from financial instruments and the Group’s objectives, policies  
and processes for measuring and managing risk and the management of the Group’s capital resources are described  
in note 37.

Disclosures relating to policyholder unit linked assets and liabilities in respect of the Group’s life and pensions  
subsidiary have been excluded from this analysis as the risks and rewards from these assets and liabilities rest with  
the policyholders.

 Credit risk
i)  Maximum exposure to credit risk
The maximum exposure of each class of financial assets is the carrying value of these assets which are shown below.

Group Company

2009
£'000

2008
£'000

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Designated as held for trading

Stock of units and shares in managed funds  468  268  –  – 
Other investments 12,295 846  –  – 
Liquid investments of pensions subsidiaries 21,718  14,595  –  – 

Available for sale financial assets

Other investments 59,903 50,335 23,852 24,684 

Assets classified as held for sale

Seed capital investments 4,817 17,596 – 12,075

Loans and receivables

Open end fund trustees for units liquidated 23,761  20,140  –  – 
Debtors for open end fund sales 9,332  23,133  –  – 
Trade debtors 31,547  32,368 1,064 459
Accrued income 85,165  69,557 – 24
Other debtors 20,337 17,774 6,257 2,804
Cash and cash equivalents 81,362  82,161  72  85 

350,705 328,773 31,245  40,131 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS  CONTINUED
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38 Analysis of risks arising from financial instruments continued

An analysis of the financial assets showing the credit rating of the counterparties is set out below:

 Group

As at 30 September 2009
AAA

£’000
AA

£’000
A

£’000

Not
rated
£’000

Total
£’000

Designated as held for trading

Stock of units and shares in managed funds  – – – 468 468

Other investments – – – 12,295 12,295

Liquid investments of pensions subsidiaries – – – 21,718 21,718

Available for sale financial assets

Other investments – – – 59,903 59,903

Assets classified as held for sale

Seed capital investments – – – 4,817 4,817

Loans and receivables

Open end fund trustees for units liquidated – – – 23,761 23,761

Debtors for open end fund sales – – – 9,332 9,332

Trade debtors – – – 31,547 31,547

Accrued income – – – 85,165 85,165

Other debtors – – – 20,337 20,337

Cash and cash equivalents – 14,766 61,966 4,630 81,362

– 14,766 61,966 273,973 350,705

As at 30 September 2008
AAA

£’000
AA

£’000
A

£’000

Not
rated
£’000

Total
£’000

Designated as held for trading

Stock of units and shares in managed funds  –  –  –  268  268 
Other investments  –  –  – 846 846 
Liquid investments of pensions subsidiaries  –  –  – 14,595 14,595 

Available for sale financial assets

Other investments  –  –  – 50,335 50,335 

Assets classified as held for sale

Seed capital investments  –  –  – 17,596 17,596

Loans and receivables

Open end fund trustees for units liquidated  –  –  –  20,140  20,140 
Debtors for open end fund sales  –  –  – 23,133 23,133 
Trade debtors  –  –  – 32,368 32,368 
Accrued income  –  –  – 69,557 69,557 
Other debtors  –  –  – 17,774 17,774 
Cash and cash equivalents  – 66,562 15,566 33 82,161 

 – 66,562 15,566 246,645 328,773
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 Company

As at 30 September 2009
AAA

£’000
AA

£’000
A

£’000

Not
rated
£’000

Total
£’000

Available for sale financial assets

Other investments – – – 23,852 23,852

Loans and receivables

Trade debtors – – – 1,064 1,064

Other debtors – – – 6,257 6,257

Cash and cash equivalents – 51 – 21 72

– 51 – 31,194 31,245

As at 30 September 2008
AAA

£’000
AA

£’000
A

£’000

Not
rated
£’000

Total
£’000

Available for sale financial assets

Other investments  –  –  – 24,684 24,684

Designated as held for sale

Seed capital investments  –  –  –  12,075 12,075 

Loans and receivables

Trade debtors  –  –  – 459 459
Accrued income  –  –  – 24 24
Other debtors  –  –  – 2,804 2,804
Cash and cash equivalents  – 58  –  27 85

 –  58  – 40,073 40,131
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38 Analysis of risks arising from financial instruments continued

ii)  Analysis of ageing of financial assets
 Group

As at 30 September 2009

Neither past 
due nor 

impaired
£’000

Less than 
 30 days

£’000

Between  
30 and  

90 days
£’000

Between  
90 days 

 and 1 year
£’000

Beyond  
1 year
£’000

Total
£’000

Designated as held for trading

Stock of units and shares in managed funds  468 – – – – 468

Other investments 12,295 – – – – 12,295

Liquid investments of life and pensions subsidiary 21,718 – – – – 21,718

Available for sale financial assets

Other investments 59,903 – – – – 59,903

Assets classified as held for sale

Seed capital investments 4,817 – – – – 4,817

Loans and receivables

Open end fund trustees for units liquidated 23,761 – – – – 23,761

Debtors for open end fund sales 9,332 – – – – 9,332

Trade debtors 24,707 2,717 2,743 607 773 31,547

Other debtors 20,337 – – – – 20,337

Accrued income 85,165 – – – – 85,165

Cash and cash equivalents 81,362 – – – – 81,362

343,865 2,717 2,743 607 773 350,705

As at 30 September 2008

Neither past 
due nor 

impaired
£’000

Less than 
 30 days

£’000

Between  
30 and  

90 days
£’000

Between  
90 days 

 and 1 year
£’000

Beyond  
1 year
£’000

Total
£’000

Designated as held for trading

Stock of units and shares in managed funds  268  –  –  –  –  268 
Other investments  846  –  –  –  –  846 
Liquid investments of life and pensions subsidiary  14,595  –  –  –  –  14,595 

Available for sale financial assets

Other investments  50,335  –  –  –  –  50,335 

Assets classified as held for sale

Seed capital investments 17,596  –  –  –  – 17,596

Loans and receivables

Open end fund trustees for units liquidated  20,140  –  –  –  –  20,140 
Debtors for open end fund sales  23,133  –  –  –  –  23,133 
Trade debtors  15,250 8,892 5,409 2,732 85 32,368
Other debtors 17,774  –  –  –  – 17,774
Accrued income 69,557  –  –  –  –  69,557 
Cash and cash equivalents  82,161  –  –  –  –  82,161 

311,655 8,892 5,409 2,732 85 328,773
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 Company

As at 30 September 2009

Neither past 
due nor 

impaired
£’000

Less than 
 30 days

£’000

Between 
 30 and  
90 days

£’000

Between 
 90 days 

and 1 year
£’000

Beyond  
1 year
£’000

Total
£’000

Available for sale financial assets

Other investments 23,852 – – – – 23,852

Loans and receivables

Trade debtors 993 2 53 16 – 1,064

Other debtors 6,257 – – – – 6,257

Cash and cash equivalents 72 – – – – 72

31,174 2 53 16 – 31,245

As at 30 September 2008

Neither past 
due nor 

impaired
£’000

Less than 
 30 days

£’000

Between 
 30 and  
90 days

£’000

Between 
 90 days 

and 1 year
£’000

Beyond  
1 year
£’000

Total
£’000

Available for sale financial assets

Other investments 24,684  –  –  –  – 24,684 

Assets classified as held for sale

Seed capital investments 12,075  –  –  –  – 12,075

Loans and receivables

Trade debtors  378 45 7 29  – 459
Other debtors 2,804  –  –  –  – 2,804
Accrued income  24  –  –  –  –  24 
Cash and cash equivalents 85  –  –  –  – 85

40,050 45 7 29 – 40,131

iii) Impairment losses
Details of impairment of financial assets at 30 September are as follows:

Group

2009
£'000

2008
£'000

Trade debtors provision:

Balance at 1 October  135  135 
Bad debt charge in the year – 125
Utilised in the year – (125)

Balance at 30 September 135  135 
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iv) Concentration risk
At 30 September 2009 the Group had three (2008: one) individual clients with greater than £1.0 million outstanding. 
The total outstanding was £5.9 million (2008: £1.5 million) of which £4.9 million was paid during October 2009.

 Liquidity risk - Group
The Group has a committed £150.0 million revolving credit facility in place with Lloyds TSB Bank and Barclays Capital 
and a further committed revolving credit facility of e50.0 million with BNP Paribas. Details of these facilities are 
disclosed in note 27. 

The expected cashflows related to the Group’s financial liabilities are as follows:

As at 30 September 2009

Within  
1 year or 

repayable 
 on demand

£’000

Within
1–2 years

£’000

Within
2–5 years

£’000

More than
5 years

£’000
Total

£’000

Bank revolving credit facilities 29,382 158,929 – – 188,311

7.2% subordinated notes 2016 – – – 116,218 116,218

Trade and other payables
– Trade creditors 14,805 – – – 14,805

– Other creditors 20,003 – – – 20,003

– Accruals 109,146 – – – 109,146

173,336 158,929 – 116,218 448,483

As at 30 September 2008

Within  
1 year or 
repayable 

 on demand
£’000

Within
1–2 years

£’000

Within
2–5 years

£’000

More than
5 years

£’000
Total

£’000

Bank revolving credit facility  46,529  100,000  –  –  146,529 
4.5% convertible bonds 2010  –  2,904  –  –  2,904 
7.2% subordinated notes 2016  –  –  –  70,126  70,126 
Trade and other payables  

– Trade creditors 8,787 – – – 8,787
– Other creditors 12,447 – – – 12,447
– Accruals 96,876 – – – 96,876

164,639 102,904  –  70,126  337,669 
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 Liquidity risk - Company
The expected cashflows related to the Company's financial liabilities are as follows:

As at 30 September 2009

Within  
1 year or 

repayable 
 on demand

£’000

Within
1–2 years

£’000

Within
2–5 years

£’000

More than
5 years

£’000
Total

£’000

Bank revolving credit facility 29,382 158,929 – – 188,311

Bank overdraft 91,100 – – – 91,100

7.2% subordinated notes 2016 – – – 116,218 116,218

Trade and other payables
– Trade creditors 4,711 – – – 4,711

– Other creditors 850 – – – 850

– Accruals 11,556 – – – 11,556

137,599 158,929 – 116,218 412,746

As at 30 September 2008

Within  
1 year or 
repayable 

 on demand
£’000

Within
1–2 years

£’000

Within
2–5 years

£’000

More than
5 years

£’000
Total

£’000

Bank revolving credit facility  46,529 100,000  –  –  146,529 
Bank overdraft  34,302  –  –  –  34,302 
4.5% convertible bonds 2010  –  2,904  –  –  2,904 
7.2% subordinated notes 2016  –  –  –  70,126  70,126 
Trade and other payables

– Trade creditors  3,472  –  –  – 3,472
– Other creditors 745  –  –  –  745 
– Accruals 27,908  –  –  – 27,908

112,956  102,904  –  70,126 285,986

 Market risk
i) Market price risk
The following financial assets are exposed to market risk:

Group Company

2009
£'000

2008
£'000

2009
£'000

2008
£'000 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial investments  12,295  846  –  – 
Stock of units and shares  468  268  –  – 

Available for sale financial assets

Financial investments 59,903  50,335 23,852  24,684 

72,666  51,449 23,852  24,684 

The Group’s defined benefit pension schemes hold assets which are exposed to market price risk. Details of these assets 
are shown in note 34.
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ii)  Currency risk
The Group is exposed to currency risk in respect of the following assets and liabilities:

i)  financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies; and 
ii)  the foreign currency risk of net assets of foreign operations.

Details of the Groups exposure to currency risk are provided in note 29.

iii)  Interest-rate risk
The carrying value and maturity profile of the Group and Company's financial instruments that are exposed to interest 
rate risk are shown in the following tables:

 Group

As at 30 September 2009

Within
1 year
£’000

Within
1–2 years

£’000

Within
2–5 years

£’000

More than
5 years

£’000

Floating rates 

Cash and cash equivalents 81,362 – – –

Bank revolving credit facility (28,331) (150,000) – –

53,031 (150,000) – –

As at 30 September 2008

Within
1 year
£’000

Within
1–2 years

£’000

Within
2–5 years

£’000

More than
5 years

£’000

Floating rates 

Cash and cash equivalents  82,161  –  –  – 
Bank revolving credit facility (46,529)  (100,000)  –  – 

35,632 (100,000)  – –

 Company

As at 30 September 2009

Within
1 year
£’000

Within
1–2 years

£’000

Within
2–5 years

£’000

More than
5 years

£’000

Floating rates 

Cash and cash equivalents 72 – – –

Bank overdraft (91,100) – – –

Bank revolving credit facility (28,331) (150,000) – –

(119,359) (150,000) – –

As at 30 September 2008

Within
1 year
£’000

Within
1–2 years

£’000

Within
2–5 years

£’000

More than
5 years

£’000

Floating rates 

Cash and cash equivalents 85  –  –  – 
Bank overdraft (34,302)  –  –  – 
Bank revolving credit facility (46,529)  (100,000)  –  – 

(80,746) (100,000)  – –
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v) Sensitivity analysis
The following analysis provides an indication of the impact of changes in the significant market risk variables on the fair 
value and cash flows of the Group's financial instruments.

The sensitivity analysis covers the financial instruments at each of the balance sheet dates and assumes changes in 
market variables. It should ,however, be noted that due to the inherent uncertainty in world financial markets the 
assumptions made may differ significantly from the actual outcome, particularly as market risks tend to be 
interdependent and are therefore unlikely to move in isolation.

The following assumptions have been made in respect of the market risks:

• Sterling exchange rates are assumed to increase or decrease by 10% 
• Market interest rates are assumed to increase or decrease by 1% 
• Fair values of investments are assumed to increase or decrease by 10% at each reporting date

The impact of the assumptions on the risk variables, net of tax, are as follows:

 Group

As at 30 September 2009

Impact on 
profit or loss 

£’000

Impact on 
profit or loss 

£’000

Impact on
equity 
£’000

Impact on
equity 
£’000

Exchange rate movement +10% -10% +10% -10%

Currency
Sterling/US$ exchange rates 405 (405) 6,083 (6,083)

Sterling/Euro 82 (82) 690 (690)

Fair value movement +10% -10% +10% -10%

Investments
Sterling equity prices 1,197 (1,197) 1,996 (1,996)

Interest rate movement +1% -1% +1% -1%

Sterling market interest rates (776) 776 (776) 776

As at 30 September 2008

Impact on 
profit or loss 

£’000

Impact on 
profit or loss 

£’000

Impact on
equity 
£’000

Impact on
equity 
£’000

Exchange rate movement +10% -10% +10% -10%
Currency
Sterling/US$ exchange rates 364 (364) 4,906 (4,906)
Sterling/Euro – – 4,104 (4,104)
Fair value movement +10% -10% +10% -10%
Investments
Sterling equity prices 1,271 (1,271) 2,083 (2,083)
Interest rate movement +1% -1% +1% -1%
Sterling market interest rates (264) 264 (264) 264
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 Company

As at 30 September 2009

Impact on 
profit or loss 

£’000

Impact on 
profit or loss 

£’000

Impact on
equity 
£’000

Impact on
equity 
£’000

Exchange rate movement +10% -10% +10% -10%

Currency
Sterling/US$ exchange rates 405 (405) 7,724 (7,724)

Sterling/Euro 82 (82) 2,672 (2,672)

Fair value movement +10% -10% +10% -10%

Investments
Sterling equity prices 823 (823) 1,647 (1,647)

Interest rate movement +1% -1% +1% -1%

Sterling market interest rates (1,725) 1,725 (1,725) 1,725

As at 30 September 2008

Impact on 
profit or loss 

£’000

Impact on 
profit or loss 

£’000

Impact on
equity 
£’000

Impact on
equity 
£’000

Exchange rate movement +10% -10% +10% -10%
Currency
Sterling/US$ exchange rates 364 (364) 5,501 (5,501)
Sterling/Euro – – 3 (3)
Fair value movement +10% -10% +10% -10%
Investments
Sterling equity prices 857 (857) 1,669 (1,669)
Interest rate movement +1% -1% +1% -1%
Sterling market interest rates (1,078) 1,078 (1,078) 1,078

39 Post balance sheet event

On 16 October 2009, the Company agreed terms for the issue of 3.5% senior unsecured convertible bonds 2014. The 
proceeds of the issue, of £90.0 million less expenses, will be used to repay a portion of the amounts drawn under the 
Company’s bank revolving credit facilities and thus extend the Company’s average debt profile into the medium term at 
a fixed rate. Closing, settlement and listing of the convertible bonds is expected on or about 17 December 2009.
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Responsibility statement

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge: 

• the financial statements, prepared in accordance with the applicable set of accounting standards give a true and fair view 
of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the company and the undertakings included in the 
consolidation taken as a whole; and

• the directors' report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the 
issuer and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a description of the principal 
risks and uncertainties that they face.

For and on behalf of the board

Scott E Massie
Secretary

9 December 2009
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Five year summary

2009 
£'000

2008
£'000

2007 
£'000

2006 
£'000

2005 
£'000

Revenue 421,897 430,086 347,843 302,124 156,124

Operating expenses
 – Other (325,900) (330,794) (251,299) (227,903) (123,215)
 – Exceptional integration costs (44,498) (25,002) (20,301) (33,282) –
 – Amortisation and impairment of goodwill 
  and intangibles (30,136) (13,785) (9,404) (9,847) –
 – Exceptional release of provisions – – (46,776) (236) 2,600
Total operating expenses (400,534) (369,581) (327,780) (271,268) (120,615)

Other operating income (282) 4,853 12,107 26,306 11,047
Operating profit before goodwill and intangibles 
amortisation, impairment provisions and exceptional  
operating items 95,715 100,016 99,984 82,146 35,076
Amortisation of goodwill and intangibles, impairment 
provisions and exceptional operating items (30,136) (13,785) (9,404) (9,847) –
Exceptional gains and charges (44,498) (20,873) (58,410) (15,137) 11,468
Operating profit 21,081 65,358 32,170 57,162 46,556
Net finance costs (10,611) (4,901) (8,497) (3,315) (14,897)
Share of results of associates – – – – (12)

Profit before taxation 10,470 60,457 23,673 53,847 31,647
Tax on profit on ordinary activities (3,774) (13,610) 6,970 (9,975) (5,869)

Profit for the year 6,696 46,847 30,643 43,872 25,778

Earnings (loss) per share - basic

Before goodwill and intangibles amortisation, 
impairment provisions and exceptional costs 6.52p 9.45p 12.29p 9.52p 4.68p
After goodwill and intangibles amortisation, 
impairment provisions and exceptional costs (1.71p) 4.57p 3.61p 6.41p 6.68p

Earnings per share - diluted

Before goodwill and intangibles amortisation, 
impairment provisions and exceptional costs 6.31p 9.01p 11.09p 8.95p 4.60p

After goodwill and intangibles amortisation, 
impairment provisions and exceptional costs (1.71p) 4.52p 3.50p 6.27p 6.64p

Dividend per share 6.0p 5.80p 5.50p 4.40p 3.00p

Assets under management at year end £146.2bn £111.1bn £95.3bn £73.2bn £59.7bn



134       Aberdeen Asset Management PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2009

Notice of Meeting

Notice is hereby given that the twenty-seventh Annual General Meeting of Aberdeen Asset Management PLC will be held at  
The Marcliffe Hotel, North Deeside Road, Aberdeen, AB15 9YA at 12.00 noon on 21 January 2010 for the following purposes:

For ease of reference, explanatory notes are attached to each resolution. The formal resolutions are contained in bold text. 
Resolutions 1 to 11 will be proposed as ordinary resolutions.

1 To receive the directors’ report and accounts for the year ended 30 September 2009 together with the 
auditors’ report thereon.

 Each financial year, the directors are required to present to the meeting the audited accounts and the directors’ and 
auditor’s reports for the financial year. 

2 To declare a final dividend of 3.2p per ordinary share of 10p each in the capital of the Company (ordinary 
share).

 The Board recommends that a final dividend of 3.2p per ordinary share is paid. If approved by the shareholders,  
this dividend will be paid on 28 January 2010 to ordinary shareholders on the register of members at 5.00 pm on  
11 December 2009.

3 To reappoint KPMG Audit Plc as auditors and to authorise the directors to agree their remuneration.

 The Company’s auditors must offer themselves for reappointment at each Annual General Meeting at which accounts are 
presented. On the advice of the audit committee, the Board proposes that KPMG Audit Plc be reappointed as auditor of 
the Company.

4 To re-elect as a director Sir Malcolm Rifkind who retires by rotation.

5 To re-elect as a director Mr D H Waters who retires by rotation.

6 To re-elect as a director Mr C G H Weaver who retires by rotation.

7 To elect as a director Mr S R v Troughton who was appointed during the year.

8 To elect as a director Mr G W Fusenig who was appointed after the year end.

9 To elect as a director Mr K Miyanaga who was appointed after the year end.

 The Company’s Articles of Association provide that, one third of the directors must retire by rotation at each Annual 
General Meeting and that no director may serve beyond three years without offering themselves for re-election by the 
shareholders. In accordance with these provisions Sir Malcolm Rifkind, Mr Waters and Mr Weaver offer themselves for 
re-election. Mr Troughton, Mr Fusenig and Mr Miyanaga offer themselves for election. Biographies of each of these 
directors are contained on pages 34 to 36.

 The chairman confirms that following the completion of the annual performance evaluation and appraisal exercise, the 
performance of these directors seeking re-election continues to be effective and that these directors demonstrate 
commitment to their roles. Their re-election is therefore recommended.

10 To approve the Remuneration Report.

 The directors are required to prepare an annual report detailing the Remuneration of the directors and the Company’s 
remuneration policy and to seek shareholder approval to its contents. The remuneration report is contained on pages  
41 to 50.

11 That pursuant to section 551 of the Companies Act 2006 (the “2006 Act”), the directors be generally and 
unconditionally authorised to exercise all the powers of the Company to allot relevant securities:

11.1 otherwise than pursuant to paragraph 11.2 below, up to an aggregate nominal amount of £45,167,817 (such 
amount to be reduced by the aggregate nominal amount of any equity securities allotted under paragraph 
11.2 below in excess of £33,714,718); 

11.2 comprising equity securities (as defined by section 560 of the 2006 Act) up to an aggregate nominal amount 
of £33,714,718 (such amount to be reduced by the nominal amount of any relevant securities allotted under 
paragraph 11.1 above) in connection with an offer by way of a rights issue (as defined in Article 12.2.4(a)) 
made by means of the issue of a renounceable letter (or other negotiable document) which may be traded (as 
“nil paid” rights) for a period before payment for the securities is due:
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11.2.1 to holders of ordinary shares in the capital of the Company in proportion (as nearly as may be 
practicable) to their respective holdings; and further

11.2.2 to holders of other equity securities in the capital of the Company as required by the rights of those 
securities or as the directors otherwise consider necessary, 

 but subject to such exclusions or other arrangements as the directors may deem necessary or expedient in 
relation to treasury shares, fractional entitlements, record dates, legal or practical problems under the laws of 
any territory or the requirements of any regulatory body or stock exchange; 

 and provided that (unless previously renewed, varied or revoked) these authorities shall expire on the conclusion 
of the next annual general meeting of the Company save that, in each case, the Company may, before such expiry, 
make offers or agreements which would or might require relevant securities to be allotted after the relevant 
authority expires and the directors may allot relevant securities pursuant to such offer or agreement as if the 
authority conferred by this resolution had not expired.

 These authorities are in substitution for all unexercised existing authorities under section 80 of the 1985 Act 
authorities but without prejudice to any allotment of shares or grant of rights already made, offered or agreed to 
be made pursuant to such authorities.

 In this resolution, 'relevant securities' means shares in the Company or rights to subscribe for or to convert any 
security into shares in the Company; a reference to the allotment of relevant securities includes the grant of a 
right; and a reference to the nominal amount of a relevant security which is a right to subscribe for or convert any 
security into shares in the Company is to the nominal amount of the shares which may be allotted pursuant to 
that right. 

 This resolution deals with the Directors' authority to allot relevant securities in accordance with section 551 of the 2006 
Act. The first part of this resolution seeks to renew the authority conferred on the directors at the last general meeting of 
the Company held on 17 April 2009 to allot shares in the capital of the Company up to an aggregate nominal amount of 
£45,167,817 (which represents approximately one third of the present issued share capital of the Company plus an 
amount required to satisfy the exercise of warrants, options under the Aberdeen share option schemes and the conversion 
of the bonds 2014, assuming they are issued in full on or around 17 December 2009). The second part of this resolution 
authorises the directors to allot a further one third of the present issued share capital of the Company in connection with 
a rights issue. These limits are in line with the guidelines issued by the Association of British Insurers.

 The directors have no present intention of exercising this additional authority but consider it desirable that they should 
have the flexibility to issue shares from time to time to enable the Company to take advantage of business opportunities 
as they arise. However, in the event that the authority conferred by this Resolution 11 is exercised, and (i) the aggregate 
actual usage of both parts of the allotment authority exceeds one third of the issued share capital of the Company, and 
(ii) the amount raised in any rights issue is more than one third of the Company’s pre-issue market capitalisation, in 
accordance with the guidelines of the Association of British Insurers, all Directors wishing to remain in office will stand for 
re-election at the next Annual General Meeting, to be held in 2011.

 The authority granted by this resolution will expire at the conclusion of next year’s Annual General Meeting.

 The directors have no present intention of allotting any of the unissued share capital of the Company other than in 
connection with employee share schemes.

To consider the following resolutions 12 to 16 which will be proposed as special resolutions:

12 That, subject to the passing of Resolution 11 and pursuant to section 570 of the 2006 Act, the directors be 
and are generally empowered to allot equity securities (within the meaning of section 560 of the 2006 Act) 
for cash pursuant to the authorities granted by Resolution 11 as if section 561(1) of the 2006 Act did not 
apply to any such allotment, provided that this power shall be limited to:

12.1 the allotment of equity securities in connection with an offer of equity securities (but, in the case of an 
allotment pursuant to the authority granted by paragraph 11.2 above, such power shall be limited to the 
allotment of equity securities in connection with a rights issue (as defined in Article 12.2.4(a)):

12.1.1 to the holders of ordinary shares in the capital of the Company in proportion (as nearly as may be 
practicable) to their respective holdings; and
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12.1.2 to holders of other equity securities in the capital of the Company, as required by the rights of those 
securities or as the directors otherwise consider necessary, 

 but subject to such exclusions or other arrangements as the directors may deem necessary or expedient in 
relation to treasury shares, fractional entitlements, record dates, legal or practical problems under the laws of 
any territory or the requirements of any regulatory body or stock exchange; and

12.2 in the case of an allotment pursuant to the authority granted by paragraph 11.1 of Resolution 11, to the 
allotment of equity securities (otherwise than pursuant to paragraph 12.1 of this resolution) up to an 
aggregate nominal amount of £5,057,208;

 and (unless previously renewed, varied or revoked) this power shall expire at the conclusion of the next Annual 
General Meeting of the Company save that the Company may, before such expiry make offers or agreements 
which would or might require equity securities to be allotted after such expiry and the directors may allot equity 
securities pursuant to any such offer or agreement as if the authority conferred by this resolution had not expired.

 This power is in substitution for all unexercised existing powers under section 89(1) of the 1985 Act but without 
prejudice to any allotment of equity securities already made or agreed to be made pursuant to  
such powers.

 This resolution seeks to renew the authority conferred on the directors at the last general meeting of the Company held 
on 17 April 2009 to issue equity securities of the Company for cash other than on a pre-emptive basis in limited 
circumstances. The first part of this resolution seeks authority to do so in relation to a pre-emptive rights issue only, up to 
a maximum nominal amount of £67,429,436 which represents approximately 66.7% of the Company's issued ordinary 
shares (excluding treasury shares) as at 9 December 2009. This is in line with the guidance issued by the Association of 
British Insurers.

 The second part of the resolution limits the authority to issues of ordinary shares and/or sales of treasury shares 
representing an aggregate nominal value of £5,057,208, which in turn represents 5% of the issued ordinary share capital 
at 9 December 2009. This authority will expire at the conclusion of next year’s Annual General Meeting.

 The directors have no present intention to exercise this authority.

13 That, as permitted by section 307A of the 2006 Act any general meeting of the Company (other than an 
Annual General Meeting of the Company) shall be called by notice of not less than 14 clear days in 
accordance with the provisions of the Articles of Association of the Company provided that the authority  
of this Resolution shall expire a the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company to be  
held in 2011.

 The Shareholder Rights Directive was implemented in the UK in August 2009. One of its requirements is that all general 
meetings must be held on 21 clear days’ notice unless shareholders agree to a shorter notice period. The Company is 
currently able to call general meetings (other than Annual General Meetings) on 14 clear days’ notice and would like to 
preserve this ability. In order to be able to do so after August 2009, shareholders must have approved the calling of 
meetings on 14 clear days’ notice. Resolution 13 seeks such approval. The approval will be effective until the Company’s 
next Annual General Meeting, when it is intended that a similar resolution will be proposed. The Company will also need 
to meet the requirements for electronic voting under the Directive before it can call a general meeting on 14 clear days’ 
notice, and details of how to lodge your proxy vote electronically can be found on the front of the Form of Proxy.

14 (1) That, the Articles of Association of the Company be amended by deleting all the provisions of the 
Company’s Memorandum of Association which, by virtue of section 28 of the 2006 Act, are to be treated 
as provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association; and

(2) That, the Articles of Association produced to the meeting and initialled by the chairman of the meeting for the 
purpose of identification be adopted as the Articles of Association of the Company in substitution for, and to the 
exclusion of, the existing Articles of Association.

 This resolution will approve the adoption of new Articles of Association which reflect certain changes implemented by the 
2006 Act. 
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 It is proposed in Resolution 14 to adopt new Articles of Association in order to update the Company’s current Articles of 
Association primarily to take account of the coming into force of the Companies (Shareholders’ Rights) Regulations 2009 
and the implementation of the final parts of the 2006 Act. 

 Further details of these changes and the other principal changes to the existing Articles of Association are set out in  
the Appendix to the chairman’s letter. The new Articles of Association showing all the changes to the existing Articles  
of Association are available for inspection, as noted in the circular to shareholders dated 9 December accompanying  
this document.

 There should therefore be no need to amend the articles further in order to ensure compliance with the 2006 Act.

15 That the Company is, pursuant to section 701 of the 2006 Act, hereby generally and unconditionally 
authorised to make market purchases (within the meaning of section 693(4) of the 2006 Act) of ordinary 
shares provided that:

(1) the maximum number of ordinary shares hereby authorised to be purchased is 101,144,154 representing 10% of 
the issued ordinary share capital of the Company;

(2)  the minimum price which may be paid for ordinary shares is 10 pence per ordinary share;

(3)  the maximum price (exclusive of expenses) which may be paid for an ordinary share shall be the higher of not 
more than (i) 5% above the average of the middle market quotations for an ordinary share on the London Stock 
Exchange Daily Official List for the five business days immediately preceding the date on which any such purchase 
is made and (ii) the higher of the last independent trade and the highest current bid on the London  
Stock Exchange;

(4)  the Company may make a contract to purchase ordinary shares under the authority hereby conferred prior to the 
expiry of such authority which contract to purchase will be executed wholly or partly after the expiry of such 
authority, and may make the purchase of the ordinary shares in pursuance of any such contract and;

(5)  the authority hereby conferred shall expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company 
to be held in 2011.

 This resolution renews the authority granted at last year’s Annual General Meeting and gives the Company authority to 
buy back its own ordinary shares as permitted by the 2006 Act. The authority limits the number of ordinary shares that 
could be purchased to a maximum of 101,144,154, representing 10% of the issued share capital at 9 December 2009 and 
sets the minimum and maximum prices that can be paid. This authority would only be exercised if the directors believed 
that to do so would result in an increase in earnings per share and would be in the interests of the shareholders generally. 
At present, the directors have no current intention of utilising this authority. If this authority was exercised, the ordinary 
shares repurchased would be cancelled or held in treasury. There are 39,649 convertible preference share units which 
consist of a preference share and a warrant in Aberdeen Warrants (Jersey) Limited which if exercised would eventually 
result in a total of 42,179,787 ordinary shares in Aberdeen in issue. There are also 22,351,200 ordinary shares under option 
and assuming the proposed issue of convertible bonds 2014 is issued in full on or around 17 December 2009, the bonds 
would be convertible into 50,000,000 ordinary shares in the Company. There would therefore be a further 114,530,987 
ordinary shares in the Company, if all rights to subscribe were exercised representing 11.3% of the current issued share 
capital but before the buyback authority is utilised and would represent 12.6% of the issued share capital if the full 
authority sought at the Annual General Meeting is utilised.

16 That in accordance with Sections 366 to 367 of the 2006 Act the Company and all companies that are 
subsidiaries of the Company at any time during the period commencing on the date of this resolution and 
ending at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company in 2011 be and is hereby 
authorised:

(1) to make political donations to political parties, and/or independent election candidates;

(2)  to make political donations to political organisations other than political parties; and 

(3)  to incur political expenditure;

 Up to an aggregate amount of £100,000 and the amount authorised under each of paragraphs (1) to (3) shall also 
be limited to such amount. Words and expressions defined for the purposes of the 2006 Act shall have the same 
meaning in this resolution. 
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 All existing authorisations and approvals relating to political donations or expenditure under Sections 366 to 367 
of the 2006 Act are hereby revoked without prejudice to any donation made or expenditure incurred prior to the 
date hereof pursuant to such authorisation approval.

	 It	is	the	Company’s	policy	not	to	make	any	donations	to	political	parties	nor	incur	political	expenditure	and	the	board	
does	not	intend	to	change	that	policy.

 The 2006 Act required companies to obtain shareholders’ authority for donations to registered parties and other political 
organisations totalling more than £5,000 in any twelve month period and for any political expenditure, subject to limited 
exceptions. The definition of donations in this context was very wide and extended to bodies such as those concerned 
with policy review and law reform, with the representation of the business community or sections of it. It could also have 
included special interest groups, such as those involved with the environment and campaigning charities.

By order of the board

Scott E Massie
Secretary
10 Queen’s Terrace
Aberdeen  AB10 1YG

9 December 2009

Notes:
1 Information about this meeting is available from the Company’s investor relations webpage:  

www.aberdeen-asset.com/investorrelations

2 As a member you are entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to exercise all or any of your rights to attend, vote and speak 
at the Annual General Meeting. A proxy need not be a member of the Company but must attend in person to represent 
you. You may appoint more than one proxy provided each proxy is appointed to exercise rights attached to different shares. 
You may not appoint more than one proxy to exercise the rights attached to any one share. A Form of Proxy is enclosed.

3  A Form of Proxy and any power of attorney or other authority, if any, in order to be valid, must be sent to Equiniti, Aspect 
House, Spencer Road, Lancing, West Sussex, BN99 6ZR so as to arrive no later than 12.00 noon on 19 January 2010. 

 The return of a completed Form of Proxy will not prevent you attending the meeting and voting in person if you wish  
to do so.

4 Copies of all contracts of service and letters of appointment of directors of the Company are available for inspection 
during normal business hours at the Company’s registered office on any weekday except Saturdays and public holidays, 
and at the place of the meeting for a period of fifteen minutes prior to the Annual General Meeting and during the 
meeting.

5 Only those members entered on the Company’s Register of Members not later than 6.00pm on 19 January 2010 or, if the 
meeting is adjourned, shareholders entered on the Company’s Register not later than 6.00pm on the day two days prior to 
the recommended meet shall be entitled to attend, vote and speak at the meeting.

6 As a member, you have the right to ask questions at the meeting relating to the business being dealt with at the meeting.
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7 The statement of the rights of members in relation to the appointment of proxies in notes 2 and 3 above does not apply 
to Nominated Persons. The rights described in these paragraphs can only be exercised by members of the Company. 

8 CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies through the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do 
so for the Annual General Meeting to be held on 21 January 2010 and any adjournment(s) thereof by using the 
procedures described in the CREST manual. CREST personal members or other CREST sponsored members, and those 
CREST members who have appointed a voting service provider(s), should refer to their CREST sponsor or voting service 
provider(s), who will be able to take the appropriate action on their behalf.

 In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the CREST service to be valid, the appropriate CREST message 
(a ‘CREST Proxy Instruction’) must be properly authenticated in accordance with Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited’s 
(Euroclear) specifications and must contain the information required for such instructions, as described in the CREST 
Manual www.euroclear.com/CREST. The message, regardless of whether it constitutes the appointment of a proxy or an 
amendment to the instruction given to a previously appointed proxy must, in order to be valid, be transmitted so as to be 
received by the issuer's agent (ID RA19) by 12.00 noon on 19 January 2010. For this purpose, the time of receipt will be 
taken to be the time (as determined by the timestamp applied to the message by the CREST Applications Host) from 
which the issuer's agent is able to retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST. After this 
time any change of instructions to proxies appointed through CREST should be communicated to the appointee through 
other means.

 CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers should note that Euroclear does 
not make available special procedures in CREST for any particular messages. Normal system timings and limitations will 
therefore apply in relation to the input of CREST Proxy Instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST member 
concerned to take (or, if the CREST member is a CREST personal member or sponsored member or has appointed a voting 
service provider(s), to procure that his CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) take(s)) such action as shall be 
necessary to ensure that a message is transmitted by means of the CREST system by any particular time. In this 
connection, CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers are referred, in 
particular, to those sections of the CREST Manual concerning practical limitations of the CREST system and timings.

 The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5)(a) of the 
Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001. 

9 You may not use any electronic address provided either in this Notice of Meeting or any related documents to 
communicate with the Company for any purpose other than as expressly stated.

10 As at 9 December 2009, the Company’s issued share capital comprised 1,011,441,543 of 10p each. Each ordinary share 
carries the right to one vote at general meetings of the Company. 

 There are also 39,649 convertible preference share units in existence which each consist of one preference share in 
Aberdeen (which in certain limited circumstances has voting rights) and one warrant to subscribe for preference shares in 
Aberdeen Warrants (Jerseyco) Limited (Jerseyco). Upon the exercise of a warrant, preference shares in Jerseyco will be 
issued which are then (in accordance with the terms of the Jerseyco warrants) immediately exchangeable for ordinary 
shares in Aberdeen. The total number of ordinary shares in Aberdeen which could result after the exercise of warrants and 
subsequent share exchange are 42,179,787 ordinary shares with voting rights. There are also 22,351,200 ordinary shares 
under option and assuming the proposed issue of convertible bonds 2014 is issued in full on or around 17 December 
2009, the bonds would be convertible into 50,000,000 ordinary shares. The total number of voting rights in the Company 
as at 9 December 2009 is 1,011,441,543 ordinary shares (in aggregate) with voting rights. 

 It is possible that, pursuant to requests made by members of the Company under section 527 of the 2006 Act, the 
Company may be required to publish on a website a statement setting out any matter relating to: (i) the audit of the 
Company’s accounts (including the auditor’s report and the conduct of the audit) that are to be laid before the meeting: 
or (ii) any circumstances connected with an auditor of the Company ceasing to hold office since the previous meeting at 
which annual accounts and reports were laid in accordance with section 437 of the 2006 Act. The Company may not 
require the members requesting any such website publication to pay its expenses in complying with sections 527 or 528 
of the 2006 Act. Where the Company is required to place a statement on a website under section 527 of the 2006 Act, it 
must forward the statement to the Company’s auditor not later than the time when it makes the statement available on 
the website. The business which may be dealt with at the meeting includes any statement that the Company has been 
required under section 527 of the 2006 Act to publish on a website.
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